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GROUP INTRODUCTION
SEN A

Changyou International Group Limited (HK01039) (the “Company” and,

together with its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”), together with
CCB International, UnionPay Merchant, China Mobile, Bank of China and

China Eastern Airlines formed a joint venture to develop a global “Digital

Point Business Ecosystem Alliance” (the “Changyou Platform”) and to
create a new blue ocean of a brand new, sustainable and recyclable

digital-points ecosystem by applying digital points as financial assets.
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BRAND INTRODUCTION
OF THE CHANGYOU
PLATFORM

¥ HF 5 iR o

The Digital Point Ecosystem Alliance operational platform (the “Changyou Platform”) was jointly initiated
by the Group, CCB International and UnionPay Merchant, with investment from Bank of China, China
Mobile and China Eastern Airlines. The Changyou Platform makes use of the abundant points resources
of the six founding shareholders to integrate its respective digital points, which are virtual assets that
have broad application prospects. The Changyou Platform also aims to employ advanced technology
such as big data and blockchain to build the “Digital Point Business Ecosystem Alliance” and “Virtual
Asset Circulation and Settlement System”, which will be available globally. Through the continuous global
expansion of the platform, digital points will certainly be an important component of the asset virtualisation
of internet digital inclusive financing. The digital points as virtual assets will bring brand new experience
for the Group and its customers for assets trading with high efficiency, high level of security, intelligence
and low cost, as well as settlement and preservation. Changyou symbolises the internet technology
entering into a new phase and is one of the platforms which demonstrates the future of financial industry

ecosystems.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FREE




Changyou International Group Limited (formerly known
as Changyou Alliance Group Limited) (the “Company” o
“Changyou”, and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) has
capitalised on its years of experience in the e-commerce business
to grasp market opportunities and enter the digital points business
segment and industry, with its business continuously expanding
into diversified and large markets. In the second half of 2017, the
Group formed the Changyou digital point business ecosystem
alliance (the “Changyou Alliance”) with CCB International
(Holdings) Limited, China UnionPay Merchant Services Company
Limited, Bank of China Group Investment Limited, China Mobile
(Hong Kong) Group Limited and China Eastern Airlines Corporation
Limited.

The Changyou Platform is an important part of the Group’s
business. The platform is specifically developed for electronic trade
and aims to integrate the digital membership points, resources and
strategic advantages of the business partners in the Changyou
Alliance, maximise the value of digital points as virtual assets and
preserve the interests for platform users. The Group strives to
develop the Changyou Platform as an integrative and secured
platform. In recent years, with the development of blockchain,
big data, artificial intelligence and Software as a Service (“SaaS”)
technology, digital assets have received increasing recognition
from the industry as a type of secured asset. By leveraging
advanced technologies such as blockchain, big data analysis and
artificial intelligence, the Changyou Alliance aims to develop a
safe and stable global financial platform for the issuance, storage,
circulation, and payment settlement of blockchain tokenisation of
assets.

With the continuous improvement of business models and
consumption scenarios, the Changyou Platform has undergone
rapid development since its launch, with more diversified products
and services, continuous expansion of scale, gradually covering a
wide range of consumption scenarios and daily service business
scope, and increasing number of users. For the year ended 31
December 2024, the cumulative number of registered users of
the Changyou Platform amounted to approximately 251.8 million,
representing an increase of approximately 48.1 million or 24% as
compared with the total number as at 31 December 2023 (For the
year ended 31 December 2023: approximately 203.7 million).
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Chairman’s Statement

ERWE

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the gross profit of the
Company amounted to approximately RMB39.3 million (For the
year ended 31 December 2023: approximately RMB39.3 million).
The Group has optimized its supply chain of Changyou Platform,
focusing on concentrated product categories and combining point
redemption with other business promotions. This has improved
user conversion rates, enhanced the effective use of traffic, and
increased the comprehensive profitability of the Group’s business.
The gross profit margin for the year ended 31 December 2024
was approximately 21.7% (For the year ended 31 December 2023:
17.3%).

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Directors”) of the
Company (the “Board”), | would like to express my gratitude to our
management and staff for their dedication and contribution to the
Group throughout the year ended 31 December 2024.

By order of the Board
Changyou International Group Limited

Cheng Jerome
Chairman

28 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THERWRE S

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group has capitalised on its years of experience in the
e-commerce business, which has enabled the Group to grasp
market opportunities and enter the digital points business segment
and industry. In the second half of 2017, the Group formed the
Changyou Alliance with CCB International (Holdings) Limited,
China UnionPay Merchant Services Company Limited, Bank of
China Group Investment Limited, China Mobile (Hong Kong) Group
Limited and China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited.

With an aim to integrate the digital membership points, resources
and strategic advantages of the business partners in the Changyou
Alliance, the Group has developed the Changyou Platform. The
Group strives to develop the Changyou Platform as an integrative
and secured platform, so as to preserve and maximise the value
of digital points as virtual assets for the platform users. With
the development of blockchain technology, digital assets have
received increasing attention from the industry. By leveraging
advanced technologies such as blockchain and big data, the
Changyou Alliance aims to develop a global financial platform
for the issuance, circulation, storage and payment settlement of
blockchain tokenisation of assets.

Over the years, the Changyou Platform has increased the number
of both members and users, and more diversified products and
services, and optimised the business models and consumption
scenarios. As at 31 December 2024, the total number of registered
users on the Changyou Platform was approximately 251.8 million,
representing an increase of approximately 48.1 million registered
users compared to the total number as at 31 December 2023.
For the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Reporting Period”),
the total transaction volume of the Changyou Alliance business
amounted to approximately RMB245.4 million, representing a
decrease of approximately RMB11.7 million (approximately 4.6%)
over the same period last year.

In 2024, the Group faced significant challenges from both the
macro and micro environments. In response to the reductions
in the total amount of reward points and marketing expenses
across various institutions throughout the year, the Group has
implemented a strategy focusing on refined management, which
includes strengthening the backend management and frontend
promotional capabilities of the points-based SaaS products
to optimize the use of limited point resources. Moreover, the
Group has worked on promoting various value-added products,
particularly mobile self-operated products, which have generated
a new revenue source for the Group. Throughout 2024, the Group
has concentrated on building a solid foundation by enhancing the
social media channels integrated into its platform. Notably, the
development of its Douyin store has created more direct avenues
for user engagement through self-operated channels.

Changyou International Group Limited  Annual Report 2024
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Saas digital points service

Owing to the overall decline in the scale of reward points,
partnerships across various ecosystem scenarios have become
increasingly brand-oriented, leading to a higher share of
collaborations with major brands. In 2024, the Group has focused
on developing a travel ecosystem that encompasses services
such as four-wheel and two-wheel vehicle charging, subways,
buses, and shared bicycles. In addition to promoting the use
of reward points, the Group has aggregated high-quality green
mobility benefits to encourage secondary conversions, boost user
activity, and drive revenue growth. By leveraging reward points
for exposure and promotion within the ecosystem, certain brands
have begun exploring precise user targeting to improve conversion
rates and develop customer profiles for future marketing efforts.
The Group has also optimized the Changyou Platform’s supply
chain, focusing on specific product categories and integrating
point redemption with other business promotions. This has led to
improved user conversion rates, enhanced traffic utilization, and
increased the overall profitability of SaaS digital points services.

Target-oriented services

In 2024, the Group maintained two public WeChat accounts and
one Weibo account, providing weekly updates and introducing new
features, including a free benefits center. The Group has prioritized
the development of its travel section by aggregating various
benefits to expand its presence on industry-specific platforms.
Notably, through collaboration with a travel service provider, the
Group has jointly developed with the travel service provider a
global shopping commercial zone aimed at outbound travelers. In
the fourth quarter of 2024, the Douyin store was officially launched,
concentrating on car-related benefits such as charging, fueling,
and car washing. The Group has also begun creating short videos
and conducting live-streaming tests in preparation for a future
upgrade to a flagship brand store. By increasing its investment in
technology, the Group has strengthened its self-operated platform
capabilities while emphasizing core value propositions to enhance
user perception. Additionally, the Group has explored social and
gaming applications to support retention and engagement among
specific user segments, ensuring greater stickiness and loyalty.

Corporate services

By leveraging the traffic generated from SaaS digital points
services and aligning it with brand-related benefits, the Group has
promoted various self-operated business ventures for enterprises.
Through partnerships with traffic platforms, the Group has
explored public domain traffic conversion, beginning with small-
scale testing and gradually scaling up to achieve positive revenue.
The Changyou Platform has also established a dedicated reward
points alliance product section, aggregating a variety of products
to facilitate mutual point redemption among alliance members and
attract users through effective traffic redirection.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBWE S

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group recorded a consolidated revenue of approximately
RMB180.7 million (2023: approximately RMB226.8 million),
representing a decrease of approximately 20.3% as compared
to 2023. Since costs will be incurred for business partners of
Changyou Platform to issue points to their customers, the business
partners will implement certain control over the issuance and
consumption of points based on their own business conditions
in terms of points management. In the context of the unstable
economic environment, the revenue decreased due to the impact
of business partners compressing the total amount of points used.

Gross profit

The gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 amounted to approximately RMB39.3 million (2023:
approximately RMB39.3 million). The gross profit margin for the
year ended 31 December 2024 was approximately 21.7% (2023:
approximately 17.3%). The Group has optimized its supply chain of
Changyou Platform, focusing on concentrated product categories
and combining point redemption with other business promotions.
This has improved user conversion rates, enhanced the effective
use of traffic, and increased the comprehensive profitability of the
Group’s business.

Other income

The other income of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 was approximately RMBO0.6 million (2023: other income
of approximately RMB2.6 million). A detailed breakdown of the
factors contributing to the other income of the Group is disclosed
in Note 5 to the financial statements as disclosed in this report.
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Reversal of/(provision for) impairment loss on trade and
other receivables

The reversal of impairment loss of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024 was approximately RMBO0.2 million, which
mainly represents reversal of impairment loss of trade and other
receivables during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
impairment loss of trade and other receivables of approximately
RMBO.1 million).

Selling and distribution expenses

The selling and distribution expenses of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 decreased to approximately RMB3.9
million (2023: approximately RMB5.3 million), representing
a decrease of approximately 26.3% as compared with the
corresponding period in 2023. As the Group’s operating and
customer service costs directly correlate with its business scale
through flexible employment and outsourcing cooperation, the
Group’s selling and distribution expenses decreased with the
decline of business.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses for the year ended 31
December 2024 increased to approximately RMB31.0 million, as
compared to approximately RMB30.7 million for the corresponding
period in 2023, representing an increase of approximately 1.0%
as compared with the corresponding period in 2023. During the
Reporting Period, the Group continued to strictly control its fixed
costs, manpower and administrative expenses, which generally
remained stable.

Research and development costs

The research and development costs of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 decreased to approximately RMB7.6
million (2023: approximately RMB9.7 million), representing
a decrease of approximately 22.1% as compared with the
corresponding period in 2023, which was mainly attributable to
the decrease in staff costs for research and development activities
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Finance costs

The Group incurred finance costs of approximately RMB20.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: approximately
RMB34.4 million), representing a decrease of approximately 39.4%
as compared with the corresponding period in 2023. A detailed
breakdown of the factors contributing to the finance costs of the
Group is disclosed in Note 6(a) to the financial statements as
disclosed in this report.

Taxation

The Group has recognized deferred tax assets in respect of tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which tax losses can be utilized. A deferred
taxation of approximately RMB5.2 million was credited to profit and
loss during the Reporting Period. No current income tax expenses
was recorded for the years ended 31 December 2023.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBWE S

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2024, cash and cash equivalents of the
Group were approximately RMB8.2 million (as at 31 December
2023: approximately RMB25.4 million). As compared to 2023,
cash and cash equivalents decreased by approximately RMB17.2
million, mainly due to net cash outflow arising from operating
activities of approximately RMB18.4 million (2023: net cash
inflow of approximately RMB6.9 million), net cash outflow arising
from investing activities of approximately RMBO0.6 million (2023:
approximately RMBO0.2 million) and net cash inflow from financing
activities of approximately RMB1.7 million (2023: net cash outflow
of approximately RMB14.4 million).

Convertible bonds

In view of the increasing popularity of consumer spending with
digital points, the successful experience of the Group in developing
the Changyou Platform and the robust performance and growth
of the Changyou Platform, the Company issued HK$126.0 million
3.5% convertible bonds (the “2020 Convertible Bonds”) to
Century Investment (Holding) Limited (“CIH”), the net proceeds
of which was intended to be utilised to expand the business
operations of Changyou Alliance and the Changyou Platform
(“Digital Point Business”) into Hong Kong and overseas markets
by developing an additional new digital point electronic platform
with Hong Kong and overseas as the target markets (the “New
International Changyou Platform”).

On 29 July 2020, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with CIH, pursuant to which the Company agreed to
issue the 2020 Convertible Bonds to CIH. The issuance of the
2020 Convertible Bonds was completed on 19 October 2020. The
2020 Convertible Bonds bore interest at 3.5% per annum. The
2020 Convertible Bonds matured on 19 October 2023. For further
details of the transaction, please refer to the announcements of
the Company dated 29 July 2020 and 19 October 2023, and the
circular of the Company dated 17 September 2020.

The issuance of the 2020 Convertible Bonds was completed on 19
October 2020 and matured on 19 October 2023.

On 26 January 2024, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with CIH for the issuance of HK$126.0 million 8%
convertible bonds (the “2024 Convertible Bonds”) to CIH. The
2024 Convertible Bonds bear an interest rate of 8% per annum
and will mature on the date falling three years after the issue
date of the 2024 Convertible Bonds. The issuance of the 2024
Convertible Bonds was completed on 23 April 2024. As the
outstanding amount of the principal under the 2020 Convertible
Bonds was applied to set-off against the amount payable by CIH
in respect of the issue price of the 2024 Convertible Bonds, no
net proceeds were received by the Company from the issue of
the 2024 Convertible Bonds. For further details of the transaction,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 26
January 2024 and the circular of the Company dated 15 March
2024.
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As at 31 December 2024, the actual uses of the proceeds from

the issuance of the 2020 Convertible Bonds were as follows:

Original use of the
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Share options

On 7 August 2018, the Company granted 72,000,000 share
options to Cheng Jerome, the chairman and an executive
Director. For further details of the transaction, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 4 May 2018 and the circular
of the Company dated 15 June 2018. No option was exercised
during the year ended 31 December 2023 and the 72,000,000
share options lapsed on 3 May 2023.

Net liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, net current liabilities of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB54.0 million (as at 31 December
2023: approximately RMB155.6 million). As at 31 December 2024,
the current ratio (being total current assets divided by total current
liabilities) of the Group was approximately 0.71 (as at 31 December
2023: approximately 0.48).

As at 31 December 2024, total assets of the Group amounted
to approximately RMB138.8 million (as at 31 December 2023:
approximately RMB149.5 million) and total liabilities amounted
to approximately RMB293.2 million (as at 31 December 2023:
approximately RMB302.9 million). The debt ratio (being total
liabilities divided by total assets) as at 31 December 2024 was 2.11
as compared to 2.03 as at 31 December 2023.

Borrowings

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had total borrowings
(which consisted of convertible bonds and loans from an equity
shareholder of the Company) of approximately RMB163.8 million
(as at 31 December 2023: approximately RMB165.8 million). The
gearing ratio (being total borrowings divided by total equity) as at
31 December 2024 was approximately -1.06 (as at 31 December
2023: approximately -1.08).

Property and equipment

As at 31 December 2024, the property and equipment of the
Group were approximately RMB2.5 million (as at 31 December
2023: approximately RMB3.5 million). A detailed breakdown is
disclosed in Note 11 to the financial statements as disclosed in this
report.

Trade and other receivables

The trade and other receivables of the Group as at 31 December
2024 were approximately RMB122.7 million (as at 31 December
20283: approximately RMB120.3 million). A detailed breakdown
of the factors contributing to the trade and other receivables of
the Group is disclosed in Note 15 to the financial statements as
disclosed in this report.
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Inventories

The inventory balance of the Group as at 31 December 2024
was approximately RMB28,000 (as at 31 December 2023:
approximately RMBO0.1 million). The Changyou Alliance business
requires minimal inventory level.

Trade and other payables

The trade and other payables of the Group as at 31 December
2024 were approximately RMB127.4 million (as at 31 December
2023: approximately RMB134.1 million). A detailed breakdown
of the factors contributing to the trade and other payables of
the Group is disclosed in Note 17 to the financial statements as
disclosed in this report.

Pledged assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have pledged assets
(as at 31 December 2023: Nil).

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities (as at 31 December 2023: Nil).

Capital commitment

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no contracted capital
commitments which were not provided in the financial statements
(as at 31 December 2023: Nil).

Employees and remuneration policy

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 60 employees (as at 31
December 2023: 61 employees). For the year ended 31 December
2024, total staff costs were approximately RMB21.9 million
(2022: approximately RMB25.7 million). During the year ended
31 December 2024, the Group also provided internal training,
external training and correspondence courses for its staff in order
to promote self improvement and enhancement of skills relevant
to work. The remuneration of the Directors was determined with
reference to their position, responsibilities and experience and
prevailing market conditions.

Foreign exchange risk

The business of the Group is mainly located in China and most of
the transactions of the Group are denominated in Renminbi. Most
of the assets and liabilities of the Group are computed in Renminbi
The Group has entered into facility agreements denominated in
HKD. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did
not utilise any future contracts, currency borrowings and otherwise
to hedge against its foreign exchange risk. However, the Group will
continue to monitor the risk exposures and will consider to hedge
against material currency risk if required.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES, AND FUTURE
PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL
ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no significant
investments held nor material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, during the year ended
31 December 2024. There was no plan authorised by the Board
for other material investments or additions of capital assets as at
the date of this report.

PLEDGE OF SHARES BY CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

On 28 July 2022, CIH and Poly Platinum Enterprises Limited (“Poly
Platinum”) agreed to vary the terms of the exchangeable bonds
issued by CIH on 18 April 2019 (the “Exchangeable Bonds”),
which are exchangeable into the ordinary shares of the Company
(“Shares”). CIH charged to Poly Platinum its interest in the 2020
Convertible Bonds issued by the Company in favour of CIH on 19
October 2020, which are convertible into Shares. The underlying
Shares of the 2020 Convertible Bonds are 300,000,000 Shares,
currently owned by CIH. The 2020 Convertible Bonds matured on
19 October 2023.

On 25 January 2024, CIH and Poly Platinum agreed to, among
others, extend the maturity date of the Exchangeable Bonds.
On 25 January 2024, CIH charged to Poly Platinum its interest
in 60,000,000 Shares. Additionally, upon the completion of
the issuance of the 2024 Convertible Bonds on 23 April 2024,
CIH charged its interest in the 2024 Convertible Bonds to Poly
Platinum. The underlying Shares of the 2024 Convertible Bonds
are 300,000,000 Shares.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend payment of any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group believes that risk management practices are important
and uses its best effort to ensure they are sufficient to mitigate
risks present in the Group’s operations and financial position. The
following are the principal risks and uncertainties of the Group’s
business:

° The Digital Point Business depends on the Group’s ability
to maintain its existing relationships and to develop new
relationships with business partners, cooperation platforms
and suppliers as part of the business ecosystem of the
Changyou Platform. As such, the quality and diversity
of the goods and services available on the Changyou
Platform depend on the Group’s relationship with and
the performance of such business partners, cooperation
platforms and suppliers. The Group has been continually
looking for new opportunities to diversify, improve and
develop the Changyou Platform, and will continue to expand
its connections and networks and to increase the Group’s
competitiveness in the market;

o The Digital Point Business is subject to rapid market
changes and the potential development of new business
models and the entry of new and well-funded competitors.
Although the Group has been successful in capturing market
opportunities, in order to remain competitive, it needs to
stay updated of the constantly evolving industry trends and
to enhance and improve the responsiveness, functionality
and features of the Changyou Platform. In order to attract
and retain users and maintain our competitiveness, the
Group will continue to invest significant resources in its
research and development to improve our existing systems,
enhance its technology infrastructure, and establish and
enrich its big data and blockchain technologies;

o As the Group is continuously expanding its businesses in
China, it is required to comply with the new applicable laws
and regulations that are specifically relevant to the Group’s
business, such as laws and regulations relating to online
commerce, interchange on digital points on the online
platform and distribution content, data protection, internet
information security, intellectual property, etc. The Company
will continue to monitor and identify changes in the relevant
laws and regulations, so as to take appropriate actions or
measures to ensure the Company is in compliance with
such laws and regulations;
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o The business of the Group is mainly located in China and
most of the transactions are denominated in Renminbi.
Most of the assets and liabilities of the Group are computed
in Renminbi. As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s net
foreign currency liabilities amounted to approximately
RMB53.6 million (as at 31 December 2023: net foreign
currency liabilities approximately RMB49.0 million). During
the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not utilise
any future contracts, currency borrowings and otherwise
to hedge against its foreign exchange risk. However, the
Group will continue to monitor the risk exposures and will
consider to hedge against material currency risk if required.

An analysis of the Group’s financial risk management (including
credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate and currency risks) are
provided in Note 24 to the financial statements as disclosed in this
report.

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”)
has been established and is responsible for, among other things,
reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the systems of risk
management and internal control of the Group and reviewing and
monitoring the Group’s policies and practices on compliance with
all legal and regulatory requirements (where applicable). For further
details, please refer to the section headed “Internal Control and
Risk Management” on page 58 of this report.

PROSPECTS

The Changyou Platform is a global digital asset circulation platform
for the issuance, circulation, payment and settlement of tokenised
assets and serves as the gate point for points redemption.
Leveraging the smart business environment, the Group takes
full advantage of the channel and customer resources of the
Changyou Platform to gain insights into the intrinsic needs of
enterprises, and build and operate alliance platforms to achieve
network synergy and create a win-win situation.

Marked by the uncertainty about potential improvement in
domestic consumption, 2025 is anticipated to be a challenging
year for the Group. Various organizations, including those
operating on points and rewards business, are increasingly
tightening their spending. Against such backdrop, the Changyou
Platform aims to fulfill the desire of its users to save money by
leveraging its ecological coverage advantages, strictly controlling
costs, maximizing the value of traffic and user data assets, and
optimizing the business processes.
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The Group’s SaaS digital points services continue to constitute a
significant share of the Changyou Platform’s business, serving as
a foundation and a source of users for the business of the Group.
In 2025, the Group will strive to maintain the stability of its SaaS
digital points services while strengthening the implementation of
new revenue streams, investing additional resources, expanding
business collaborations, and enhancing the scale of point
redemption and benefits promotion, alongside with increasing users
retention on its social media platforms. Furthermore, leveraging the
brand resources of its SaaS digital points services, the Group plans
to develop its own proprietary benefit products. By leveraging the
existing resources such as hotels, supermarkets, and charging
stations, the Group will focus on the integration of the Changyou
travel brand in terms of both brand resources and product
processes, while also exploring synergies with mobile self-operated
businesses. In 2025, the Group will also focus on strengthening
the operations of its social media platform to boost revenue. This
includes optimizing its public accounts, mini-programs, corporate
WeChat accounts, Douyin, and APP platforms.

Following the successful collaboration with travel agents in 2024,
the Changyou Platform facilities the connections for users from
coupon acquisition to redemption through the Changyou travel
public account and corporate WeChat. Additionally, it will introduce
merchant discount tools, such as Alipay enterprise codes, to
enhance user conversion and retention for travel operators. The
Group will work on enhancing the brand presence of its Douyin
store, exploring membership collaborations with Douyin, and
leveraging Douyin’s content advantages, so as to boost the
activity level of Changyou Platform’s point users. In 2025, the
Group will continue to explore cross-border travel scenarios,
utilizing partnerships to tap into overseas business resources while
benefiting from policies that facilitate outbound travel for Chinese
citizens and inbound travel for foreigners, alongside the extended
channels of the Changyou ecosystem to drive user traffic.
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Directors and Senior Management

EFREREEE

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management
of the Company during the year under review, and as at the date
of this report, are set out below:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cheng Jerome, aged 72, was appointed as the chairman
and the executive Director on 25 March 2015. He is a member
and the chairman of the nomination committee of the Company
(“Nomination Committee”), and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company (“Remuneration Committee”).
He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. He
served as the chief information officer of Beijing Century Fortunet
Technology Co., Ltd (Lt RtE4LEEEHAR A F) (“OPCo”) till
December 2015. Mr. Cheng graduated from University Paris 7
with a DEA (D’Etudes approfondies) French degree in information
technology in 1986. He has working experience of over 24 years
in the information technology (“IT”) industry, serving the AXA
Group and Oracle Corporation, both of which are among the
Top 500 worldwide fortune companies. From 1986 to 1994, Mr.
Cheng served the AXA Group successively as network engineer
and architect, head of network architecture team and head of
information technology system performance.

From 1998 to 2008, Mr. Cheng worked for BEA Systems, Inc., a
company specialised in enterprise infrastructure software products
which was acquired by Oracle Corporation in 2008, as principal
consulting engineer in BEA France, as managing consulting
engineer in BEA France, as pre-sales consulting manager in BEA
APAC region and as senior manager of BEA Technology Centre in
Beijing, China.

In June 2008, Mr. Cheng joined Oracle Systems Hong Kong
Limited as the senior manager of soft development and served
as Principal Solution Architect of Oracle Fusion Middleware world
wide architecture team from May 2010 to December 2014.

Mr. Sun Jun, aged 46, was appointed as the executive Director
on 27 January 2025. Mr. Sun joined the Group in March 2017
and currently also serves as the chief executive officer of
Centchain Co., Ltd (H42#58# R & F2 ), an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Prior to that, Mr. Sun
was an associate director of the retail business department of
Shenzhen Ping’an Financial Technology Consulting Co., Ltd. (%
Y FZ & B E AR AR]). He had also worked as a senior
executive for several banking institutions including Bank of China
and Nanyang Commercial Bank. Mr. Sun obtained a bachelor’s
degree in surveying engineering and a master’s degree of business
administration from Tungji University.
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Mr. Yuan Weitao, aged 59, was appointed as the executive
Director on 25 March 2015 and a director of Century East
Network Limited (“CEN”). CEN is a non-wholly owned subsidiary
of CIH, being a substantial shareholder of the Company. On 18
February 2021, Mr. Yuan was re-appointed as a director of CIH.
He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. On 2
January 2025, Mr. Yuan resigned as the executive Director and
the director of each of CEN and CIH. Mr. Yuan graduated from
Tsinghua University with a bachelor’s degree in engineering in
1989 and a master’s degree in engineering in 1992. He has
working experience of over 20 years in international trade,
telecommunications and media industries. Mr. Yuan joined China
National Electronics Import & Export Company (#° B & F# i 0
#/2 7)), administered by the Ministry of Mechanical Electronic
Devices of the People’s Republic of China, after his graduation and
worked in its overseas subsidiary as a marketing manager in 1994.
Mr. Yuan joined CIH as vice president in 1999 and was responsible
for project development and external cooperation of CIH. Mr. Yuan
was a director of CIH from March 2003 to July 2019 and served as
a director and executive vice president of OPCo from September
2014 to November 2022.

Mr. Yuan had been the general manager of Beijing United Online
Technology Co. Ltd ({1t REt & FELEHE AR A F), a subsidiary of
China Mobile Communications Corporation (B B =SB A
7)) in 2000; a vice-president and the representative of the China
office of CMBSat which was a subsidiary of Echostar, one of the
US leading satellite television operators, in 2006; and a vice general
manager of CSMM, a subsidiary of China Telecommunications
Corporation (F B E{Z5&E /A 7)), from 2010 to August 2014.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Hu Qing, aged 42, was appointed as a non-executive
Director of the Company on 12 April 2024. Ms. Hu graduated from
Wuhan University with a bachelor’s degree in engineering in 2004.
She then obtained a Master of Business Administration degree
from Renmin University of China. Ms. Hu has extensive experience
in investment and financing evaluation and business management.
Ms. Hu is currently the general manager of the investment
department of BG City Development Group Limited (1t FRAb12
mEREBEBRRQT) (‘BG City”), and a director of each of Beijing
Enterprises City Development Limited (1t b2 A FAZE B R A
7)) and Beijing Phoenix City Operation Management Co., Ltd. (3t
FALIEEEN TIE S E BB R A ), both of which are subsidiaries
of BG City. Before joining BG City and its affiliates in 2011, Ms. Hu
had worked in China Everbright Bank Company Limited and China
State Construction Engineering Corporation Limited (FF Bl 5&R% {5
BRAT).
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Directors and Senior Management

EFREREER

Ms. Liu Jingyan, aged 48, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 12 April 2024. She has been the administration director
of Centchain Co., Ltd. (42858 E R EE 2 7)), an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, since 2018. Ms. Liu
graduated from City University of Seattle in the United States
of America with a Master of Business Administration degree in
2008 and from Shanghai Maritime University with a bachelor’s
degree in 2000. She joined Beijing Century Fortunet Network
Technology Co., Ltd. (It Rttt &2 Fr B &M T B R 2 7))
(“Century Fortunet Network”) in 2014 as senior administration
manager and administration director. Prior to joining Century
Fortunet Network, Ms. Liu had worked at various companies for
over 14 years, including Beijing Tianhang International Freight Co.,
Ltd. (b RKAEFR B8 AR A7), Beiing Ying Sheng Industrial &
Trading Co., Ltd. Gt E TE B R A7), Beijing Ideal Industrial
Development Group (1t FRIEFEE ¥ #E &), Siemens Networks
Beijing Co., Ltd. (AT F@{E488& 1t R BBR 2 7)), Nokia Siemens
(China) Investment Co., Ltd. (EEFAMF(FE)EEGRER
7)), Nokia (China) Investment Co., Ltd. (&E I (FE)EE AR
A @)), Avanade Information Technology Co., Ltd. (B4 E1{E &
FAT AR /A7), where she held various positions including sales
representative, administration officer, administration manager and
assistant to president.

Mrs. Guo Yan, aged 51, was appointed as the non-executive
Director on 25 March 2015. She retired from office at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 21 June 2024. She has
working experience of over 17 years in the IT industry. She has
experience in the management of IT sales and operation of over
15 years. She has led numerous information/communications
technology projects and has extensive experience particularly in
the new mobile internet business model. Mrs. Guo graduated
in testing technology and instruments (#8151 B2 £528) from
Xi'dian University in 1994 and obtained a postgraduate diploma in
astronomical instruments and methods (K3 &858 75 7%) from the
Chinese Academy of Science in 1997. From 1997 to 2014, Mrs.
Guo worked for Huawei Technologies Co., Ltd (EARMTARA
7)) as a senior client manager of eastern China region, a director
of mobile system division of China region, and a director of the IT
purchasing division of the China region. Mrs. Guo also participated
in the market development of China Mobile Communications
Corporation ({ Bl Ehif {5 % B A 7)) in Shanghai as a team leader
and acted as a project manager in the project of the IT centralised
purchasing bid of China United Network Communications
Corporations Limited (1 Bl & i@ =B R 2 7).
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Chi Keung, aged 70, was appointed as the
independent non-executive Director on 25 March 2015. He is a
member and the chairman of the Audit Committee, and a member
of the Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee.
Mr. Wong obtained a master’s degree in business administration
from the University of Adelaide in Australia. He is a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and CPA
Australia and an associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators) and the Chartered Institute
of Management Accountants. Mr. Wong is also a responsible
officer for asset management and advising on securities for
Beagle Asset Management Company Limited (formerly known
as CASDAQ International Capital Market (HK) Company Limited)
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”). Mr. Wong has over 40 years of
experience in finance, accounting and management. Mr. Wong
was previously an executive director, the deputy general manager,
group financial controller and company secretary of Guangzhou
Investment Company Limited (now known as Yuexiu Property
Company Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”),
stock code: 123) for over ten years. He is also an independent
non-executive director and a member of the audit committee of
Asia Orient Holdings Limited (stock code: 214), Asia Standard
International Group Limited (stock code: 129), Century City
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 355), China Ting Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 3398), Paliburg Holdings Limited
(stock code: 617), Regal Hotels International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 78), Yuan Heng Gas Holdings Limited (formerly
known as Ngai Lik Industrial Holdings Limited, stock code: 332)
and Zhuguang Holdings Group Company Limited (stock code:
1176), all of which are companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Wong was also previously an independent non-executive
director of Guoan International Limited (stock code: 143), Asia
Standard Hotel Group Limited (stock code: 292) and Golden Eagle
Retail Group Limited (stock code: 3308).
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Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Alan, aged 61, was appointed as the
independent non-executive Director on 25 March 2015. He is a
member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee.
Mr. Chan is a qualified solicitor admitted in England and Wales
in October 1991 and in Hong Kong in February 1992. Mr. Chan
practiced corporate and commercial law for nearly three decades.
He is an independent non-executive director and a member of
each of the audit committee, the remuneration committee and the
nomination committee of Cornerstone Financial Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
8112). He was an independent non-executive director, chairman
of the remuneration committee and a member of each of the audit
committee and nomination committee of L&A International Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 8195) from 25 September 2014 to 19 October 2015 and
was also an independent non-executive director, the chairman of
the remuneration committee and a member of the audit committee
of BOSA Technology Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8140) from 19 June 2018 to
29 February 2020. Previously, Mr. Chan was the senior general
counsel of Imperial Pacific International Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1076), which owns an exclusive casino gaming license in Saipan,
Commonwealth of Northern Mariana Islands; and prior to that, the
Vice President, Legal of NagaCorp Limited, a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3918), head
of legal services of The Hong Kong Jockey Club, the Greater China
Legal Counsel for Sun Microsystems and the vice president of Legal
Affairs at Celestial Pictures Limited, a subsidiary of Astro All Asia
Networks Plc., a Malaysian company. Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor
of science degree in civil engineering from the Aston University of
Birmingham, England and a bachelor of laws degree in China Law
from the China University of Political Science and Law in Beijing, the
People’s Republic of China. Mr. Chan is a registered civil celebrant in
Hong Kong and served as a board director (and former chairman) of
Theatre Space Foundation Limited, a theatrical drama performance
charitable institution. He is a council member of the China Overseas
Friendship Association, Beijing, China (3 Z£/& 5N s 2 72 =5).

Changyou International Group Limited  Annual Report 2024

REBEE 615 R AF-A-T+HEAEZTAES
VIHNITESR - BAEZZEGRRELXZEENE - BEER
—AN—F+ARSEB LB EEEMEREN A=
FZREBEBNEREMER - RELEEREAREREEL
MEEL=TF - BAEASRIZRAER A A (R FTGEM
MHRAR BRARIE : 8112 B IERITEERBZEES  FHil
ZEeNELEZEENE - R E-NEAA-_T+HAE-ZF
—RF+ A+ N ERE T2 BRI A R A 7] (A2 ATGEM
ETERE]  BRDRR : 8195) B IENITEF FHEZESEFE
WREZZEGRIEGZEENE BIIR_ZE—N\F~A+Ah
AE-Z-FF - A"+ AHMETATNREERERAR (R
R FIGEM ETMBI AR - BB - 8140) B EITEE - %
WEEECTHNERTEEKE - RAELCETHEELATERE
TR AR AR (RERZ A ER ETRRE - RO - 1076) &
WuakEER  BAILEEDAERNANBRIZLISIER ity
Al WEETSAERERAR (REBRMEREMHOAR] - &
HREE - 3018) AR R - BEBRFINEAREKEE - Sun
Microsystems ) A Hr 257 2 FAR A R RBUIRZE B BR A 7] (2R 28
A alAstro All Asia Networks Plc. KB A 7)) B AR E K BIEE -
BeR 5 AE BN A5 2 B 1 AR 8 P HT 88 K 22 (Aston University) J81% #9 17K
TREELBUNUEPEARIMEILZREBAASERNS
BAEAZ2E2 20 - RAEEADBEMERERZA - Bl5EM
ESARAR(—REBRBESEUB) ESTEE (LATEER)
AR RGNS ESIRE o



Mr. Ip Wai Lun, William, aged 68, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, a member of the Audit
Committee and a member and the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee on 14 July 2023. Mr. Ip has over 27 years of
investment banking experience in Asia, with a focus on Greater
China and Japan. Mr. Ip currently serves as a managing director
of Amasse Capital Limited. Prior to that, Mr. Ip was the executive
director in the mergers and acquisitions department of SMBC
Nikko Securities (Hong Kong) Limited from April 2012 to January
2021. He served as the managing director and head of the
investment banking department of Cantor Fitzgerald (HK) Capital
Markets Ltd from 2010 to 2012. Prior to that, My. Ip had worked
at several major investment banks of Chinese and European
background for over 14 years. As at the date of this annual
report, Mr. Ip is also an independent non-executive director of
Hopson Development Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 754) and
Kantone Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1059), both of which are
companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr.
Ip obtained a bachelor of science in economics and a master of
science in economics from London School of Economics and
Political Science, University of London. He also obtained a master
of business administration (MBA) from the Wharton School of
Finance, University of Pennsylvania. Mr. Ip has been a Responsible
Officer for Type 1, Type 4 and Type 6 (including giving advice on
matters falling within the ambit of The Codes on Takeovers and
Mergers and Share Buy-backs (as amended from time to time))
and regulated activities under the SFO. Mr. Ip is a Chartered
Financial Analyst Charterholder of the CFA Institute, the U.S.
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MANAGEMENT TEAM

Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen, aged 42, is the chief financial officer
of the Company since November 2020. Mr. Yeung obtained a
Bachelor Degree in Mathematics from The Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology. He has over 20 years’ experience
in the corporate finance and listed companies management. Mr.
Yeung serves as an independent non-executive director of MIE
Holdings Corporation (stock code: 1555) since April 2022 and
Modern Innovative Digital Technology Company Limited (stock
code: 2322) since December 2023. He was the chief operation
officer of Shunten International (Holdings) Limited (“Shunten”)
(stock code: 0932) for the period from September 2022 to January
2024 and an independent non-executive director of Shunten for
the period from May 2022 to September 2022. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. Yeung was the chief financial officer of a private
Hong Kong company in charge of the pre-IPO group restructuring
and fundraising for the period from June 2019 to October 2020.
He was the financial controller of Creation Chance Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Shunten (formerly known as RM
Group Holdings Limited) (stock code: 932) from December 2018
to June 2019, mainly in charge of the monitoring the financial
and development of the Hong Kong business. For the period
from September 2014 to August 2018, he was the chief financial
officer of PPS International (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 8201)
(“PPS”), who was further appointed as the director of PPS during
the period from February 2018 to July 2018, he took charge of
the diversification of the group’s business and establishment of
the PRC branch. Mr. Yeung was an independent non-executive
director, the chairman of the remuneration committee and a
member of the audit committee of North Mining Shares Company
Limited (stock code: 433) for the period from July 2019 to June
2020.

Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Billy, aged 51, is the financial controller,
company secretary, and one of the authorised representatives
of the Company since June 2015. He graduated from Hong
Kong Baptist University with an Honours Degree with major in
Accounting. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. Mr. Chan has over 25 years’ experience in
auditing, accounting and financial management. He had worked
in South China Media Group for 15 years from December 1999
to May 2015 and his latest position was the deputy financial
controller. He had worked in South China Land Limited (formerly
named as Capital Publications Limited, stock code: 8155) from
January 2004 to June 2008 as the qualified accountant and
company secretary. He was an independent non-executive
director and the chairman/member of the audit committee of Boill
Healthcare Holdings Limited (stock code: 1246) from November
2017 to January 2024.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report and the audited
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 21 May
2008 under The Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands (“Companies
Law”) with limited liability. The Shares were listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange on 24 September 2010.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2016, the Group
formed a series of joint ventures with the respective subsidiaries
of CCB International, UnionPay Merchant, China Mobile, Bank
of China and China Eastern Airlines, the joint venture companies
which now form part of the Group. For further details of the
formation of the joint ventures, please refer to the announcements
of the Company dated 22 June 2016, 25 July 2016, 30 August
2016, 13 September 2016, 29 November 2016, 7 December 2016
and 30 June 2017, respectively.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 12 to
the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as well as a discussion
and analysis of the Group’s performance during the year as
required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the laws of Hong Kong), including a discussion of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of
likely future developments in the Group’s business, can be found
in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and “Corporate Governance Report
— Internal Control and Risk Management” of this report. These
discussions form part of this Directors’ report.

In addition, discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance, compliance with relevant laws and regulations which
have a significant impact on the Group are contained in the 2024
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company.

RESULTS AND DISTRIBUTION

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
are set out in the financial statements on pages 71 to 72. The
Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2024.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company should maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting
its working capital requirements and future growth as well as its
shareholder value in recommending or declaring dividend. The
declaration of payment and the amount of dividend will be made at
the discretion of the Board and will depend on the Group’s results
of operations, earnings, financial condition, cash requirements
and availability, future capital expenditure and development
requirements, business conditions and strategies, interests of
shareholders, any restrictions on payment of dividends and any
other factors that the Board may consider relevant. The Company
does not have any pre-determined dividend distribution ratio. The
Board will review the dividend policy as appropriate from time to
time.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out on pages 71 to 157
of this report.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out on page 76 of this report and in Note
23 to the financial statements.

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman lIslands, the share
premium of the Company may be distributable provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed
to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
In accordance with the article 134 of the articles of association of
the Company (the “Articles”), dividends may be declared and paid
out of the profits of the Company or from any reserve set aside
from profits which the Directors determined is no longer needed. As
at 31 December 2024, the Company had no reserve available for
distribution to shareholders of the Company.

SHARE CAPITAL

Changes in share capital of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2024 are set out in Note 23(c) to the financial
statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or

the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company
to offer new Shares to existing shareholders on a pro-rata basis.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

With a view to allowing the Company to grant share options to
eligible participants as incentives or rewards to recognise and
acknowledge their contributions to the Group, the Company
approved and adopted a new share option scheme at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 3 June 2020 (the “2020
Share Option Scheme”). The 2020 Share Option Scheme is valid
and effective for the period commencing on the date of adoption of
the 2020 Share Option Scheme (being 3 June 2020) and ending on
the 10th anniversary of such adoption date (both dates inclusive),
after which no further share options will be offered but the rules of
the 2020 Share Option Scheme will in all other respects remain in
full force and effect. As at the date of this report, the remaining life
of the 2020 Share Option Scheme is approximately 6.25 years.

Under the 2020 Share Option Scheme, the Board may grant
share options to the Group’s employees, chief executives, officers,
directors, substantial shareholders, advisors, consultants, agents,
suppliers, customers, distributors and such other persons who, in
the sole opinion of the Board, will contribute or have contributed
to the Group. For any share options granted to Directors, chief
executives or substantial shareholders of the Company or any of
their respective associates will be subject to the approval by the
independent non-executive Directors (excluding any independent
non-executive Director who is the proposed grantee). As at the
date of this report, the total number of Shares available for issue
under the 2020 Share Option Scheme was 181,095,327 Shares,
representing 10% of the aggregate number of Shares in issue as
at 3 June 2020 and as at the date of this report. The number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of share options
granted under the 2020 Share Option Scheme and other schemes
of the Company to an individual in any 12-month period up to the
date of offer of an option (the “Offer Date”) shall not exceed 1% of
the aggregate number of Shares in issue on the Offer Date, without
prior approval from the shareholders of the Company. The amount
payable by an eligible participant on acceptance of a share option
is HK$1.00, which will be payable within 30 business days after
the date of grant.

The exercise price in relation to each share option will be
determined by the Board, but in any event must be at least the
highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange on the Offer Date; (ii)
the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the Offer Date; and (iii) the nominal value
of a Share. Unless otherwise determined by the Board, there is
no minimum period for which a share option must be held and/or
any performance targets which must be achieved before a share
option can be exercised. No option may be exercised more than
10 years from the date of grant.

As at 31 December 2024 and as at the date of this report, no
option has been granted under the 2020 Share Option Scheme.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the aggregate sales
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers comprised
approximately 0.32% of the Group’s total sales and the sales
attributable to the Group’s largest customer were approximately
0.11% of the Group’s total sales. During the year ended 31
December 2024, the aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers were approximately 29% of the
Group’s cost of sales and the purchases attributable to the
Group’s largest supplier were approximately 9% of the Group’s
cost of sales.

So far as is known to the Directors, none of the Directors, their
close associates or substantial shareholders (which own more than
5% of the number of issued Shares) has any interest in any of the
five largest customers and suppliers of the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group understands that employees are valuable assets. The
Group provides competitive remuneration package to attract
and motivate the employees. The Group regularly reviews the
remuneration package of employees and makes necessary
adjustments to conform to the market standard.

The Group’s business is built on a customer-oriented culture.
The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with its suppliers and customers to fulfil its immediate
and long-term goals. To maintain its market competitiveness
within the industry, the Group aims at delivering constantly high
standards and high quality products and services to its customers.
During the year under review, there was no material and significant
dispute between the Group and its suppliers and/or customers.

DONATIONS

The Group did not make any charitable and other donations during
the year under review (2023: RMB Nil).

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

As at 31 December 2024, the Group held property and equipment
of approximately RMB2.5 million. Details of the movements are set
out in Note 11 to the financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S SHARES OR OTHER LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Shares or other listed securities of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and as at the date of
this report, the Board comprised the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Jerome (Chairman)
Mr. Sun Jun (appointed on 27 January 2025)
Mr. Yuan Weitao (resigned on 2 January 2025)

Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Hu Qing (appointed on 12 April 2024)
Ms. Liu Jingyan (appointed on 12 April 2024)
Mrs. Guo Yan (retired on 21 June 2024)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Chi Keung
Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Alan
Mr. Ip Wai Lun, William

In accordance with article 84 of the Articles, each of Mr. Chan Chi
Keung, Alan and Mr. Ip Wai Lun, William will retire from the office
of Director by rotation and being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

In accordance with article 83(3) of the Articles, Mr. Sun Jun will
hold office until the first annual general meeting of the Company
after his appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting. Accordingly, Mr. Sun Jun will stand for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

Mr. Sun Jun who was appointed as an executive Director on 27
January 2025, had obtained legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D
of the Listing Rules on 26 January 2025. Mr. Sun Jun confirmed
that he understood his obligations as a Director.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Directors has
entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term of
three years, and each of the independent non-executive Directors
has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a
term of three years.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
any member of the Group which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). Based
on the contents of such confirmation, the Company considers that
all three independent non-executive Directors are independent and
that they have met the specific independence guidelines as set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Remuneration Committee considers and recommends to the
Board the remuneration and other benefits paid by the Company
to the Directors. The remuneration of all Directors is subject to
regular monitoring by the Remuneration Committee to ensure that
the levels of their remuneration and compensation are appropriate.
Details of Directors’ remuneration are set out in Note 8 to the
financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 22 to 27 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Connected
Transactions” below and the section headed “Material Related
Party Transactions” in Note 26 to the financial statements, there
was no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
in relation to the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party to and in which a Director or an entity
connected with such Director is or was materially interested in,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisting at the end of the financial
year ended 31 December 2024 or at any time during the financial
year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors held any interests in any competing business
against the Company or any of its jointly controlled entities and
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” in this report, at no time during the year under review
were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or
their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any
other body corporate.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of
this report, there were no permitted indemnity provisions in force
for the benefit of any Director (whether made by the Company
or otherwise) or any director of an associated company of the
Company (if made by the Company).

The Company has arranged for appropriate and sufficient
insurance coverage on Directors’ liabilities in respect of legal
actions taken against its Directors arising out of corporate
activities.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the major subsidiaries of the Company as at 31
December 2024 are set out in Note 12 to the financial statements.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE DIRECTORS
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF THE COMPANY IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company or their respective
associates in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”), to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange,
were as follows:
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Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of
the Directors and the chief executives of the Company or their
respective associates had any interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which
were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2024, to the best of the Directors’ knowledge,
the following persons (other than the Directors and chief executives
of the Company) had or deemed or taken to have interests or
short positions in the Shares or underlying shares which would fall
to be disclosed under provision of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Long and short positions in the Shares and underlying
Shares
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Approximate
percentage of
Share in issue

Name of substantial shareholder Nature of Interest Interest in Shares (note 7) Notes
2RITRG
BAEDH
FTERRER ERME ROER (351 7) FEE
Pun Tang Beneficial interest 71,367,000 (L) 3.94% 1(@)
EE BatEn
Interest of controlled corporations 898,885,818 (L) 49.64% 1(a)
IR EE S 660,000,000 (S) 36.44% 1(b)
CIH Beneficial interest 898,885,818 (L) 49.64% 1(a)
oy 660,000,000 (S) 36.44% 1(b)
Greater Bay Area Homeland Interest of controlled corporations 712,647,000 (L) 39.35% 2
Investments Limited
AR ERARELEBRAT FynE @R
Starr International Foundation Interest of controlled corporations 224,710,691 (L) 12.41% 3
R AE R
Beijing Enterprises Real Estate (HK) Limited Interest of controlled corporations 151,515,000 (L) 8.37% 4
EEEXEB)ERAA A E R
Yang Liu Interest of controlled corporations 144,853,000 (L) 8.00% 5
2% R B RS
Taiping Trustees Limited Beneficial interest 138,888,000 (L) 7.67% 6
ANFEFRERRTA BEmttn

L = Long position #7& : S = Short position A&
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(a) Long position

CIH is wholly-owned by Ms. Pun Tang. As at 31 December 2024,
Ms. Pun Tang held 71,367,000 Shares (being approximately
3.94% of the total issued Shares of the Company as at 31
December 2024). CIH held 898,885,818 Shares, (being
approximately 49.64% of the total issued Shares of the Company
as at 31 December 2024); of which 300,000,000 Shares are
the underlying Shares of the convertible bonds in the aggregate
principal amount of HK$126,000,000 due on 23 April 2027 issued
by the Company to CIH on 23 April 2024 (the “2024 Convertible
Bonds”).

(b) Short position

On 18 April 2019, a subscription agreement (the “Exchangeable
Bonds Subscription Agreement”) was entered into between
the CIH and Mega Prime Development Limited (“Mega Prime”),
pursuant to which CIH issued exchangeable bonds (the
“Exchangeable Bonds”) to Mega Prime, which are exchangeable
into 220,000,000 Shares. Such underlying Shares are currently
owned by CIH. Mega Prime is wholly owned by Greater Bay Area
Homeland Investments Limited (“GBAHIL”).

Subsequently, on 30 July 2019, a novation deed was entered into
between Mega Prime as outgoing party, Poly Platinum Enterprises
Ltd. (“Poly Platinum”) as incoming party and CIH as continuing
party, pursuant to which all rights, obligations and liabilities
of Mega Prime under the Exchangeable Bonds Subscription
Agreement was novated to Poly Platinum.

On 28 July 2022, CIH and Poly Platinum agreed to vary the terms
of the Exchangeable Bonds, pursuant to which the number of
Shares exchangeable was varied from 220,000,000 Shares to
300,000,000 Shares.

The Exchangeable Bonds matured on 2 August 2023. On 25
January 2024, CIH and Poly Platinum agreed to, among the
others, further extend the maturity date of the Exchangeable
Bonds. The underlying Shares of the Exchangeable Bonds
remain unchanged at 300,000,000 Shares. On 25 January 2024,
CIH charged to Poly Platinum its interest in 60,000,000 Shares.
Additionally, CIH charged its interest in the 2024 Convertible
Bonds to Poly Platinum.

As at 31 December 2024, Poly Platinum held 52,647,000 Shares. Poly
Platinum is the beneficial owner of the Exchangeable Bonds, which
are exchangeable into 300,000,000 Shares. The Exchangeable Bonds
matured on 2 August 2023 and on 25 January 2024, CIH and Poly
Platinum agreed to, among the others, extend the maturity date of
the Exchangeable Bonds. For more details, please refer to note 1(b)
above. On 25 January 2024, CIH charged to Poly Platinum its interest
in 60,000,000 Shares. Additionally, CIH charged its interest in the 2024
Convertible Bonds which are convertible into 300,000,000 Shares
(assuming the 2024 Convertible Bonds is exercised in full), to Poly
Platinum. Poly Platinum is wholly owned by Greater Bay Area Homeland
Development Fund LP (“GBAHD Fund”). Greater Bay Area Homeland
Development Fund (GP) Limited (‘GBAHD GP”) is the general partner of
GBAHD Fund. Greater Bay Area Development Fund Management Limited
(“GBAD Fund Management”) is the fund manager of GBAHD Fund.
Both GBAHD GP and GBAD Fund Management are wholly owned by
GBAHIL. As such, GBHAIL was deemed to be interested in 712,647,000
Shares.

As at 31 December 2024, Starr Investments Cayman Il, Inc. and Starr
Investments Cayman V, Inc. were the beneficial owners of 114,801,600
Shares and 109,909,091 Shares, respectively (being approximately 6.34%
and 6.07% of the total issued Shares, respectively). Starr Investments
Cayman I, Inc. is wholly-owned by Starr International Cayman, Inc., which
is in turn wholly-owned by Starr Insurance and Reinsurance Limited. Starr
Insurance and Reinsurance Limited and Starr Investments Cayman V, Inc.
are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Starr International Investments Limited,
which is in turn wholly-owned by Starr International Company Inc. Starr
International Company Inc. is wholly-owned by Starr International AG,
which is wholly-owned by Starr International Foundation, a charitable
foundation established in Switzerland.
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4, Beijing Enterprises Real Estate (HK) Limited is wholly-owned by Beijing
Beikong Real Estate Co., Ltd.* G RIbIEE B REERR), which is in
turn wholly-owned by Beijing Enterprises Group Company Limited. Beijing
Enterprises Group Company Limited is wholly-owned by the State-owned
Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the People’s
Government of Beijing Municipality.

5. Atlantis Investment Management Limited is the beneficial owner of
144,853,000 Shares and is wholly-owned by Atlantis Capital Holdings
Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by Yang Liu.

6. Taiping Trustees Limited holds 138,888,000 Shares as trustee of a certain
discretionary trust, of which Taiping Assets Management (HK) Company
Limited is investment manager. The ultimate controlling shareholder of
Taiping Trustees Limited is China Taiping Insurance Group Limited, which
is ultimately controlled by the State Council of China.

7. The approximate percentage is based on a total of 1,810,953,272 issued
Shares as at 31 December 2024.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained sufficient
public float throughout the year ended 31 December 2024.

RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
Scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, each of the
employer and employee are required to make contributions of 5%
of the employees’ relevant income to the scheme, subject to a cap
of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions made to
the scheme are vested immediately.

The employees of the subsidiaries in China participate in the
retirement schemes operated by the local authorities. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of
their salaries to these schemes to pay the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group in respect to these schemes is the
required contributions under the schemes. For the year ended
31 December 2024, the Group’s total contributions to the
retirement schemes charged in the income statement amounted
to approximately RMB1.3 million (2023: approximately RMB1.6
million). Details of the Group’s retirement scheme and the basis of
calculation are set out in Note 6(b) to the financial statements.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to the establishment of good
corporate governance practices and procedures with a view to
enhancing investor confidence and the Company’s accountability
and transparency. The Company therefore strives to attain and
maintain effective corporate governance practices and procedures.
Throughout the year ended 31 December 2024 and save as
disclosed in this report, the Company has complied with the
code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code
and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Group’s principal corporate
governance practices are set out on pages 45 to 62 of this report.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Convertible bonds

On 29 July 2020, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with CIH, a substantial shareholder of the Company,
pursuant to which the Company shall issue HK$126.0 million
3.5% 2020 Convertible Bonds to CIH. On 26 January 2024,
the Company entered into a subscription agreement with CIH,
pursuant to which the Company shall issue HK$126 million
8% 2024 Convertible Bonds to CIH. For further details of the
transaction, please refer to the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis — Liquidity and Financial Resources —
Convertible Bonds” on pages 14 to 15 of this report.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the Group’s continuing connected transactions were as
follows:

On 3 September 2019, the Company (as lender) and Pointsea
Company Limited (“PCL”) (as borrower) entered into a facility
agreement in relation to a revolving loan facility to PCL, an indirect
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (the “2019 Facility
Agreement”). On 16 September 2022, the Company and PCL
entered into a supplemental facility agreement pursuant to which
the parties had agreed to vary the terms of the 2019 Facility
Agreement (the “2022 Supplemental Facility Agreement”). On
18 September 2023, the Company and PCL entered into a second
supplemental facility agreement, pursuant to which the parties had
agreed to further vary the terms of the 2019 Facility Agreement
(as amended by the 2022 Supplemental Facility Agreement) (the
“2023 Supplemental Facility Agreement”). On 30 May 2024,
the Company and PCL entered into a third supplemental facility
agreement pursuant to which the parties had agreed to further
vary the terms of the 2019 Facility Agreement (as amended by the
2022 Supplemental Facility Agreement and the 2023 Supplemental
Facility Agreement) (the “2024 Supplemental Facility Agreement
= 1”). Major terms of the 2019 Facility Agreement (as amended by
the 2022 Supplemental Facility Agreement, the 2023 Supplemental
Facility Agreement and the 2024 Supplemental Facility Agreement
— 1) are set out below:
Amount of revolving : Up to HK$100 million
loan facility

Purpose of revolving
loan facility

. For developing the digital point business
of PCL’s group of companies and for
capital expenditure and general working
capital of PCL’s group of companies.

Facility period . The six-year period from 31 October
2019 (the date on which the Company is
satisfied that all the conditions precedent
of the 2019 Facility Agreement have been
fulfilled or specifically waived in writing by
the Company).
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Security : None
Interest PCL shall pay interest on the outstanding
principal amount of the loan at a rate of:

(@) from and including the drawdown
date to, but excluding, 31 May
2024, 6.5% per annum; and

(b)  from and including 31 May 2024,
8.0% per annum.

Repayment date : 31 October 2025, being the date falling
on the expiry of the facility period, or such
later date as may be agreed between
PCL and the Company in writing, being
the date for the repayment of all loan(s)
(together with all interest accrued thereon)
in full.

PCL may, at any time after a loan
has been advanced and prior to the
repayment date, prepay such loan in
whole or in part (together with all interest
accrued thereon), without any penalty.

Voluntary
prepayment

PCL may reborrow any part of the
revolving loan facility which has been
prepaid or repaid in accordance with the
terms of the facility agreement, provided
that (i) no event of default as set out in
the facility agreement has occurred; and
(i) the aggregate outstanding principal
amount of all loan(s) shall not exceed
HK$100 million at any time during the
facility period.

Reborrowing

As at 31 December 2024, PCL is owned as to 47.24% by Pointsea
Holdings Company Limited (“Pointsea Holdings”), 15.75% by
Joy Empire Holdings Ltd, 15.75% by Extra Step Investments
Limited, 15.75% by China Eastern Airlines E-Commerce Co., Ltd,
2.76% by Zhongjin Qizhi (Shanghai) Equity Investment Centre
(Limited Partnership)* (F& &% (L8 BRIERETL(BREE)),
and 2.76% by Senran Investment HK Company Limited. Pointsea
Holdings is owned as to 80% by Treasure Ease Holdings Limited
(“Treasure Ease”) and as to 20% by Easylink Payment Network
(Hong Kong) Company Limited. Treasure Ease is owned as to
50.1% by the Company, 30% by Fin-Tech Company Limited (“Fin-
Tech”) and 19.9% by Chance Talent Management Limited. The
Board considers that PCL is a subsidiary of the Company through
its power to control the board of directors of PCL. CIH, being a
substantial shareholder of the Company, holds the entire issued
share capital of Fin-Tech. PCL is therefore a connected person of
the Company under Rule 14A.16 of the Listing Rules and the grant
of the revolving loan facility constitutes a continuing connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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For further details of the transaction, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 3 September 2019, 16
September 2022, 18 September 2023 and 30 May 2024 and the
circulars of the Company dated 15 October 2019, 12 October
2022, 11 October 2023 and 23 July 2024.

The proposed annual cap in respect of the revolving loan facility
under the 2019 Facility Agreement, 2022 Supplemental Facility
Agreement, 2023 Supplemental Facility Agreement and 2024
Supplemental Facility Agreement — 1 for each financial year of
the Company during the facility period shall not exceed HK$100
million.

As at 31 December 2024, the outstanding principal amount of
the revolving loan was HK$100,000,000, which was the highest
outstanding principal amount of the revolving loan during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

On 20 April 2021, the Company (as lender) and PCL (as borrower)
entered into a facility agreement in relation to a revolving loan
facility to PCL (the “2021 Facility Agreement”). On 30 May
2024, the Company and PCL entered into a supplemental
facility agreement pursuant to which the parties had agreed to
further vary the terms of the 2021 Facility Agreement (the “2024
Supplemental Facility Agreement - 2”). Major terms of the
2021 Facility Agreement (as amended by 2024 Supplemental
Facility Agreement — 2) are set out below:

Amount of revolving : Up to HK$100 million
loan facility

Purpose of revolving
loan facility

. For developing the digital point business
of PCL’s group of companies and for
capital expenditure and general working
capital of PCL’s group of companies.

Facility period . The four-year period from 31 May 2021
(the date on which the Company is
satisfied that all the conditions precedent
of the facility agreement have been fulfilled
or specifically waived in writing by the
Company).

Security . None
Interest

: PCL shall pay interest on the outstanding
principal amount of the loan at a rate of:

() from and including the drawdown
date to, but excluding, 31 May
2024, 6.5% per annum; and

(b)  from and including 31 May 2024,
8.0% per annum.

Repayment date : The date falling on the expiry of the facility
period, or such later date as may be
agreed between PCL and the Company in
writing, being the date for the repayment
of all loan(s) (together with all interest
accrued thereon) in full.
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Voluntary . PCL may, at any time after a loan
prepayment has been advanced and prior to the
repayment date, prepay such loan in
whole or in part (together with all interest

accrued thereon), without any penalty.
Reborrowing . PCL may reborrow any part of the

revolving loan facility which has been
prepaid or repaid in accordance with the
terms of the facility agreement, provided
that (i) no event of default as set out in
the facility agreement has occurred; and
(i) the aggregate outstanding principal
amount of all loan(s) shall not exceed
HK$100 million at any time during the
facility period.

As at 31 December 2024, PCL is owned as to 47.24% by
Pointsea Holdings, 15.75% by Joy Empire Holdings Ltd, 15.75%
by Extra Step Investments Limited, 15.75% by China Eastern
Airlines E-Commerce Co., Ltd, 2.76% by Zhongjin Qizhi (Shanghai)
Equity Investment Centre (Limited Partnership)* (fF&#% (+
8 IR E RO (BIRAE)), and 2.76% by Senran Investment
HK Company Limited. Pointsea Holdings is owned as to 80%
by Treasure Ease and as to 20% by Easylink Payment Network
(Hong Kong) Company Limited. Treasure Ease is owned as to
50.1% by the Company, 30% by Fin-Tech and 19.9% by Chance
Talent Management Limited. The Board considers that PCL is a
subsidiary of the Company through its power to control the board
of directors of PCL. CIH, being a substantial shareholder of the
Company, holds the entire issued share capital of Fin-Tech. PCL is
therefore a connected person of the Company under Rule 14A.16
of the Listing Rules and the grant of the revolving loan facility
constitutes a continuing connected transaction of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For further details of the transaction, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 20 April 2021 and 30 May
2024 and the circular of the Company dated 12 May 2021 and 23
July 2024.

The proposed annual cap in respect of the revolving loan facility
under the 2021 Facility Agreement and 2024 Supplemental Facility
Agreement — 2 during the facility period for each financial year of
the Company shall not exceed HK$100 million.

As at 31 December 2024, the outstanding principal amount of
the revolving loan was HK$73,920,000. The highest outstanding
principal amount of the revolving loan during the year ended 31
December 2024 was HK$73,920,000.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and
confirmed that the continuing connected transactions set out

above have been entered into:

(i) not in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(ii) on normal commercial terms; and
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(iii) in accordance with the terms of the 2019 Facility Agreement,
2021 Facility Agreement, the 2022 Supplemental Facility
Agreement, the 2023 Supplemental Facility Agreement, the
2024 Supplemental Facility Agreement — 1 and the 2024
Supplemental Facility Agreement — 2 (as the case may
be) and on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised), Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information and with reference to Practice Note 740. Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.

For the purpose of Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board
confirms that the letter issued by the Company’s auditor in respect
of the disclosed continuing connected transactions has stated
that nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the
auditor to believe that such continuing connected transactions: (j)
have not been approved by the Board; (i) were not entered into,
in all material respects, in accordance with relevant agreements
governing the transactions; and (i) have exceeded the annual cap,
as set out in Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

None of the related party transactions set out in the section
headed “Material Related Party Transactions” in Note 26 to
the financial statements constitutes connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions of the Company which is
required to be disclosed under the Listing Rules. The Directors
confirm that the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 27 May 2025 to Friday, 30 May 2025, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares will be
registered. In order to determine who are entitled to attend and
vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
to be held on Friday, 30 May 2025, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong
Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 26 May
2025.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 have been audited by BDO Limited who shall
retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company to re-appoint BDO Limited as auditor of
the Company.

By order of the Board

Changyou International Group Limited
Cheng Jerome

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to the establishment of good
corporate governance practices and procedures with a view to
being a transparent and responsible organisation which is open
and accountable to the Shareholders. The Board strives to adhere
to the principles of corporate governance and has adopted
sound corporate governance practices to meet the legal and
commercial standards, focusing on areas such as internal control,
fair disclosure and accountability to all shareholders to ensure the
transparency and accountability of all operations of the Company.
The Company believes that effective corporate governance is
an essential factor to create more value for its Shareholders.
The Board will continue to review and improve the corporate
governance practices of the Group from time to time to ensure that
the Group is led by an effective Board in order to optimise return
for Shareholders.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

The Group aims to create a brand new, sustainable and recyclable
digital-points ecosystem by applying digital points as financial
assets. The Group instils a culture that promotes innovation,
sustainability, good corporate governance and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations. The Board sets the tone and defines
the corporate culture of the Company, which is underpinned by the
Group’s vision of sustainable growth, and the core values of acting
lawfully, ethically and responsibly across all levels of the Group.

It is the role of the Board to foster the Group’s corporate culture
with the core principles of integrity and accountability to guide
the behaviours of its employees and ensure that the Company’s
purpose, values and business strategies are aligned to it. The
desired culture is developed and reflected consistently in the
operating practices of the Group, workplace policies and practices
as well as relations with stakeholders. The Board monitors and
evaluates the Company’s culture from time to time, encompassing
a range of measures and tools, including workforce engagement,
employee retention and training, stringent financial reporting,
effective and accessible whistleblowing framework, legal and
regulatory compliance, as well as staff safety, well-being and
support.

Taking into account the corporate culture in a range of contexts,
the Board considers that the culture and the purpose, value and
strategy of the Group are aligned.

Save as disclosed in this report, the Company had complied
with the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
throughout the year ended 31 December 2024.
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THE BOARD

As at the date of this report, the Board consists of seven Directors,
two of whom are executive Directors, two of whom are non-
executive Directors and three of whom are independent non-
executive Directors. The functions and duties conferred on the
Board include convening shareholders’ meetings and reporting
on the work of the Board to the Shareholders at shareholders’
meetings as may be required by applicable laws, implementing
resolutions passed at shareholders’ meetings, determining the
Company’s business plans and investment plans, formulating the
Company’s annual budget and final accounts, formulating the
Company'’s proposals for dividend and bonus distributions as well
as exercising other powers, functions and duties as conferred on
it by the Articles and applicable laws. The management team is
delegated with the authorities and responsibilities by the Board
for the day-to-day management and operations of the Group and
the Board reviews such delegation arrangements regularly. The
composition of the Board is well balanced with the Directors having
sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate and strategic
planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the business of
the Group. The executive Directors, non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors bring a variety of experience
and expertise to the Company.

The composition of the Board during the year ended 31 December
2024 and up to the latest practicable date of publication of this
report is set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Jerome (Chairman)
Mr. Sun Jun (appointed on 27 January 2025)
Mr. Yuan Weitao (resigned on 2 January 2025)

Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Hu Qing (appointed on 12 April 2024)
Ms. Liu Jingyan (appointed on 12 April 2024)
Mrs. Guo Yan (retired on 21 June 2024)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Chi Keung
Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Alan
Mr. Ip Wai Lun, William

The biographical details of the Board members during the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out under the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” on pages 22 to 28 of this
report. The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all
corporate communications issued by the Company pursuant to
the Listing Rules from time to time. The independent non-executive
Directors are expressly identified in all corporate communications
pursuant to the Listing Rules.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise, and the independent non-
executive Directors represented over one-third of the Board.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of its independent non-executive
Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on the
contents of such confirmation, the Company considers that all
three independent non-executive Directors are independent and
that they have met the specific independence guidelines as set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

All the Directors have separate and independent access to the
Company’s management team to fulfill their duties and, upon
reasonable request, to seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense. All
the Directors also have access to the company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”) who is responsible for
ensuring that the Board procedures, and all applicable rules
and regulations, are followed. An agenda and accompanying
Board/committee papers are distributed to the Directors/
Board committee members with reasonable notices in advance
of the meetings. Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of
Board committees, which record in sufficient detail the matters
considered by the Board and Board committees and decisions
reached, including any concerns raised by the Directors or
dissenting views expressed, are kept by the Company Secretary
and are open for inspection by the Directors.

The Company has arranged for appropriate and sufficient
insurance coverage on Directors’ liabilities in respect of legal
actions taken against its Directors arising out of corporate
activities.

The Board meets regularly to review the financial and operating
performance of the Company, as well as those relating to the
Group’s performance and reporting on environmental social and
governance (“ESG”), and considers and approves the overall
strategies and policies of the Company.

There is no other relationship between members of the Board.

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Directors has
entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term of
three years, and each of the independent non-executive Directors
has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company and is
appointed for a term of three years.
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In accordance with article 84 of the Articles, at each annual
general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if
their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but
not less than one third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement at least once
every three years. In accordance with article 84 of the Articles,
each of Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Alan and Mr. Ip Wai Lun, William will
retire from the office of Director by rotation and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

In addition, in accordance with article 83(3) of the Articles, Mr.
Sun Jun will hold office until the first annual general meeting of the
Company after their respective appointment and be subject to re-
election at such meeting.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Prior to 16 June 2015, the roles and duties of the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company were carried out by
different individuals and have been clearly defined in writing. Mr.
Cheng Jerome has been the Chairman of the Board since 25
March 2015 and Mr. Lai Fengcai had been the Chief Executive
Officer until his resignation on 16 June 2015. The positions of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer had been held by separate
persons in order to preserve independence and a balance of views
and judgement. With the support of the management team, the
Chairman is responsible for ensuring that the Directors receive
adequate, complete and reliable information in a timely manner and
appropriate briefing on issues arising at Board meetings. The Chief
Executive Officer focuses on implementing objectives, policies and
strategies approved and delegated by the Board and is in charge
of the Company’s day-to-day management and operations. The
Chief Executive Officer is also responsible for developing strategic
plans and formulating the organisational structure, control systems
and internal procedures and processes for the Board’s approval.

Since the resignation of Mr. Lai Fengcai as Chief Executive Officer
on 16 June 2015, the position of Chief Executive Officer has not
been filled up. The Company is in the process of identifying a
suitable candidate to assume the role as Chief Executive Officer of
the Company.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

The Directors keep abreast of the responsibilities as a director
of the Company and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company. Every newly appointed Director
will receive a formal, comprehensive and tailored induction on
the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and
full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations under
the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.
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The Directors also participated in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. They were involved in relevant training
courses at the Company’s expenses. All Directors also read
materials in relation to regular update to statutory requirements,
Listing Rules and other relevant topics related to a listed company.

The participation by each Director in continuous professional
development for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out
below:

EXNE2EBEENHETEERABERREHEMB R
RMBREFHESSNERB BB KA - WE2IEREE
K2 BAAARRAXN - 2BEETHEEHEREMADEE
BE - ETRAIR ETRRMTSE AR EAE -

RBE-Z-NF+-A=+-RLFE EENHEZTEER
SHEBERHFIAT

Reading related rules and
materials and/or
attending training courses

RIEAR AR A R AR

Name of Director EEH®A &/ RHEEHIRE
Mr. Cheng Jerome Cheng Jeromest 4 v
Mr. Yuan Weitao (resigned on 2 January 2025) REFEERZZE_RF—AZAHD) v
Ms. Hu Qing (appointed on 12 April 2024) HEZT(RZE_MFMOA+—AEEM) v
Ms. Liu Jingyan (appointed on 12 April 2024) AFFat (R mFMNA+—HEZRT) v
Mrs. Guo Yan (retired on 21 June 2024) BEEL (R ZZE_MEFEASAZ+—HRD) v
Mr. Wong Chi Keung Ea bt v
Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Alan PR 558 St A v
Mr. Ip Wai Lun, William EEmiE v
BOARD COMMITTEES EEZES

As an integral part of sound corporate governance practices, {Fz%@iﬁ%%iﬁﬁﬁﬁ@ég%ﬁ%“ BEECKIUTHE

the Board has established the following Board committees to
oversee the particular aspects of the Group’s affairs. Each of these
committees comprises independent non-executive Directors who
are being invited to join as members.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 24 September 2010 in
compliance with Rules 3.21 and 3.22 of the Listing Rules and with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and monitor
the Company’s financial reporting and internal control principles of
the Company and to provide advice and comments to the Board.
The members meet regularly with the external auditors and the
Company’s management team for the review, supervision and
discussion of the Company’s financial reporting and internal control
procedures and ensure that management has discharged its duty
to have an effective internal control and risk management system.
During the year 2024, the Audit Committee consisted of three
members, namely Mr. Wong Chi Keung, Mr. Ip Wai Lun, William
and Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Alan, all of whom are independent non-
executive Directors. Mr. Wong Chi Keung, who has appropriate
professional qualifications and experience in accounting matters,
was appointed as the chairman of the Audit Committee.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

During the year under review, the Audit Committee was also
responsible for determining the policy for the corporate governance
of the Company performing the corporate governance duties as
below:

o to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and management
team;

o to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with all legal and regulatory requirements (where
applicable);

o to develop, review and monitor the relevant code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors of the Group; and

o to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure requirements in the Corporate Governance
Report.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year under
review to review the financial results of the Group and significant
issues on the financial reporting and compliance procedures,
internal control and risk management systems.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial
statements and annual report of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023, including the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group, the interim results and report for the six
months ended 30 June 2024, the selection and appointment of
the external auditors and the adequacy and effectiveness of the
systems of risk management and internal control of the Group.

The Audit Committee has also reviewed the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and compliance with the
CG Code, reviewed and monitored the continuous professional
development of the Directors, and reviewed and monitored the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements during the year as well as the disclosures
in this report.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 24 September
2010 with written terms of reference in compliance with the
CG Code. During the year 2024, the Remuneration Committee
was chaired by Mr. Ip Wai Lun, William, an independent non-
executive Director with two Directors, namely Mr. Cheng Jerome,
an executive Director, and Mr. Wong Chi Keung, an independent
non-executive Director, as members. The principal responsibilities
of the Remuneration Committee are to formulate and recommend
remuneration policy to the Board, make recommendations to the
Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’
and management team’s remunerations, approve and review
management’s proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate
goals and objectives and make recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration of non-executive Directors. The Board expects
the Remuneration Committee to exercise independent judgment
and ensure that executive Directors do not participate in the
determination of their own remunerations. The remuneration of
the Directors was determined with reference to their respective
experience, responsibilities with and performance in the Group and
general market conditions.

The Group’s remuneration policy of the Directors and senior
management is sufficiently flexible, taking into account
future changes in the Company’s business environment and
remuneration practice, and allows the Group’s remuneration
arrangement to be designed to support its business strategies.
At the same time, the Group endeavours to provide a fair market
level of remuneration to attract, retain and motivate high quality
executive Directors, senior management and employees.

The Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management of the Company including
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payment,
including any compensation payable for loss or termination of their
office or appointment.

The Remuneration Committee held two committee meetings
during the year under review to review and made recommendation
to the Board on the remuneration policy and structure of the
Company and remuneration packages of Directors and senior
management.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the number of senior
management other than the Directors who received/was entitled to
receive remuneration falling within the following band is set out as
follows:

FMEES

FMEE S NRBEEBLTANRER _E—FFNAAZ+H
HERY WHEESHEBESHE - N _Z_MFE - HFWEssg
BYUFNTEEFERBRILERTEIR MBES  BRTES
Cheng Jerome e £ KRBV IFHITEFTH 2 REERNKE  HINE
BEMNEERERHNTEFMBRTNESTSRHER  siFEE
EREEEEFN2BFMBRAEABRESZSREER 22
BRI UMNCEFH KB RMBE RSN EREMNEZR LI
BITEENFHRNESSREEZR - ESRBTNEE ST
BUHEURRRTEFU T2HEEERERTHNEMN - EF%
MR 2ERESENER  HAEENETRRAUR KT
NETE o

AEREFLERTERFMERELEBARNLHBRARS
BB Gl RE S - BARANEEY 4 2 AEER T
HEAS R RSB - ARBORBHATOTSHIAT « 5L
B3l HBRHDSEENTES  SRTEERIES -

FONZE et B TERRARASRERE 2 HFHGERE
EgFHER  BREDEN 22BN REES  BREAX
SR IFEBS S BN EAHES

REEEE  FMEZESCERMREH  RIARAHFHBE
REBAREERSREER 2 HFMEBUM U ME RS

BE_T_WET_A=+—HILFE  REFUINER B’
WEUA T SBEs I F Bin S R E R AR T

Number of individual

AE

Nil to HK$1,000,000
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 24 September
2010. During the year 2024, the chairman was Mr. Cheng
Jerome, an executive Director, with two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Chi Keung and Mr. Chan
Chi Keung, Alan, as members. The Nomination Committee
is responsible for determining the policy for the nomination of
Directors, reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board, making recommendation to the Board on selection of
candidates for directorships, appointment and reappointment of
Directors and Board succession and assessing the independence
of independent non-executive Directors.

The nomination policy aims to set out the relevant selection criteria
and nomination procedures.

In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the following
factors would be used as reference by the Nomination Committee,
including but not limited to:

° ability to devote sufficient time and attention to the affairs of
the Company;
o reputation for integrity and accomplishment and experience

in the relevant industry(ies);

. diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background and ethnicity; and

o effectiveness in carrying out the responsibilities of the
Board, such as participating in Board meetings to bring
an independent judgement, scrutinising the Company’s
performance and monitoring the reporting of performance,
etc.

In appointing a new Director, the Nomination Committee shall
make recommendations for the Board’s consideration and
approval. For candidates to stand for election at a general meeting,
the Nomination Committee shall make nominations to the Board
for its consideration and recommendation. A circular setting out
information as required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules
and regulations of the proposed candidates will be sent to the
shareholders. The Board shall have the final decision on all matters
relating to its recommendation of candidates to stand for election
at any general meeting.

The Company adopts the board diversity policy and recognises
board diversity as the key element for the achievement of its
strategic goals and sustainable development. In considering the
composition and diversity of the Board, the Company takes into
account a number of factors from various aspects, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. All decisions regarding appointment of members of the
Board will be based on the candidates’ meritocracy having regard
to a set of objective standards that take into account the benefits
of board diversity.
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Selection of candidates will be based on a set of diversity criteria,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The ultimate decision will be made with
reference to the candidates’ merits and contributions to the Board.

The Directors consider that gender diversity of the Board has
been achieved. The male to female ratio of the Board is 5:2.
The Nomination Committee will continue to search for and
identify suitably qualified candidates and make nomination
recommendations to the Board as and when appropriate to ensure
there will be successors to the Board from time to time to maintain
gender diversity wherever necessary. The Company will ensure
that sufficient resources are available for providing trainings and
career development to develop a pipeline of potential successors
of the Board and maintain gender diversity.

The Company is committed to promoting gender diversity not
only within the Board but across its workforce generally. As at
31 December 2024, the Group’s total workforce is comprised of
approximately 67% male and 33% female employees. The Board
is of the view that the Group has achieved gender diversity in its
workforce. The Group’s recruitment strategy is underpinned by the
appointment of the right employee for the right position, in order to
achieve employee diversity for all employees (including the senior
management) in terms of gender, age, culture and educational
background, expertise, skills and know-how. Details of the gender
ratio of the Group together with the relevant data can be found
in the 2024 Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the
Company.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the
year under review to review the structure, size, diversity
and composition of the Board and the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors.

Independent views available to the Board

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. A summary of these
mechanisms is set out below:

(@ Composition

The Board ensures the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors and at least one-
third of its members being independent non-executive
Directors (or such higher threshold as may be required
by the Listing Rules from time to time), with at least one
independent non-executive Director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise. Further, independent non-executive
Directors will be appointed to Board committees as required
under the Listing Rules and as far as practicable to ensure
independent views are available.
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(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

The presence of three independent non-executive Directors,
representing more than one-third of the Board, provides the
Group with diversified expertise and experience. Their views
and participation in the Board and committee meetings
bring independent judgment and advice to the Board on
issues relating to the Group’s strategies, performance and
management process.

Independence assessment

The Nomination Committee strictly adheres to the
director nomination policy of the Company with regard
to the nomination and appointment of independent non-
executive Directors, and is mandated to assess annually
the independence of independent non-executive Directors
to ensure that they can continually exercise independent
judgement.

Compensation

No equity-based remuneration with performance-related
elements will be granted to independent non-executive
Directors as this may lead to bias in their decision-making
and compromise their objectivity and independence.

Board decision making

Independent non-executive Directors are entitled to seek
further information from the management on the matters
to be discussed at Board meetings and, where necessary,
independent advice from external professional advisers at
the Company’s expense.

A Director (including independent non-executive Director)
who has a material interest in a contract, transaction or
arrangement shall not vote or be counted in the quorum on
any Board resolution approving the same.

Meetings with senior management

All independent non-executive Directors can share their
views and opinions through regular/ad hoc meetings with
senior management.

Presentation on business performance would be arranged
from time to time or upon request for independent non-
executive Directors, providing opportunities for them to
express their independent views and inputs on management
process and business performance.

During the year, the Board at all times met the requirements of
the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of independent non-
executive Directors as mentioned in item (a) above.

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)
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The Company has received confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors and considers
them independent in accordance with the guidelines set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and free of any relationship that
could materially interfere with the exercise of their independent
judgements.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the above mechanisms on an annual basis and considered the
same effective in ensuring availability of independent views and
inputs to the Board.

NUMBER OF MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’
ATTENDANCE

The individual attendance record of each Director at the meetings
of the Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee,
Nomination Committee and the general meetings of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:

ARBCDEESBIIFNTESRHMB MR XRELS
MANEIIBGAH L TMESIRARERE Y - AU BEMENE
ATIERGEI TR HIE 2 BRR

EEeCRFENLIRINEERBRE - XRBZFHHID
REX - AEREFGRENEIE LB NER

ERRESHERHY

HE-Z-NF+-A=+—RHIFE SUEFHREEFS -
EREEE FHERES REZESEBRURARAREREARE

EVEA LRSI T

Audit  Remuneration Nomination Annual Extraordinary
Board Committee Committee Committee General General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
gzeg ENZEEE ¥MzEES REZEEE BRREEAE BRREHAE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Cheng Jerome Cheng Jerome %t & n N/ATER 2/2 22 11 113
Mr. Yuan Weitao (resigned on 2 January  ®EERE(R-Z-H%F
2025) —R=AEHD) n N/A TR N/A & N/A TR 1 33
Non-executive Directors FHTEE
Ms. Hu Qing i . a4 N/A iR N/A R N/A TR 0 02
Ms. Liu Jingyan ZrBat 4/4 N/A T N/A TiER N/A B 1 12
Mrs. Guo Yan (retired on 21 June 2024) ~ i+ (R-Z =&
NAZT—BEA) 4/4 N/A 7R N/A TEA N/A REF 11 11
Independent non-executive Directors BV /7EE
Mr. Wong Chi Keung EPEv3 1l 33 202 202 1 33
Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Alan FREE n 33 N/A NER 22 0 2/3
Mr. Ip Wai Lun, Willam Efhsie n 33 20 N/A T8 1 33

CODE PROVISIONS IN CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
Deviation with Code Provision

Code Provision C.1.6 of the CG Code provides that independent
non-executive Directors and non-executive Directors should
generally attend general meetings of the Company. Mr. Chan Chi
Keung, Alan and Ms. Hu Qing were not able to attend the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 21 June 2024 due to
their other commitments. Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Alan and Ms. Hu
Qing were not able to attend the extraordinary general meeting
of the Company held on 14 August 2024 due to their other
commitments. Ms. Hu Qing and Ms. Liu Jingyan were not able to
attend the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
22 November 2024 due to their other commitments.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Specific enquiries have
been made with all Directors, and all Directors have declared and
confirmed that, during the year ended 31 December 2024, they
were in compliance with the Model Code.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Billy, the Company Secretary, is a full time
employee of the Group and has the knowledge of the Company’s
day-to-day affairs. He also serves as the secretary of the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee as organised by the Board from time to time. The
Company Secretary reports to the Chairman. During the year
ended 31 December 2024, the Company Secretary complied
with the relevant professional training requirement under Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules. The biographical details of the Company
Secretary is set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” on page 28 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the financial statements for the financial year ended 31
December 2024 which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and of the Group at that date and of the
Group’s results and cash flows for the year then ended and are
properly prepared on the going concern basis in accordance with
the applicable statutory requirements and accounting standards.
The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in
the “Independent Auditor’s Report”.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration paid
or payable to the Group’s auditor, BDO Limited, in respect of their
audit and non-audit services are RMB980,000 and RMB9,300,
respectively.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective
internal control and risk management systems in order to
safeguard the Group’s assets and shareholders’ interests, and
review and monitor the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control and risk management systems on a regular basis so as
to ensure that internal control and risk management systems
in place are adequate. The Company has established written
policies and procedures applicable to all operating units to
ensure the effectiveness of internal controls. The internal control
framework also ensures, among other things, that the Company’s
operations are monitored and reviewed on a regular basis by each
department to ensure any inside information and other matters
identified are handled efficiently and in compliance with the Listing
Rules and applicable laws and regulations. The Company also has
a process of identifying, evaluating, and managing the significant
risks (including ESG risks) to the achievement of its operational
objectives. This process is subject to continuous improvement and
has been in place since 24 September 2010 and up to the date of
this report. The day-to-day operation is entrusted to the individual
department, which is accountable for its own conduct and
performance, and is required to strictly adhere to the policies set
by the Board. The Board carries out reviews on the effectiveness
of the internal control and risk management systems from time to
time in order to ensure that they are able to meet and deal with the
dynamic and ever changing business environment.

The risk management framework includes identifying significant
risks in the Group’s operation environment and evaluating the
impacts of those risks on the Group’s business; developing
necessary measures to manage those risks; and monitoring and
reviewing the effectiveness of such measures. The implementation
of risk management framework of the Group was assisted by the
Group’s internal audit function so that the Group could ensure new
and emerging risks relevant to the Group’s operation are promptly
identified by the management, the adequacy of action plans to
manage these risks is assessed and the effectiveness of the action
plans are monitored and evaluated. These are on-going processes
and the Audit Committee reviews periodically the Group’s risk
management systems.

The Audit Committee reported to the Board the implementation
of the Group’s risk management and internal control policy which,
among other things, included the determination of risk factors,
evaluation of risk level the Group could take and effectiveness of
risk management measures. Based on the reports from internal
audit function and the Audit Committee, and also the Board’s
review of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems at least once a year, the Board believes that the existing
internal control and risk management systems are adequate and
effective. The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the
risk management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness, and that such systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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The Directors are aware that the Group had net loss of
RMB18,165,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024. As at
31 December 2024, the Group had net current liabilities and net
liabilities of RMB53,992,000 and RMB154,361,000, respectively.
These events or conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

In this regard, for the purpose of assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, the management is in discussion
with its immediate and ultimate holding company, CIH, to provide
the necessary financial support when required, including but
not limited to the provision of the drawdown of the Group’s
unused loan facilities with CIH of HK$54,920,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB50,858,000) which will expire in July and
September 2025 when repayment is required by then (see Note
20 to the financial statements).

Based on the management’s assessment and the expected
extension of the loans facilities from CIH, the Directors are of the
opinion that the Group would have adequate funds to meet its
liabilities as and when they fall due at least twelve months from the
end of the reporting period. Accordingly, the Directors consider it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a
going concemn basis.

Based on the information provided by management of the Group,
the Audit Committee has reviewed and agreed with the Board’s
basis for the going concern basis adopted in preparing the financial
statements and such basis has also been disclosed in “Note 2 —
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (b) Basis of preparation
of the financial statements” in the financial statement on pages 80
to 82 of this report.

Statement of the responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor
for preparing the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report of this report.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The executive Directors closely monitor the Group’s business
and corporate developments and events so that potential
inside information would be identified promptly. The Company
regulates the handling and dissemination of inside information
by restricting access to inside information to a limited number of
employees and parties on a need-to-know basis. Employees who
are in possession of inside information are conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality. External parties, such as
financial printer, are required to sign confidentiality agreement or
non-disclosure agreement. Inside information remains confidential
until the disclosure of such information is appropriately approved
and the dissemination of such information is efficiently and
consistently made. Inside information shall be disseminated via
the electronic publication system operated by the Stock Exchange
before the information is released via other channels, such as the
press or posting on the Company’s website.
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PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO REQUISITION
AND CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING (INCLUDING PROPOSING A RESOLUTION AT
AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING)

. Any two or more shareholders holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company (the “Eligible
Shareholders”) shall at all times have the right, by a written
requisition signed by the Eligible Shareholders concerned
(the “Requisition”), to require the Board to convene an
extraordinary general meeting, and to put any resolution so
requisitioned to vote at such extraordinary general meeting.

. Eligible Shareholders who wish to requisition the Board to
convene an extraordinary general meeting for the purpose of
proposing a resolution at the extraordinary general meeting
must deposit the Requisition at the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong at Office Room 45,
Unit 405-414, Level 4, Core E, Cyberport 3, 100 Cyberport
Road, Pok Fu Lam, Hong Kong.

o The Requisition must state clearly the names of the Eligible
Shareholders concerned, specify the objects of the meeting,
and be signed by the Eligible Shareholders concerned. The
Eligible Shareholders must prove their shareholdings in the
Company to the satisfaction of the Company.

o The Company will check the Requisition and verify the
identities and the shareholdings of the Eligible Shareholders
with the Company’s branch share registrar. If the Requisition
is found to be proper and in order and in compliance
with the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company, the Board will within 21 days of the date of
deposit of the Requisition, duly proceed to convene an
extraordinary general meeting to be held within a further 21
days, for the purpose of putting any resolution(s) proposed
by the Eligible Shareholders to vote at such extraordinary
general meeting. However, if the Requisition has been
verified as not in order and not in compliance with the
memorandum and articles of association of the Company,
the Eligible Shareholders concerned will be advised of
this outcome and accordingly, the Board will not convene
an extraordinary general meeting and will not put any
resolution(s) proposed by the Eligible Shareholders to vote
at any such extraordinary general meeting or any other
general meeting of the Company.
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o If within 21 days of the date of deposit of the Requisition,
the Board has not advised the Eligible Shareholders that
the Requisition is not in order and not in compliance
with the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company, and the Board has failed to proceed to convene
an extraordinary general meeting, the Eligible Shareholders
themselves (or any one or more of the Eligible Shareholders
who holds more than one-half of the total voting rights of all
the Eligible Shareholders who signed the Requisition) may
proceed to convene the extraordinary general meeting in the
same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which general
meetings may be convened by the Board in accordance
with the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company, provided that the extraordinary general meeting
so convened must be held before the expiration of three
months from the date of deposit of the Requisition. All
reasonable expenses incurred by the Eligible Shareholders
concerned as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the Eligible Shareholders concerned by the
Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining a clear, timely
and effective communication with the Shareholders and investors.
The Board also recognises that effective communication with
its investors is critical in establishing investors’ confidence and
attracting new investors. Therefore, the Group is committed to
maintaining a high degree of transparency to ensure the investors
and the Shareholders will receive accurate, clear, comprehensive
and timely information of the Group through the publication of
annual reports, interim reports, announcements and circulars.
The Company also publishes all corporate communications on
the Company’s website at http://www.changyou-alliance.com
and the Stock Exchange’s website at https://www.hkexnews.hk.
Further, Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board (i) in writing to the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong (Office Room 45, Unit 405-414, Level 4,
Core E, Cyberport 3, 100 Cyberport Road, Pok Fu Lam, Hong
Kong) for the attention of the Company Secretary; (i) by email at
ir@fortunet.com.hk; or (iii) by attending the Company’s general
meetings. The Board maintains regular dialogues with institutional
investors and analysts from time to time to keep them informed
of the Group’s strategy, operations, management and plans. The
Directors and members of various board committees will attend
the annual general meeting of the Company and answer any
questions raised. The resolution of every important proposal will be
proposed at general meetings separately.
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The chairman of general meetings of the Company would explain
the procedures for conducting a poll before proposing a resolution
for voting. The poll results will be announced at general meetings
and published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company, respectively. In addition, the Company regularly meets
with institutional investors, financial analysts and financial media,
and promptly releases information related to any significant
progress of the Company, so as to promote the development
of the Company through mutual and efficient communications.
The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the shareholders’ communication policy conducted during
the year and considers that the Company’s communication with
Shareholders is effective during the year under review.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There were no changes in the constitutional documents of the
Company during the year under review.
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IBDO

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Changyou International Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Changyou International Group Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 71
to 157, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2024 and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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We draw your attention to Note 2(b) to the consolidated
financial statements which indicates that Group incurred
a net loss of RMB18,165,000 during the year ended
31 December 2024, and as of the same date, had net
current liabilities and net liabilities of RMB53,992,000 and
RMB154,361,000 respectively. These events or conditions,
along with other matters set forth in Note 2(b), indicate that
a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our
conclusion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter
described in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going
Concern section, we have determined the matter described
below to be the key audit matter to be communicated in
our report.

Refer to Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements
and the accounting policies in Note 2(u).
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The Key Audit Matter

The principal activities of the
Group are sales of goods
in the form of virtual assets
and credits for consumption
of merchandises, games,
services and other
commercial transactions
through the development and
operation of an electronic
trading platform to promote
and facilitate awards earned
by customers of loyalty
programmes of other
companies to be exchanged
and other trading business.
The Group mainly generates
revenue in the way of sales
of goods and provision of
services.

The Group’s revenue
comprises a high volume
of individual transactions.
The Group maintains
sophisticated information
technology systems to
process a large volume
of data arising from these
transactions, including
details of the date and time
of delivery of the goods sold.
The completeness, existence
and accuracy of the Group’s
revenue is highly reliant on
the information technology
systems.

Changyou International Group Limited

How the matter was
addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures to
assess revenue recognition
included the following:

¢ Discussing major business
scenarios available on the
electronic trading platform
with management and
evaluating their judgements
made in determining
the timing of revenue
recognition, by inspecting
agreements with business
partners/suppliers and
observing operation
of selected business
scenarios mentioned
above;

Involving our internal
information technology
specialists to evaluate the
design, implementation
and operating effectiveness
of key internal controls
over the capturing and
processing of revenue
transactions, including
the completeness,
existence and accuracy
of the transaction details
contained within the
Group’s information
technology systems;

Assessing the design,
implementation and
operating effectiveness of
key manual internal controls
over revenue recognition of
major business scenarios
available on the electronic
trading platform;
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BREESEE

EREEZEY/ABBMAE
LEEETRHFAMERE
BREEREERANER
AREm - B REEE
MEERS  NeERHE
o B % P B At 8RR
MR AREMRFHE
B BEREIEUHEER
A ARG ARASEE A

EREHNBRASEAENE
RIS - EBERBEHAEME
ME BRI R - PARRIE %
ERHELENAERE B

EAEEMIRA AR
RFE - BEEBEKRANT

B FEMREREESE
RIS BRI ERA

BAeyE
MR B

AP WA R BB AT
RFBENATER
o

EEENBREBEETR
ST REEERS
R UWHERAESHEERY
/HERNGERBR
FETEBTRNE
2 AR EEREER
W A B I B B BT 1 A9 7
s

o BMHPNBELHTER
£ 837144 B EE BR TR
TN REE T
mis - EMREEANR
o aE BEEREAH
iR G FT BB 5 I
TR B
/E;

 HEBFIRHFALEE

£5 5 RUARRHEE
AT AR RS - &
HERBE AR



The Key Audit Matter

We identified the recognition of
revenue as a key audit matter
because the Group’s revenue is
significant to the consolidated
financial statements and
involves complicated
information technology
systems, all of which give rise

How the matter was
addressed in our audit

e Comparing the details of
the monthly manual journal
entries relating to the
input into the accounting
system of revenue with
the reports generated by
the information technology
systems, on a sample

to an inherent risk that revenue

could be incorrectly recorded

in the period. e Comparing cash receipt
during the year to the
transaction data recorded
in the information
technology systems, on a
sample basis.

basis; and

The directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included
in the Company’s annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.
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The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process. The Audit Committee
assists the directors in discharging their responsibility in this
regard.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.
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° plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review the work performed
for the purposes of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023 were audited by another
auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those
statements on 27 March 2024.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
Cheung Or Ping

Practising Certificate no. P05412

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit
Other income

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Research and development costs
Reversal of/(provision for) impairment
loss on trade and other receivables

Loss from operations
Finance costs

Loss arising from changes in fair value

on trading securities

Loss before taxation
Income tax

Loss for the year

Attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Loss for the year

Loss per share

Basic and diluted (RMB cent)

The notes on pages 79 to 157 form part of these financial

statements.
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for the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—T-_NF+=-A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Renminbi (‘RMB”))

Note
BisE

~ O

10

AARE (AR ITR)

2024 2023
—EomE —F_=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARBEFIT
180,708 226,751
(141,437) (187,477)
39,271 39,274
626 2,640
(3,936) (5,343)
(30,987) (30,678)
(7,581) (9,735)
193 (55)
(2,414) (3,897)
(20,814) (34,354)
(99) (365)
(23,327) (38,616)
5,162 =
(18,165) (38,616)
(19,516) (37,562)
1,351 (1,054)
(18,165) (38,616)
(1.08) (2.07)

IEHEREEARAE

FTIOE7TAMERRFMBREZ —87 °
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for the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in RMB)  (JAAR¥EFI7R)

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income for the year
(after tax):

[tem that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

— Exchange differences on translation of
financial statements denominated in
foreign currencies into the Group’s
presentation currency

Total comprehensive income for the year

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income for the year

HE_Z-_WF+—A=+

HIFFE

2024 2023
—ECmEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
FREE (18,165) (38,616)
FREMZEKE BRBE) -
TeEH EEIBEMNIER
—BREDSINEENI B REE
AEEZY|EBREN =5
2,721 1,101
FRAZEKREE (15,444) (37,515)
LN AL -
RAB IR (16,795) (36,461)
FEIE R R 1,351 (1,054)
FRAZHERRBEE (15,444) (37,515)

The notes on pages 79 to 157 form part of these financial

statements.
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at 31 December 2024 H-ZT_ME+-A=+—H
(Expressed in RMB) (A A R#751I7R)

At At
31 December 31 December
2024 2023

RZEZOFE WRZE-=F
+=A=+—8H +=—A=+—H

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B sE AR¥T T ARBT T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property and equipment L EYSE = 11 2,514 3,494
Deferred tax assets RETIBE = 22 5,162 =
7,676 3,494
Current assets REEE
Trading securities R G H 13 202 296
Inventories FE 14 28 87
Trade and other receivables B 5 R H M EWFIE 15 122,688 120,255
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReEEER 16 8,230 25,415
131,148 146,053
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables B 5 Kk HAER ZIA 17 127,438 134,104
Lease liabilities HEBaRE 19 1,937 1,757
Convertible bonds AT AR E 18 - 114,972
Loans from an equity shareholder of REANR]—BRESAR
the Company 2B 20 55,765 50,821
185,140 301,654
Net current liabilities REBAETFHE (53,992) (155,601)
Total assets less current liabilities ZAEERARBERS (46,316) (152,107)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE
Lease liabilities HEaRE 19 - 1,212
Convertible bonds AR ES 18 108,045 =
108,045 1,212
NET LIABILITIES BEFH (154,361) (153,319)

BEEREESRAT —T-nmEsEss | 73
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at 31 December 2024 RZ-Z=_F+=-A=+—H
(Expressed in RMB) (A AR¥FI7R)

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

TOTAL EQUITY - DEFICIT

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors

on 28 March 2025.

Cheng Jerome
Cheng Jerome

Director (Chairman)

EFZERE)

The notes on pages 79 to 157 form part of these financial

statements.

Changyou International Group Limited

At At
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
R-B-OE R =F
+=—HA=+—HB +-A=+—H
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BT AR¥T T AREFIT

BEARR#HE 23
N 117,812 117,812
e 114,885 116,876

ARARIERRRENERATE

232,697 234,688
FrER R (387,058) (388,007)
s — AL (154,361) (153,319)

Sun Jun
BB
Director

EF

Annual Report 2024
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Belance at 1 January 2023

Changes in equity for 2023

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

Transfer between resenves
(Note 21(o} and 23(cli)

Effect on equity arising from issuance of
shares of a subsiciary fo company
under commaon control (Note 25(a)

Balance at 31 December 2023

K:E:EE—H—HZ’%%
SRR

BEREER
FERARETNE

BERRMALLE

B BmEE (A0 R0

S ANBATRG FAREHAT
HhEETHT2 Bk

it g e el

for the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—T-_NF+=-A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in RMB)

Attributable to equty shareholders of the Company

RDERRRRER

AARBITR)

Non-

Share Share Captl ~ Exchange Other  Accumulated controling~ Total equty-

captal premium eee T6SeIVe resene losses Total interests (efict

-

Rr BhAEE  AMEE  EXRR EtRE  EiBE &t FERER  BueR

RVBOOO  RMBOOO ~ RWMBOOO  RMBOO0O  RMBOOO  RMBO00  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBIOO0

ARET  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
(Note23(c) ~ Note23(l)  (Note23(i)  Mote23di)  MNote 23(N)
(ko3 (hskos)  (hossoom) (ko) (ko3

17812 1263789 78,635 (4363) 4202 (1.25084) 271951 (387305 (115,804)

- - - - - (37562 (37,562) (1,004) (38,616)

- - - 1,101 - - 1,101 - 1,101

- - - 1,101 - (37,562) (36.461) (1,004) (37,515)

- 1290 (19423 - - 18,133 - - -

- - = - (402) - (02) 402 =

- 120 (19423 - (402) 18,133 (402) 402 -

17812 1265079 59212 (326 0860 (145013 234688 (388007 (183319

BHEREEERAR —ToNFFERS
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for the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT_ME+—-A=+—HI-FE
(Expressed in RMB)  (JAAR¥EFI7R)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

KARERRES
Non-
Share Share Capital  Exchange Other - Accumulated controlling  Total equity-
capital ~ premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests deficit

Bi-

Brx  RBEE  E4ABE  ENBE  ReBE  EEE of  HERER BB

RMBOO  RMBON  RMBOD)  RMBONO  RMBOO  RMBOM)  RWBODO  RMBOO  RMBOW

AEMTr  ARBTR  ARMTR ARMTr ARMTR ARETn  ARETn ARETn  ARMfR
Note23c)  (Note 236) (Note 23] Note 23l (Note 23l
() (ksondn) (Kstoao) (Hazom) (KE2am)

Balance at 1 January 2024 H-B-mE-A-R2kR 17812 1,265079 59,212 (3,262) 40860  (1,245,013) 234,688 (368,007 (153,319
Changes in equity for 2024: ZECMEZERSE.
Loss for the year RERRR - - - - - (9516 (19516) 195 (18169
Other comprehensive income for heyear ~ AEERK2ENE - - - 2,721 - - 2,721 - 271
Totd comprehensheincomefor tieyear ~ AEERANGEE - - - 27 - (19516)  (16,799) 1,351 (15444)
Disposal of subsicaries (Note 250) HERERA (K250 - - - - 2403 - 2403 (402) 2,001
Transfer etween reserves (Note 19) e AwER (ike) - - Ay - - 59212 - - -
Issuance of converte bonds (Note 18) ke (i) - - 12401 - - - 12401 - 12401
- - (e Y - 1. W) e
Balance at 31 December 2024 RoSMETZAZt-RZER 17812 126500 12401 (4) 43263 (1205317 202607 (307058  (154361)

The notes on pages 79 to 157 form part of these financial FTOE157EM i AZETBHRER 2 —2BH -
statements.
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Operating activities
Loss before taxation
Adjustments for:
Depreciation expenses
Finance costs
Loss arising from changes in fair
value on trading securities
Interest income
Net gain on disposal of property
and equipment
Gain on substantial modification on
financial liabilities
Changes in working capital:
Decrease in inventories
Increase in trade and other
receivables
(Decrease)/increase in trade and
other payables

Cash (used in)/generated from
operations
Income tax paid

Net cash (used in)/generated from

operating activities

Investing activities

Payments for purchase of property
and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property
and equipment

Cash outflow from disposal of
subsidiaries

Interest received

REEE

BRI AT &R

LA BIREH AR -
FERX

BB R
RHBEHFNHERE
ELMEER

M BUA

HEME N RER S FE

TRBEEEEESkE

&9 5 = om b 30R
210
85 R
(RD),/
i (F M)/ FieRe

BT

REES (FTA) s
REFH

REEH
BEMERRBZNK

HEVE N R EPISFIR
HEMBARRESRH
REEIESE

Net cash used in investing activities R&EZEIFTAREFE

Note
BisE

25(b)

for the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—T-_NF+=-A=+—HIFE

(Expressed in RMB) (A A R#7517R)

2024 2023
—E_ME —T_=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT
(23,327) (38,616)
2,608 2,660
20,814 34,354
99 365

(19) (24)

- (76)

(289) =

59 76
(2,493) (5,477)
(15,847) 13,645
(18,395) 6,907
(18,395) 6,907
(366) (257)

= 76

(205) -

19 24

(552) (157)

BHEREEERAR _—ToNMFFERSE
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for the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in RMB)  (JAAR¥EFI7R)

Financing activities

Advance from a shareholder of the
Company

Capital element of lease rentals paid

Interest element of lease rentals paid

Finance costs paid

Net cash generated from/(used in)
financing activities

Net decrease in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
1 January

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes

Cash and cash equivalents at
31 December

HIFFE

RAED
HE AT —BRR
BRSNS AAE

BN ¥ FIS 3
BNEESA

b
b

MEEBRE, (A
REFH

RERREESEEHE

R—A—BZEER
RE&%EER

ERSH I HE

R

(
) 16(
Z) 16(

(

16(a)

Rt-A=+—BzRER

RE%EER

The notes on pages 79 to 157 form part of these financial

statements.

Changyou International Group Limited

Annual Report 2024

16(a)

2024 2023
—EomE —F_=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARETT
4,196 -
(2,227) (2,149)
(250) (388)

- (11,865)

1,719 (14,402)
(17,228) (7,652)
25,415 32,974

43 93

8,230 25,415

FTIOE17TAMERRFMBHREZ —85 °



Changyou International Group Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
on 21 May 2008 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law, Chapter 22
(Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands. The shares of the Company were
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) on 24 September 2010.

The principal activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
are the sales of goods in the form of virtual assets
and credits for consumption of merchandises, games,
services and other commercial transactions through
the development and operation of an electronic
trading platform to promote and facilitate awards
earned by customers of loyalty programmes of other
companies to be exchanged in the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC”) and other trading business.

These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable HKFRS
Accounting Standards, which collective
term includes all applicable individual Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”). Material accounting policies
adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and
amended HKFRS Accounting Standards that
are first effective or available for early adoption
for the current accounting period of the Group.
Note 2(c) provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group for the
current accounting period reflected in these
financial statements.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEBAIN + UARETIR)

GHREFEEEEGRAR ([RAR)REFEHSED
FRBRANE(—NAR—FE=FEN - KiRa k&
DR ZZEENFRA-T—HAERSHEFMAT
REREERAT c RRAGIRMNR_ZE—FFNA
“+MBERBBMERGAAERAR ([HRAT]) £
m o

ARRIREMBAR (RHEIAEE]) ERES 5B
BREMNSEETRHFE  WEREENRRET
NHESm > AREm - B RBEREMERR
5 REEM AR TP B HE I REE B
FEARKMNE ([HE)) R EAMZ HET -

ZEMBRACREMBEERT M BREE
QS ERGRE  HIEREREEStiAg
(BERETMAE]) RHHMAEERNERNE
BUBREGER - HBEG LR ([FREHE
B RREBARBERGDINRERTE © Z
ERBERRIDNTEBEHMERIZAERAFE
Z EMAAN(T LR ) RBE R RE RS -

FEGTHAGERMETHE X ERSLAH
AEBERAE S HIRIE AR A ROFTR] S B R]
BRMBHREEAGFER o MiEE2(c) iRt 7]
REMAZELERE SRR ERNERZEEHN
B AR EHBRR TR RS EAE
EASTHEAEE SR

BHEREEERAR _—ToNMFFERSE
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BA AN + UARETIR)

The consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 31 December
2024 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation
of the financial statements is the historical cost
basis except for trading securities (see Note
2(e)) and derivative financial instruments (see
Note 2(f)) which are stated at their fair values.

The preparation of financial statements in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards
requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various
other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis of making the judgements about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period
of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRS Accounting Standards
that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in Note 3.

Changyou International Group Limited  Annual Report 2024

AABEHE-_ZE-_NE+_A=+—RHIIEE
2 BB EE DA R AR AR AT -

RAEMBRRAANAEEERELRAE
RGBS (RHE2e) MTESRT A
(RFEE2() AR A FEDIRR

RETE B BN BHRELEN LR E R
KA EEERELFIE - SR RRER - B
A EFTREBRREFEBRNERREE -
BE  WELFAXHE2REER - ZF Gt LA
AR IENBERR R AMERA RS ENR
= RRERAHSENEERABNEREE
AR B A0 HORBH BB EL T —2 - BER
ERABEERZFERT TR -

% E AT MR RRIEFHEEEEN - 5
FTVERTIMRZBZET A - AIRNZERTH
IAHERR - 1ERT IR B A HARE] KoK SR EAR] - A
PMERT AR K R SR EARRI R

EIEERMABYHEREERG LR FI{E
HE IR B EATE 2 HE R EFT TR
A=z F EARN M 3w



For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group incurred a net loss of RMB18,165,000,
and as of the same date, the Group had
net current liabilities and net liabilities of
RMB53,992,000 and RMB154,361,000,
respectively. In addition, the Group had loans
from an equity owner of the Company of
RMB51,932,000 as at 31 December 2024
(Note 20) that are repayable within one year
from 31 December 2024 while the Group
only had cash and cash equivalents of
RMB8,230,000.

In this regard, for the purpose of assessing
the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, the management is in discussion with
its immediate and ultimate holding company,
Century Investment (Holding) Limited (“Century
Investment”), to provide the necessary
financial support when requires, including but
not limited to the provision of the drawdown of
the Group’s unused loan facilities with Century
Investment of HK$54,920,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB50,858,000) which will
expire in July and September 2025 and require
repayment by then (see Note 20).

Based on the management’s assessment
and the expected extension of the loans
from Century Investment, the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that the Group
would have adequate funds to meet its liabilities
as and when they fall due at least twelve
months from the end of the reporting period.
Accordingly, the directors of the Company
consider it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, the going concern
of the Group is largely dependent upon whether
the Group eventually would be able to extend
the existing facility with Century Investment and
whether financial support could be provided
on a timely basis. These events or conditions
indicate the existence of a material uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BA I + AAREFIR)

BE-_Z-_NF+_A=+—HItFE K&
EE5i8FsE A AR18,165,0007T * MEZE
AR AEERHEEFELEEFED
A AREE53,992,0007T & AR ¥154,361,000
JC o AN REBR T -_NE+_A=+—
BEREADNE —ZHERELERARK
51,932,0007T (fI5E20) » ZEE —ZE—WF+ =
B=+—HE:—FREE MAEEESR
& MR EMEE R ARKS,230,0007T °

MEMS - RAEASERELE 2N
BRI B H B B R LIE IR A FlCentury
Investment (Holding) Limited ([Century
Investment ) 77515 - U B ERRENE
MBI - BEETRRIEHAZER Century
Investment#) K &) FA & 5§l & 54,920,000/ 7T
(HE R AR¥50,858,0007T) HIEEN * % EE
FRMEBN_Z_AFtARNATE &
BEE (RKEE20) -

EREBREMTFHATEHRKRE Century
InvestmentZ ERBEER - ARAREER
B BREHREEL+ @A KEEGE
BERRESERIPEE - At - XRRES
RAE - BEBERERERRGANBRABE
T

BE XA AEBNBELLERKAE
B LEEUARAE B &K RESERECentury
Investmentf I8 G B & A K ee B K LR 4B
Bl ZEFHNBERB R FENREH AL
BEEESELEEBNENEECSERARMANE
ATBERAAZE ©

BHEREEERAR _—ToNMFFERSE
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BA AN + UARETIR)

Should the Group be unable to continue as
a going concern, adjustments would have to
be made to write down the value of assets
to their realisable amounts, to provide for
further liabilities which might arise and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities
respectively. The effect of these adjustments
has not been reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.

The principal activities of the Group were
carried out by Shanghai Sub-chain Information
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Sub-chain”, VIE),
which was established as a limited liability
company in the PRC, and its subsidiaries.
Since the business conducted by Sub-chain
and its subsidiaries is subject to foreign
investment restrictions under the relevant laws
and regulations in the PRC, Centchain Co.,
Ltd. (“Centchain”’, WFOE), a subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a series of agreements
(the “Contractual Arrangements”) with
Sub-chain and its equity shareholders. As a
result of the Contractual Arrangements, the
Group has rights to exercise power over Sub-
chain and its subsidiaries, receives variable
returns from its involvement in Sub-chain and
its subsidiaries, has the ability to affect those
returns, and hence, has the control over Sub-
chain and its subsidiaries. Consequently, the
Group regards Sub-chain and its subsidiaries
as controlled entities, and the directors of the
Company consider it is appropriate to account
Sub-chain as a subsidiary. The directors of the
Company have determined that the Contractual
Arrangements are in compliance with PRC laws
and are legally enforceable.
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HMAREEEFBLLE - S AR UMBE
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BEME) E) 5§ NSRRI — &5
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g MARREZR/ED BRBARESH
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The Group has applied the following new and
amended HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the HKICPA to these financial statements for
the current accounting period:

- Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current

- Amendments to HKAS 1, Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants

- Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7,
Supplier Finance Arrangements

- Amendments to HKFRS 16, Lease
Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

None of these developments have had a
material effect on how the Group’s results
and financial position for the current or prior
periods have been prepared or presented. The
Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the
current accounting period.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the
Company. The Company controls an entity
when it is exposed to, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The financial statements
of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date on which
control commences until the date on which
control ceases.

When the Group has less than a majority of
the voting rights of an investee, it has power
over the investee when the voting rights are
sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally.
The Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not
the Group’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BA I + AAREFIR)

AEERASA RS HREMBHRRERE
BRI A R AT RSB EEY
B ERIg LR

- BEREHENE1RUEITXR) HEES
BRREBZIFTE

- BAREHEANFVRUEIN) - HERE
HIFERE R (&

-  BAGHENFTRREEYBEREEA
FTHRWERTX) - HEBHELH

-  BARSFERFE165(BFIAX) - F£ L
HHHER &

A ERCH AR BN REKENERIRBE
HRNRE LM BIRR L EERBERTZE - K
£ B0 R & AR AT A & 5t B il R AR AR BV 37
FIERIkRE -

BB RRIERARAHEFINERS - EARAK
DEFXBR XGRS GRESTEOR
RERNHERITEEENMPZELDRE - 8
AEBEZGIZER - MBARNMIBERER BT
HlF4A B HIE =2 S AR B Bt AR
W

HAEENREBROREEREERZH
AERERENH T ARRBRENAELE
BERBEURNBREDRNEREHRES
B - AEENFEAKERREHRNKE
BEGRAETEENSEEMARBEER
B - 8
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BA AN + UARETIR)

= The size of the Group’s holding of voting
rights relative to the size and dispersion
of holdings of the other vote holders;

- Potential voting rights held by the Group,
other vote holders or other parties;

= Rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

= Any additional facts and circumstances
that indicate that the Group has, or does
not have, the current ability to direct
the relevant activities at the time that
decisions need to be made, including
voting patterns at previous shareholder’s
meetings.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any
unrealised income and expenses (except for
foreign currency transaction gains or losses)
arising from intra-group transactions, are
eliminated. Unrealised losses resulting from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in the
same way as unrealised gains, but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

For each business combination, the Group
can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests (“NCI”) either at fair value or at the
NClI’s proportionate share of the subsidiary’s
net identifiable assets. NCI are presented in
the consolidated statement of financial position
within equity, separately from equity attributable
to the equity shareholders of the company.
NCI in the results of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or
loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between NCI and the equity shareholders
of the Company. Loans from holders of NCI
and other contractual obligations towards these
holders are presented as financial liabilities in
the consolidated statement of financial position
in accordance with Notes 2(0), 2(p) and 2(q)
depending on the nature of the liability.
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Changes in the Group’s equity interests in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control
are accounted for as equity transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
it derecognises the assets and liabilities of
the subsidiary, and any related NCI and other
components of equity. Any resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest
retained in that former subsidiary is measured
at fair value when control is lost.

In the Company’s statement of financial
position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated
at cost less impairment losses (see Note 2(j)(ii)),
unless it is classified as held-for-sale.

The Group’s policies for investments
in securities, other than investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, are
set out below.

Investments in securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group
commits to purchase/sell the investment. The
investments are initially stated at fair value
plus directly attributable transaction costs,
except for those investments measured at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”) for
which transaction costs are recognised directly
in profit or loss. For an explanation of how
the Group determines fair value of financial
instruments, see Note 24(e). These investments
are subsequently accounted for as follows,
depending on their classification.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BA AN + UARETIR)

Debt investments are classified into one
of the following measurement categories:

amortised cost, if the investment is
held for the collection of contractual
cash flows which represent
solely payments of principal and
interest. Expected credit losses,
interest income calculated using
the effective interest method (see
Note 2(u)(ii)(a)), foreign exchange
gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is recognised in profit
or loss.

FVOCI - recycling, if the contractual
cash flows of the investment
comprise solely payments of
principal and interest and the
investment is held within a
business model whose objective
is achieved by both the collection
of contractual cash flows and
sale. Expected credit losses,
interest income (calculated using
the effective interest method) and
foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss and
computed in the same manner as
if the financial asset was measured
at amortised cost. The difference
between the fair value and the
amortised cost is recognised
in OCIl. When the investment
is derecognised, the amount
accumulated in OCI is recycled
from equity to profit or loss.

FVPL, if the investment does not
meet the criteria for being measured
at amortised cost or FVOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value
of the investment (including interest)
are recognised in profit or loss.
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An investment in equity securities is
classified as FVPL unless the equity
investment is not held for trading purposes
and on initial recognition of the investment
the Group makes an irrevocable election
to designate the investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”) (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive
income. Such elections are made on an
instrument-by-instrument basis, but may
only be made if the investment meets
the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. If such election is made for
a particular investment, at the time of
disposal, the amount accumulated in
the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is
transferred to retained earnings and not
recycled through profit or loss. Dividends
from an investment in equity securities,
irrespective of whether classified as at
FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit
or loss as other income (see Note 2(u)(ii)

(b))

Derivatives are initially measured at fair value.
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value
with changes therein recognised in profit or
loss, except where the derivatives qualify for
cash flow hedge accounting or hedges of net
investment in a foreign operation.

The items of property and equipment are stated
at cost, which includes capitalised borrowing
costs, less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses (see Note 2())

(i)).

If significant parts of an item of property, plant
and equipment have different useful lives, then
they are accounted for as separate items (major
components).
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BA AN + UARETIR)

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of
property, plant and equipment is recognised in
profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost
or valuation of items of property, plant and
equipment less their estimated residual values,
if any, using the straight line method over
their estimated useful lives, and is generally
recognised in profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the current and
comparative periods are as follows:

Estimated useful lives

Leasehold improvements 3 -5 years or over

the term of the lease

whichever is shorter

Motor vehicles and other 3-5years
equipment

Right-of-use assets Over the term of lease

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual
values are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted if appropriate.

Expenditure on research activities is
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
Development expenditure is capitalised only
if the expenditure can be measured reliably,
the product or process is technically and
commercially feasible, future economic
benefits are probable and the Group intends
to and has sufficient resources to complete
development and to use or sell the resulting
asset. Otherwise, it is recognised in profit or
loss as incurred. Capitalised development
expenditure is subsequently measured at
cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses.
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At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease.
This is the case if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.
Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified
asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

Where the contract contains lease
component(s) and non-lease component(s),
the Group has elected not to separate non-
lease components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all
leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability, except for leases that have a short
lease term of 12 months or less, and leases
of low-value items such as laptops and office
furniture. When the Group enters into a lease in
respect of a low-value item, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-
lease basis. If not capitalised, the associated
lease payments are recognised in profit or loss
on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability
is initially recognised at the present value of
the lease payments payable over the lease
term, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental
borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost
and interest expense is recognised using
the effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or
rate are not included in the measurement of the
lease liability, and are charged to profit or loss as
incurred.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BA AN + UARETIR)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
adjusted for any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date, plus any initial
direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset
or to restore the underlying asset or the site
on which it is located, less any lease incentives
received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses (see Notes 2(g) and

2())(ih)-

Refundable rental deposits are accounted
for separately from the right-of-use assets
in accordance with the accounting policy
applicable to investments in debt securities
carried at amortised cost (see Notes 2(e)(i),
2(u)(ii)(@) and 2())(i)). Any excess of the nominal
value over the initial fair value of the deposits
is accounted for as additional lease payments
made and is included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, if there is a change
in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected
to be payable under a residual value guarantee,
or if the Group changes its assessment of
whether it will exercise a purchase, extension
or termination option. When the lease liability
is remeasured in this way, a corresponding
adjustment is made to the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset has been reduced to zero.
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The lease liability is also remeasured when there
is a lease modification, which means a change
in the scope of a lease or the consideration
for a lease that is not originally provided for in
the lease contract, if such modification is not
accounted for as a separate lease. In this case
the lease liability is remeasured based on the
revised lease payments and lease term using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial
position, the current portion of long-term lease
liabilities is determined as the present value of
contractual payments that are due to be settled
within twelve months after the reporting period.

The Group recognises a loss allowance
for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on
financial assets measured at amortised
cost (including cash and cash equivalents,
and trade and other receivables).

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate
of credit losses. Generally, credit losses
are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls between the
contractual and expected amounts.

The expected cash shortfalls of trade and
other receivables are discounted using
the effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition or an approximation
thereof if the effect is material.

The maximum period considered
when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BA AN + UARETIR)

ECLs are measured on either of the
following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are the
portion of ECLs that result from
default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the
reporting date (or a shorter period if
the expected life of the instrument is
less than 12 months); and

- lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs
that result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of
the items to which the ECL model
applies.

The Group measures loss allowances at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except
for the following, which are measured at
12-month ECLs:

- financial instruments that are
determined to have low credit risk
at the reporting date; and

- other financial instruments (including
loan commitments issued) for which
credit risk (i.e. the risk of default
occurring over the expected life of
the financial instrument) has not
increased significantly since initial
recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are
always measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.
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When determining whether the credit risk
of a financial instrument (including a loan
commitment) has increased significantly
since initial recognition and when
measuring ECLs, the Group considers
reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information
and analysis, based on the Group’s
historical experience and informed credit
assessment, that includes forward-
looking information.

In particular, the following information
is taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

= failure to make payments on their
contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial
instrument’s external or internal
credit rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor; and

= existing or forecast changes in
the market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant
adverse effect on the debtor’s
ability to meet its obligation to the
Group.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BA AN + UARETIR)

Depending on the nature of the
financial instruments, the assessment
of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or
a collective basis. When the assessment
is performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics, such
as past due status and credit risk ratings.

The Group considers a financial asset to
be in default when the debtor is unlikely
to pay its credit obligations to the Group
in full, without recourse by the Group to
actions such as realising security (if any is
held).

The Group considers a financial
instrument to have low credit risk when
its credit risk rating is equivalent to
the globally understood definition of
“investment grade”.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting
date to reflect changes in the financial
instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL
amount is recognised as an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group
recognises an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with
a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance
account.
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At each reporting date, the Group
assesses whether a financial asset
is credit-impaired. A financial asset
is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes the following
observable events:

= significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a
default or being more than 90 days
past due;

- the restructuring of a loan or
advance by the Group on terms
that the Group would not consider
otherwise;

- it is probable that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active
market for a security because of
financial difficulties of the issuer.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BA AN + UARETIR)

The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset is written off to the extent that there
is no realistic prospect of recovery. This
is generally the case when the Group
determines that the debtor does not have
assets or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay
the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that
was previously written off are recognised
as a reversal of impairment in profit or
loss in the period in which the recovery
OCCurs.

At each reporting date, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its non-financial
assets (other than inventories, deferred
tax assets) to determine whether there
is any indication of impairment. If any
such indication exists, then the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.

For impairment testing, assets are
grouped together into the smallest group
of assets that generates cash inflows
from continuing use that are largely
independent of the cash inflows of other
assets or cash-generating units (“CGUs”)
when it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually.

The recoverable amount of an asset or
CGU is the greater of its value in use and
its fair value less costs of disposal. Value
in use is based on the estimated future
cash flows, discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset or CGU.
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An impairment loss is recognised if the
carrying amount of an asset or CGU
exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit
or loss. They are allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce
the carrying amounts of the other assets
in the CGU on a pro rata basis.

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost
and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average
cost formula and comprises all costs of
purchase and other costs incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and
condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

A contract liability is recognised when the
customer pays non-refundable consideration
before the Group recognises the related
revenue (see Note 2(u)). A contract liability
is also recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue. In such latter cases, a
corresponding receivable is also recognised
(see Note 2(m)).
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BA AN + UARETIR)

A receivable is recognised when the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration,
and only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component are initially
measured at their transaction price. Trade
receivables that contain a significant financing
component and other receivables are initially
measured at fair value plus transaction costs.
All receivables are subsequently stated at
amortised cost. (see Note 2(j)(i)).

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
at bank and on hand, demand deposits with
banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component
of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose
of the consolidated cash flow statement. Cash
and cash equivalents are assessed for ECLs
(see Note 2())(i)).

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured
initially at fair value less transaction costs.
Subsequently, these borrowings are stated
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Interest expense is recognised in
accordance with Note 2(w).

Trade and other payables are initially
recognised at fair value. Subsequent to initial
recognition, trade and other payables are
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at invoice amounts.
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Compound financial instruments issued
by the Group comprise convertible bonds
denominated in HK$ that can be converted
to ordinary shares at the option of the holder,
when the number of shares to be issued is fixed
and does not vary with changes in fair value.

The liability component of compound financial
instruments is initially recognised at the fair
value of a similar liability that does not have an
equity conversion option. The equity component
is initially recognised at the difference between
the fair value of the compound financial
instrument as a whole and the fair value of the
liability component. Any directly attributable
transaction costs are allocated to the liability
and equity components in proportion to their
initial carrying amounts.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability
component is measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.
Interest is recognised in profit or loss. The
equity component is not remeasured and is
recognised in the capital reserve until the bonds
are converted.

If the bonds are converted, the capital reserve,
together with the carrying amount of the
liability component at the time of conversion, is
transferred to share capital and share premium
as consideration for the shares issued. Where
the conversion option remains unexercised at
the maturity date of the convertible bond, the
balance recognised in equity will be transferred
to accumulated losses. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or
expiration of the conversion option.

When the contractual terms of a convertible
instrument are modified, the revised terms
would result in a substantial modification from
the original terms, after taking into account
all relevant facts and circumstances including
qualitative factors, such modification is
accounted for as derecognition of the original
financial liability and the recognition of new
financial liability. The difference between
the carrying amount of financial liability
derecognised and the fair value of consideration
paid or payable, if any, including any liabilities
recognised, is recognised in profit or loss.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BA AN + UARETIR)

Short-term employee benefits are
expensed as the related service is
provided. A liability is recognised for
the amount expected to be paid if the
Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation to pay this amount as a result
of past service provided by the employee
and the obligation can be estimated
reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans are
expensed as the related service is
provided.

Termination benefits are expensed at the
earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognises costs for a
restructuring.

Income tax expense comprises current tax and
deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that it relates to a business
combination, or items recognised directly in
equity or in other comprehensive income.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax
payable or receivable on the taxable income
or loss for the year and any adjustments to
the tax payable or receivable in respect of
previous years. The amount of current tax
payable or receivable is the best estimate of
the tax amount expected to be paid or received
that reflects any uncertainty related to income
taxes. It is measured using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
Current tax also includes any tax arising from
dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only
if certain criteria are met.

Changyou International Group Limited  Annual Report 2024

R HIE B R AR IR A B AR TS By 3 o
e IR 2 B 28 1 42 £1E AR 755 T AN 5% B B R 1R
RAZREASEEEE  YEEES
HEMAEHEENBERLT  AEEFR
BB EXNNSBEERRE -

TE R BUR NG Bl R B E R R AR
FAARTSIS S 3K o

RIFHEETIIMERREEN K
SEEZHEERANLEMER  RAK
B FER B AR o

PR MR S B AT IR SR FEFR IR - HX1R
SR - EEXBAM  AERNERNE
2 E R AR HIR B BREERRID -

BIEAM IR B 38 FF AR B A B 1R By TE 5T 8
kAL IR - LA K 3t DA 4F 2 R A Sl IR U AR
AR - BIAE NS S BN IR & SR
BRI XN REBNRBA S BN RERE - KRR
BTSSR A MM ER T EE Y - HERAHRER
HEBEMLEL FERMNREETTE - B
AR IR IR B 4 A B R (AT B IR

ERXmeE TIRER - 7 TUHHERRAE
ELARE-



Deferred tax is recognised in respect of
temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used
for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not
recognised for:

- temporary differences on the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities in
a transaction that is not a business
combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences; and

- temporary differences related to
investment in subsidiaries, associates and
joint venture to the extent that the Group
is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is
probable that they will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused
tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which they can be used.
Future taxable profits are determined based
on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary
differences. If the amount of taxable temporary
differences is insufficient to recognise a
deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable
profits, adjusted for reversals of existing
temporary differences, are considered, based
on the business plans for individual subsidiaries
in the Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed
at each reporting date and are reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that
the related tax benefit will be realised; such
reductions are reversed when the probability of
future taxable profits improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only
if certain criteria are met.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BA AN + UARETIR)

Generally provisions are determined by
discounting the expected future cash flows
at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessment of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the liability.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Income is classified by the Group as revenue
when it arises from the sale of goods or the
provision of services in the ordinary course of
the Group’s business.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and
other income recognition policies are as follows:

The Group evaluates if it is a principal or
an agent in a transaction to determine
whether revenue should be recorded on a
gross or net basis. In determining whether
the Group acts as a principal or as an
agent, it considers whether it obtains
control of the products before they are
transferred to the customers. Control
refers to the Group’s ability to direct the
use of and obtain substantially all of the
remaining benefits from the products.

Revenue is recognised when control over
a product or service is transferred to the
customer at the amount of promised
consideration to which the group is
expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third
parties such as value added tax or other
sales taxes.
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Revenue from the sales of goods
is recognised at the point of
time when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the
products.

Service income from the rendering
of services is recognised when the
services are rendered.

Interest income is recognised using
the effective interest method. The
“effective interest rate” is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset
to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset. In calculating interest
income, the effective interest rate
is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset (when the asset
is not credit-impaired). However, for
financial assets that have become
credit-impaired subsequent to
initial recognition, interest income is
calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost
of the financial asset. If the asset
is no longer credit-impaired, then
the calculation of interest income
reverts to the gross basis.

Dividend income is recognised
in profit or loss on the date on
which the Group’s right to receive
payment is established.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BA AN + UARETIR)

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
into the respective functional currencies of
group companies at the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency at the exchange rate at
the reporting date. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities that are measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated into the
functional currency at the exchange rate when
the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities that are measured based
on historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated at the exchange rate at the date of
the transaction. Foreign currency differences
are generally recognised in profit or loss.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations
are translated into RMB at the exchange
rates at the reporting date. The income and
expenses of foreign operations are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates at the dates of
the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange reserve, except to the extent
that the translation difference is allocated to
NCI.

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its
entirety or partially such that control, significant
influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative
amount in the exchange reserve related to
that foreign operation is reclassified to profit
or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.
On disposal of a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, the cumulative amount
of the exchange differences relating to that
foreign operation that have been attributed to
the NCI shall be derecognised, but shall not
be reclassified to profit or loss. If the Group
disposes of part of its interest in a subsidiary
but retains control, then the relevant proportion
of the cumulative amount is reattributed to
NCI. When the Group disposes of only part
of an associate or joint venture while retaining
significant influence or joint control, the
relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is
reclassified to profit or loss.
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Borrowing costs, other than the directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.

(@ A person, or a close member of that
person’s family, is related to the Group if
that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i)  has significant influence over the
Group; or

(i) is a member of the key
management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of
the following conditions applies:

()  The entity and the Group are
members of the same group.

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of
the same third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group.

(v The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in

().

(vl A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BA AN + UARETIR)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any
of the following conditions applies:
(continued)

(vii) The entity, or any member of a
group of which it is a part, provides
key management personnel
services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected
to influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
accounting judgements:

The events or conditions, along with other matters set
forth in Note 2(b), indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Based
on the cash flow forecast of the Group prepared
by the management and assuming success of the
measures set forth in Note 2(b), the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that the Group would
have adequate funds to meet its liabilities as and
when they fall due at least twelve months from the
end of the reporting period. Accordingly, the directors
of the Company consider it is appropriate to prepare
the consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis.
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Determining whether the Group is acting as a
principal or as an agent in the sales of goods to its
customers requires judgement and consideration of
all relevant facts and circumstances. In evaluation of
the Group’s role as a principal or agent, the Group
considers, individually or in combination, whether
the Group (i) controls the goods provided to the
customer, (i) is primarily responsible for fulfilling the
contract, and (jii) has discretion in establishing prices.

The Group determined it acts a principal in sales
of goods as the Group is primarily responsible
for fulfilling the promise to provide the goods and
regards the customers who place the sales order
via electronic trading platform or other means
as customers. When the Group satisfies the
performance obligation, the Group recognised the
sales income in the gross amount of consideration in
which the Group expected to be entitled as specified
in the contracts.

De-facto control exists when the size of an
entity’s own voting rights relative to the size and
disbursement of other vote holders, give the
entity the practical ability to unilaterally direct the
relevant activities of the investee. The Company
indirectly holds 47.24% shares of PCL, while the
remaining 52.76% of shares are held by 5 unrelated
shareholders. Given the dispersion of voting rights
among the other shareholders, and the fact that the
Company can appoint majority of the directors of
PCL, the directors of the Company are of the view
that the Company can dominate the shareholder
meetings, control PCL’s board of directors and
appoint the key management personnel of PCL.
Thus, the directors of the Company conclude that the
Company has de-facto control over PCL.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BA AN + UARETIR)

The principal activities of the Group are the sales of
goods through the development and operation of
an electronic trading platform in the PRC, carried
out by the VIE, Sub-chain, which was established
as a limited liability company in the PRC, and its
subsidiaries. Since the business conducted by
Sub-chain and its subsidiaries is subject to foreign
investment restrictions under the relevant laws and
regulations in the PRC, Centchain, a subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the Contractual Arrangements
with Sub-chain and its equity shareholders. As a
result of the Contractual Arrangements, the Group
has rights to exercise power over Sub-chain and
its subsidiaries, receives variable returns from its
involvement in Sub-chain and its subsidiaries, has
the ability to affect those returns, and hence, has
the control over Sub-chain and its subsidiaries.
Consequently, the Group regards Sub-chain and its
subsidiaries as controlled entities, and the directors
of the Company consider it is appropriate to account
Sub-chain as a subsidiary. As such, the Group
consolidate the financial results and financial position
of Sub-chain and its subsidiaries in the consolidated
financial statements.

Note 24(e) contains information about the
assumptions and their risk factors relating to fair value
of financial instruments. Other significant sources
of estimation uncertainties and critical accounting
judgements made by the management are as follows:

The credit losses for trade and other receivables
are based on assumptions about the expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation, which are based on the
Group’s past collection history, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at
the end of each reporting period. For details of the
key assumptions and inputs used, see Note 24(a).
Changes in these assumptions and estimates could
materially affect the result of the assessment and the
Group may be necessary to make additional loss
allowances in future periods.
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The principal activities of the Group are (1) sales of
goods in the form of virtual assets and credits for
consumption of merchandises, games, services
and other commercial transactions through the
development and operation of an electronic trading
platform to promote and facilitate awards earned by
customers of loyalty programmes of other companies
to be exchanged in the PRC and (2) other trading
business. The directors of the Company consider
the above is the only business of the Group, and
accordingly, no segment information is presented.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers is analysed as follows:
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and other trading business:
— Point in time — PR AE R B 180,708 226,751

The Group’s customer base is diversified. There
was no customer with whom transactions
exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: no
customer with whom transactions exceeded
10%). Details of concentrations of credit risk
arising from the Group’s debtors are set out in
Note 24(a).

All of the Group’s revenue for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023 were generated
from sales and services to customers in the
PRC. All of the non-current assets of the Group
are either physically located or allocated to
operations in the PRC.

AEFBRFERZ T BE-T _NF+ =
B=+—BI%E - *Eﬁﬂﬂéﬁi%)f %taﬁﬁxi
BRA10% (ZE_=F : ERTFIFHEBR
10%) - NEBEWERELENEERBEP T
ZFFIEER M EE24(a) ©

AEEREE_T_MER_FT_=—F+_A
=t+—HLEFENMBRABERFBEESH
ELRBEL - AREMBIERDEEER £
IR Bk D AL B & iE

BHEREEERAR _—ToNMFFERSE
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BA AN + UARETIR)

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR¥ETT

Interest income A Bz 19 24
Net gain on disposal of property and HEWMERREL
equipment Wz F5R - 76
Additional value added tax credit BERMNGTE R - 1,962
Gain on modification on financial liabilites &3] E & &2 Wk (Fi:E18)
(Note 18) 289 =
Others Hith 318 578
626 2,640

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging: BRI ETIBACHIBR A T R IBBIED

2024 2023
—EMNEFE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Interest expenses on lease liabilites ~ FHEEEN S5 (FT11(0)

(Note 11(b)) 250 388
Finance charges on convertible bonds A #ESFE & (HizE18)
(Note 18) 8,855 26,052

Interest expenses on loans froman ~ KEAARRA A —HEZKREZER
equity shareholder of the Company 2 F| B 55z (Ff:E20)

(Note 20) 3,761 3,281
Others EAh, 1,234 -
14,100 30,621

Net foreign exchange loss HNE B85 EE 6,714 3,733
20,814 34,354

BE_Z-_WF+_A=+—HItFE W&
BRI A (ZEZ=F : ARKET) o

No borrowing costs have been capitalised for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB
Nil).

110 | Changyou International Group Limited  Annual Report 2024



Salaries, wages and other benefits

Termination benefits (Note (i)

Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans (Note (i)

Notes:

(i) In a view to further streamline the Group’s
business operations, the Group paid certain
termination benefits to reduce its workforce in
2024 and 2023.

(ii) The employees of the subsidiaries of the
Company established in the PRC (excluding
Hong Kong) participate in defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes managed by the
local government authorities, whereby these
subsidiaries are required to contribute to the
schemes at a rate of 16% (2023: 16%) of
the employees’ basic salaries. Employees of
these subsidiaries are entitled to retirement
benefits, calculated based on a percentage of
the average salaries level in the PRC (excluding
Hong Kong), from the abovementioned
retirement schemes at their normal retirement
age. Contributions to the schemes vest
immediately, there is no forfeited contributions
that may be used by the Group to reduce
existing level of contributions.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BA I + AAREFIR)

¥ TERHMRER
R AR (P E()
[A) 5 IE R IRET &I 5K

GEID)

Fi3

(i)

2024 2023
—EEF o=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT

20,621 23,895

14 214
1,299 1,599
21,934 25,708

BE—PREAEEEBEE  AEER=Z
ZFER T =F R NETERERFILUR D
HYH T -

REBRFE (TRIESE) KO AR
EE2MNE METHE T E N R T R]IGRKE
FIEHE - Bt - ZEWBRARMAERESEAR
HEM16% (2T _=F : 16%) A1 @Bl
o ZEMBRARMNEBESNFELEFTRIK
FRIEBEBRE LR RETEIZHIERE (T
BEEE) FHHEKEED LT ERRIKE
F o AR AN RE - AEBEW UK
Al AR BRKIR A EFKE -

BHEREEERAR _—ToNMFFERSE

111



112

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BA AN + UARETIR)

Notes: (continued)

(ii) (continued)

The Group also operates a Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF scheme”)
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme Ordinance for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement
plan administered by an independent trustee.
Under the MPF scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap
of monthly relevant income of Hong Kong
Dollar (“HK$”) 30,000. Contributions to the
MPF Schemes vest immediately, there is
no forfeited contributions that may be used
by the Group to reduce the existing level of
contribution.

The Group has no further material obligation for
payment of other retirement benefits beyond
the above contributions.

BsE - ()

(i)

(B

REBNREE S CGREIMEATBR BRG]
BEEB(RERA) AAZEERRNZIE
MEBSET T ANEAESHE ([BESs
Bl)) - BESHEARBUZITATENRT
HEGRRET B - RIFRTBESTE  BEREE
B 8AREBE BB RI5% TSI
B A B RWEEIA30,00058 7T (87T ]) AR © [
RS AL MBI SEE - WEDZK
O FR AT B AN 22 [ PR LABR RIR B K E ©

BriEd B RN - REEI EA B E MR
BAEE— SEANRALL -

2024 2023
—E-IEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
Depreciation expenses (Note 11) WEBA FEFE11)
— owned property and equipment —BAENYERE 338 482
- right-of-use assets —(FHEEE 2,270 2,178
2,608 2,660
Operating lease charges relating to HEHHEREEEEERE
short-term leases and leases of BRENSEHEER
low-value assets (Note 11(b)) (FitaE11(0)) 2,293 2,070
Auditor’s remuneration — audit services 1z xR & Bl — 1= B AR TS 980 1,900
Cost of inventories (Note 14(b)) FERA (FisE14(0) 141,437 187,477
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

Current taxation BIEATR 18
Deferred taxation (Note 22) EIEFIA (ffi3E22)
Loss before taxation BRI ET1E

FERARG AT E16.5%5 EH
Froa (P ()

HRANARB AT ERENNTR
TR (B 5 i) B (i)

Tax using the Company’s domestic
tax rate of 16.5% (Notes (i)

Different tax rates applicable to profits
in the jurisdictions concerned (Notes
(i) and (iii))

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses A~ A] 1754 B Sz B T 75 2 22

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses ~ BIFARERNFIBEIBNHR BT E
not recognised

Tax effect of deductible temporary
differences

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KRR TR IBE BRI TE

Tax effect of tax losses recognised ERERNTHIEBENH S E

TR M E R B TS

FiS#

Income tax

(BB EHBI - AARETIR)
2024 2023
—EMEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT
5,162 =
5,162 =
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®F T ARBEFIT
(23,327) (38,616)
(3,849) (6,372)
4,859 4,012
625 259
(5,412) (8,872)
691 3,666
3,086 2,307
(5,162) =
(5,162) =

IEHEREEARAE

RO NEFERE
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BA AN + UARETIR)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

()

Changyou International Group Limited

The Company and the subsidiaries of the
Company incorporated in Hong Kong are
subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5%
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
16.5%). No provision for Hong Kong Profits
Tax has been made, as the Company and the
subsidiaries of the Company incorporated in
Hong Kong did not have assessable profits
subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB Nil).

The Company and the subsidiaries of the
Company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands, respectively,
are not subject to any income tax pursuant to
the rules and regulations of their respective
countries of incorporation.

The subsidiaries of the Company established in
the PRC (excluding Hong Kong) are subject to
PRC Corporate Income Tax rate of 25% for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: 25%).

One of the subsidiaries of the Company
established in the PRC has obtained
approval from the tax bureau to be taxed
as an enterprise with advanced and new
technologies for the period from the calendar
years from 2022 to 2024 and therefore enjoys
a preferential PRC Corporate Income Tax rate
of 156% for the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: 15%).

Annual Report 2024

it -

(i)

(i)

(iv)

ARABRREBEMR IO A EBEB R RN
HE-_T-_MF+-_A=+—BULFEBK
16.5% (T =4 : 16.5%) I RHMNES
MEH - ARARQ R KRR BB M4
EffEARREBEE_ZE-_NF+_A=1+—H
I FEBEABME BTGB NERB=H -
M ER BB EHREE (CT=F -
AREEZIT) o

ARABRDINFAS S MR EE LB S
FSZ R AN SR B BT B A BIARR EL % B RE M B SZ P
FEERRA FOERBREBRERFTEH -

REERPE(TRIEER) KM BARR
HE_Z_MF+_A=+—RHILFERE
26% (ZFE =4 : 25%) R R B LR
FRSHL

NEBARBERZ N —HBARDERED
HER T - —F5 T NFEEFHBRS
MERMEEAR Bt RBEE-T_MF
TZA=+—BILFEZE15%2EEFE D
EFBR(ZE_=F : 15%) °



(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

RIBBFB R FHAPIEIB3(NER AR (KEEENE
R RO F 2B MBENEEZHINT -

(BREEHRHAIN - UARKETITR)

2024
“BCNE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
e M RIK
EEsHe  REVEA BERA SR #ct
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTR AR¥TR AR¥Tr AR%TR
Executive directors BTES
Mr. Cheng Jerome Cheng Jeromet 4 - 219 - - 219
Mr. Yuan Weitao ZEREERZERE
(resigned on 2 January 2025)  — A ZHE/T) - 363 - 13 376
Non-executive director FBTES
Ms. Hu Qing HERL(MZZ=mEF
(appointed on 12 April 2024)  MA+=BEEE) - - - - -
Ms. Liu Jingyan At (Rl F
(appointed on 12 April 2024) WA+ REZ(T) - 238 - 11 249
Mrs. Guo Yan BELT(RZTWEF
(retired on 21 June 2024) ~NAZT—RRMA) - 104 - - 104
Independent non-executive BV FHITES
directors
Mr. Wong Chi Keung HZBAE - 219 - - 219
Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Alan BEEEE - 219 - - 219
Mr. Ip Wai Lun William EEmEE - 219 - - 219
- 1,581 - 24 1,605

BHEREEERAR _—ToNMFFERSE
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B RA& AN AAREFIR)
2023
:%E::E
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits  Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
O HeoEm B |
EEHE  REVET g BEIGSS Bar
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT AR¥EFT AREFTT AREFT AREFTT
Executive directors BTEE
Mr. Cheng Jerome Cheng JeromeL 4 - 216 - - 216
Mr. Yuan Weitao REBEE - 511 - 37 548
Non-executive director FHITES
Mrs. Guo Yan Pz L = 216 = = 216
Independent non-executive BIFHTES
directors
Mr. Wong Chi Keung WA it - 216 - - 216
Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Alan BREsa - 216 - - 216
Mr. Liu Jialin AREEERT=F
(resigned on 14 July 2023) + AT EEME) - 116 - - 116
Mr. Ip Wai Lun William EEREEMRZT=F
(appointed on 14 July 2023) AT MAEZ() - 101 - - 101
- 1592 — 37 1629
No emolument was paid or payable to any of the REE T -_NFER-_E-_=F+=-_A=+—H1t
directors or the highest paid individuals as disclosed FE - WECNSENERESKMFOMEERS
in Note 9 as an inducement to join or upon joining the HEATHE - ARSI EEMAKREBSIEAIA
Group or as compensation for loss of office during AREERRE - SIEABBAMEE -
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, hameEHALTH BECS_=F : I8 E=
there is no (2023: none) director whose emoluments B2 FHRANEsIEE - AR (CE-_=F : AR Ik
are disclosed in Note 8. The aggregate of the FEZATHFMEETIOT
emoluments in respect of the five (2023: five)
individuals who are not directors are as follows:
2024 2023
—EoNEF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBEFIT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R AEYET 6,543 6,749
Retirement scheme contributions RIRFHEIE TR 112 112
6,655 6,861
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEBAIN + UARETIR)

The emoluments of the five (2023: five) individuals
who are not directors and who are among the five
highest paid individuals of the Group are within the
following bands:

AEBRERRHFMALPIEENTRAL(CE
—=F: AR)NFMNFUATERE :

2024 2023

—ECmEF —E-=F

Number of Number of

Individuals individuals

A N

HK$500,001 — HK$1,000,000 500,0017& 75 21,000,000/ 7T 4 3
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 21,500,000/ 7T - 1
HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000 4,000,001/ 7T 54,500,000/ 7T 1 1

The basic loss per share for the year ended
31 December 2024 is calculated based on
the loss attributable to the equity shareholders
of the Company of RMB19,516,000 (2023:
RMB37,562,000) and the weighted average
of 1,810,953,272 ordinary shares (2023:
1,810,953,272 ordinary shares) in issue during
the year.

The computation of diluted loss per share for
the year ended 31 December 2024 does not
assume the conversion of the Company’s
outstanding convertible bonds since their
assumed exercise would result in a decrease in
loss per share.

The Group’s convertible bonds, share options
granted and warrants issued could potentially
dilute basic loss per share, but were not
included in the calculation of diluted loss per
share because they were antidilutive for the
years ended 31 December 2023.

HE_T-_WNE+_A=+—HLFE "
EREAREBEEBEAQREIBREENEIE
AR#19,516,000c(ZE_=F : AR¥
37,562,0007T) R FAE 31T E B INE T
1,810,953,2720% (ZE = =4 : 1,810,953,272
BEBAR) FTE -

FEHE T oMF+ A=+ —HILFEM
BB EE BT ERRADR M ARER 2 Al
BEADEESR  BERARREBAIRKES
ETESERBREERD -

AEEMABRRES  EREBERELRDET
HRBERE R e B B E B EANER - T
SMASREEERZFET  DTHREDR
BHE_Z_=F+_A=+—HILFERE
P

BHEREEERAR _—ToNMFFERSE
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BA AN + UARETIR)

Motor vehicles
Leasehold and other Right-of-use
improvements equipment assets Total
HE#E RERAEMRE ERELE @5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT R ARBT R ARBT R ARBT

Cost: B

At 1 January 2023 R-B-=%#-f-8 4,988 7,855 12,284 25,127
Exchange adjustments R 7 42 135 184
Additions NE = 257 = 257
Disposals & - (1,558) = (1,558)
At 31 December 2023 R-E-_=F+-A=1—H 4,995 6,596 12,419 24,010

Accumulated depreciationand ~ ERIHTERFAEEE :
impairment loss:

At 1 January 2023 W-E-=5—F-R (4,684) 7.212) (7,395) (19,291)
Exchange adjustments B 5 A (7) (42) (74) (123)
Charge for the year ERTH (139) (343) 2,178) (2,660)
Written back on disposals HERE - 1,558 - 1,558
At 31 December 2023 R-ZB-=F+-A=1+-H (4,830) (6,039) (0,647) (20,516)
Carrying amount: BHE

At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F+-A=1+-H 165 557 2,772 3,494
Cost: A

At 1 January 2024 R-E-MF—HF—H 4,995 6,596 12,419 24,010
Exchange adjustments B H iR 11 64 210 285
Additions NE - 366 - 366
Lease modification MEET - - 1,248 1,248
Expired 55 = - (1,574) (1,574)
At 31 December 2024 RZBZmE+=RA=+—H 5,006 7,026 12,303 24,335

Accumulated depreciationand ~ RFHTERBEFE :
impairment loss:

At 1 January 2024 WZZZRE—A—H (4,830) (6,039) (9,647) (20,516)
Exchange adjustments R R (11) (64) (196) (271)
Charge for the year FRLH (83) (255) (2,270) (2,608)
Expired 55 - - 1,574 1,574
At 31 December 2024 RZEZME+=A=+—H (4,924) (6,358) (10,539) (21,821)
Carrying amount: REE

At 31 December 2024 RZZZEE+=A=1—H 82 668 1,764 2,514
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEBAIN + UARETIR)

The analysis of the net book value of right-of- REEEES ENFEAEEENREFEN S
use assets by class of underlying asset is as W
follows:

At 31 December At 31 December
2024 2023
R-B-ImE RZZEZ=F
+=A=+-B +ZA=1+—R
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARBFT

Office premises, carried at depreciated cost  JAZEDE » UITERATIER 1,764 2,772
The Group has obtained the right to use office AEBECRBHERENGEH A=Y ENEA
premises through tenancy agreements. The o HEMVIIREER —RERFIE=F -
leases typically run for an initial period of up to
3 years.
The analysis of expense items in relation to SR BT ERNEETENRAYEENDT
leases recognised in profit or loss is as follows: T
2024 2023
—B-EF —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Depreciation charge of right-of-use LI EE D ERE AR

assets by class of underlying asset: BEMFTERS

— Office premises (Note 11(a)) - WAEMEHE11(a) 2,270 2,178
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEaENF B (HiE6()

(Note 6(a)) 250 388
Expenses relating to short-term HEHHEREEEEERE

leases and leases of low-value FERAHY B 2 (F526(c))

assets (Note 6(c)) 2,293 2,070
Loss on lease modification MEERBE 92 =
Details of total cash outflow for leases and the HERReREMEEAEIMONOFHED
maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in RIS FE16(0) 219 °

Notes 16(c) and 19, respectively.

BEEREESRAT —T-mEEESHE | 119
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

The following list contains only the particulars of
subsidiaries which principally affected the results,

assets or liabilities of the Group.

(BREEHRAIN - UARKETITR)

Place of establishment/

TREFIHAKERE  EELREBNEIEY
ZmHEARRRHS

Proportion of ownership interest

FRRELRLD

Particulars of The Group’s

incorporation and registered/issued  effective  Held by the Held by
Name of subsidiaries business and paid-up capital interest ~ Company subsidiaries Principal activities
i ) HM/CRAE AEEN 07 HELE .
HEARZHE RI/AMREELY HERAFE  ERER Fi&% s IZER
Centchain * (Note (i) The PRC RMB 200,000,000 18.9% = 100%  Facilitate digtal point business
HEGEEREFAA through an electronic platiorm
4255 () e ABH200,000,0007C BRETTREMETENEH
Changyou International Fintech Company Limited Hong Kong 1 share N/A - N/A Financial technology
(Disposed in July 2024) (2023: 80%) (2023:100%) ]
GRERSENEERAR (RS- RELALE) & —f NER AR BHHR
(ZB3z=F: (ZBz=fF:
80%) 100%)

P()jntsea Company Limited (Note (j) The Cayman Islands 1 share 18.9% - 47.24% In\{estment holding

HAERAR (M) REHE i RARR

Sub-chain* (Note (i} and Note 2(0)) The PRC RMB 10,000,000 - - - Faciltate dligital point business

LEABRERRITERAR ) through an electronic platfor

AR (HHRab) hE ARH10,0000007 BRETTREMETEAEH

* The English translation of the names is for reference * BYEREERERMEERCEARBAT -
only and the official names of these entities are in
Chinese.

Notes: fiEE -

()  The directors of the Company consider PCL, and () ARAERERE BRARAEZEHSBEZTG IR
hence PCL’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, Centchain 798 RERDENEEWNB AR LGEKS
and Pointsea HK, are subsidiaries of the Company BEBERNARNBRF -
through its power to control the board of directors of
PCL.

(i) ~ These companies are wholly foreign owned (i) FHERAARPEKILZINGEERE -
enterprises established in the PRC.

(i)  These companies are limited liability company (i) FHERRARPEKZZEBREERF] -

Changyou International Group Limited

established in the PRC.
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The following tables list out financial information
of Century Network Holding Limited (“Century
Network”) and Treasure Ease Holding Limited
(“Treasure Ease”) and its subsidiaries (“Treasure
Ease Group”), which have material NCls. The
summarised financial information presented below
represents the amounts before any inter-company

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEBAIN + UARETIR)

TRINEAEBRNGERETRER ([FEERE
# |) B9Century Network Holding Limited ([Century
Network]) R EI51ER AR AE ([BHR]) REMER
Al ((EeEE)) OB ER - THMBERBIZ AKR
YEE AR R R S AT FRIE o

elimination.

Percentage of NCI

— Century Network

Revenue

Net loss

Net loss attributable to NCI

Non-current assets
Current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Net liabilities

Net liabilities attributable to NCI

FEREZE DL 2024 2023
—EMNEF —E=F

— Century Network 49.0% 49.0%
2024 2023

—E-mE o=

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ET T ARETIT

WA - _
bt 9) (35)
IR PR B 1R F R (4 (17)
At 31 December At 31 December

2024 2023

R-ZE-mE RZEZ=%F

+=A=+—-8B +=A=1+—H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T AREFT

FERBEE 234 234
RENEE 18,686 18,682
REEE (413,833) (413,820)
FERBEE - =
BEFHE (394,913) (394,904)
SEERERER B EFE (200,033) (200,029)

BHEREEERAR _—ToNMFFERSE
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BA I + AAREFIR)

Percentage of NCI

— Treasure Ease

Revenue

Net profit/(loss)

Net profit/(loss) attributable to NCI

Non-current assets
Current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Net liabilities

Net liabilities attributable to NCI

Changyou International Group Limited

FEREZATL

YA
A, (B518) 3R

RS RRET, (B518) 35

FRBEE
MEEE
mEaE
FRBEE

RIEFER

IR R R EFR

Annual Report 2024

2024 2023
—ES-E —E=F
49.9% 49.9%
2024 2023
—EmF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T
180,708 226,751
1,248 (882)
1,019 (705)

At 31 December

At 31 December

2024 2023
R-BE-mE RZZTZ=F
+=A=+—-B +=-A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT
6,244 491
125,903 138,071
(311,004) (319,778)
(51,932) (50,821)
(230,789) (232,037)
(187,029) (188,048)




At 31 December

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEBAIN + UARETIR)

At 31 December

2024 2023
R-E-NF RZZE=Z=%F
t=A=+-B +ZA=1+—R
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Trading Securities: R %%
- Listed equity securities in Hong Kong — BB LTMHREES 202 296
Trading securities are stated at their fair values which RHBEEIRC2ETRTE A ARBRBETH A TE
have been determined by reference to the published PR - R BHFH N FEZE)EIELH AREEQ,000
price quotations in active markets. Loss on fair TERBE-Z-_ME+-_A=+—HILtEEWIE
value changes of trading securities of approximately TR (CE-=F : AR¥365,0007T) °

RMB99,000 has been recognised in profit or loss
during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:

RMB365,000).
At 31 December At 31 December
2024 2023
R-ZB-mE RZZTZ=%F
+=ZHA=t+—-B +=-A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETT
Merchandises held-for-trading FERZREZEm 83 87
Less: write-down of inventories B FERR (55) =
28 87
At 31 December At 31 December
2024 2023
R-E-NF RZZTZ=F
+=ZH=+-B +=-A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETT
Carrying amount of inventories sold BEFEMRAE 141,382 187,477
Write-down of inventories FE#MUR 55 =
141,437 187,477
BEHEREEERAT —ToNFEFERS
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B S H& &SN

Trade receivables (Note (i)
Less: loss allowance (Note 24(a))

Other receivables:
- Receivable for issuance of shares of
a subsidiary to a non-controlling equity

C AARBIIR)

B 5 R NGHIA (5E()

A R EE (FTEE24()

HAi WA |

— A — RIS R T
— R B A ARk 0 RO FEUR IR

shareholder (Note (i) (B 3 Gi))
- Others —HAh
Financial assets measured at amortised cost REBERATENCREE
Prepayments and deposits BAFER RS

All of the trade and other receivables, net of
loss allowance, are expected to be recovered or
recognised as expenses within one year.

Notes:

@

(i)

Changyou International Group Limited

At 31 December 2024, trade receivables due from
related parties of the investors of PCL amounted to
RMB14,220,000 (2023: RMB10,614,000).

In 2019, PCL issued 28,036,564 new shares to its
investor. Proceeds of RMB100,000,000 from the
investor has not yet been received while the investor
granted an advance of RMB100,000,000 to a wholly
owned subsidiary of PCL (see Note 17) which is
unsecured and non-interest bearing and will mature
upon receipt of the proceeds for shares issued to the
investor by PCL.

Annual Report 2024

At 31 December

At 31 December

2024 2023
R-ZE-WF i
t=A=+-B +ZA=1+—R
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETT
14,360 10,723
(40) (233)
14,320 10,490
100,000 100,000
2,628 2,781
102,628 102,781
116,948 113,271
5,740 6,084
122,688 120,255

FTE B 5 K E A MR IR (FORR B 1R B ) TR — &
MU R FER R

i

(i)

R-Z-_mWE+—A=+—8 BUIBREEN
BB T 0 E B IR B A R#514,220,0007T (=
—=%F: AR¥10,614,0007T) °

R-Z—hF DBREKREEHTT28,036,564
BT D DBRAKBIEREZFEMEFIRARE
100,000,0007C " EZ BB EEC RN BEN—HEE
Bt & X R AR #5100,000,0007T (RFE17) - #
BRBEERLATE - WK BRAZEREE
AT MBI PRIS FIRRR ZIH -



As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing
analysis of trade receivables (net of loss allowance),
included in trade and other receivables, based on the
invoice date, is as follows:

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEBAIN + UARETIR)

HEREHR  FFABSREMEBKFIAEZ EHE
WoskIa (F0BR BB ) B0 R B He BR il /5 AT 40
T~

At 31 December At 31 December

2024 2023

R-ZB-mEF RZTZ=F

+=A=+—-8B +=A=+—H

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET R ARETT

Within 3 months =EAR 14,192 10,399
Over 3 months but within 6 months BE=1EAEIHNEA 99 85
Over 6 months i@/~ E A 29 6
14,320 10,490

Details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk
arising from trade and other receivables are set out in
Note 24(a).

Cash at bank and on hand

The Group’s operations in the PRC (excluding
Hong Kong) conduct their businesses in RMB.
RMB is not a freely convertible currency and the
remittance of funds out of the PRC (excluding
Hong Kong) is subject to the exchange
restrictions imposed by the PRC government.

BORFBERE

AEENEERREE S REMEWFEEENE
ER 2 FEH RN FE24() °

At 31 December At 31 December

2024 2023
R-ZB-_QNE R-ZE-=%
+=ZA=+-H +=-A=+-H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARETIT
8,230 25,415

AEERTE(TEEER)NEBEEAAR
BetE - ARERTATERABNEERES
LB (TBREER) AR T EBUT BRI
EERBIRE °

BHEREEERAR _—ToNMFFERSE
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BA AN + UARETIR)

The table below details changes in the Group’s TRAMAEBEME TSN SEENES (BIE
liabilities from financing activities, including both ReRIFLEEEH) - MEITDAEEEERS
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising MEFARKREREFSNAEESZERERE
from financing activities are liabilities for which TR BERABMEETHMEREME

cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group’s consolidated cash
flow statement as cash flows from financing

activities.
Liability ~ Advance froma Loans from
components  non-controlling an equity Advance from
of convertible  equity shareholder shareholderof ~ Finance charge  a shareholder of
honds ofasubsidiary  Lease liabilities the Company payable the Company Total
PER T
TERER WEERER REALA-4 REXDA
naEns et HERE  EERRER ERHBER  -fRRNEX it
RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RVB'000 RVBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000
AT NREFT NREFTL ARETT ARETT ARETT AT
(Note 18] (Note 17) (Note 19) (Note 20) (Note 17) (Note 17)
tiRal) (Rtst) (Ft3H9) (o) (Hzt17) g3l
At1 January 2024 R-E-mE-F-B 114972 100,000 299 50821 - - 268,762
Changes from financing cash flows:  BEEEHESE :
Adance from a shareholder RE—2BROZR - - - - - 4,1% 4,1%
Capital element of ease rentals paid CUY: - - (2.221) - - - (2.2
Interest element of ease rentals paid - - (250 - - - (250)
Inferest paid (4,667) - - - (704) 531 -
Toelchanges from frencing cas fons RS ENEDAE (4667) - 2471) - (104 9567 1719
Other changes: Rftge:
Substantal madfcation (D (12,690) - - - - = (12,690)
Finance costs (Note 6f3) BLERA (i) 8,855 - %) 3,761 124 - 14,100
Lease modifcation HEEHT - - 1,15 - - - 1,15
Exchange adjustmens i 1575 - ¥ 1,183 - - 2,797
(2,260) - 1,445 4944 1,24 - 5,363
At31 December 2024 W-B-mETZA=1-H 108045 100,000 1987 55,765 530 9567 275,844
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At1 January 2023

Changes from financing cash flows:
Captal element oflease rentals paid
Interest element of lease rentals paid
Interes paid

Total changes from financing cash flows

Other changes:
Finance costs (Note 6(a)
Bxchange adustments

At 31 December 2023

R-8Z=F-A-H

HERLRERD:
EffERE ARHS
EffEREZHEDD
EffHE

BEZERENZDER

-0 LR
HERMA(00)
B

R--=F+2Azt-

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHRHAIN - UARKETITR)

Advance from Loans from

Liability  anon-controlling an equity

components of  equity shareholder shareholder of
convertible bonds of asubsidiary  Lease liabilities the Company  Interest payable Total

RE-BREAR

T85ES WEERER REALE-4
WeEss RRNEH BERE  BERRZER ERRE it
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
NRETT NRETT ARETT P\ P\ P\

(Note 18) (Note 17) (Note 19) (Note 20) (Note 17)
(3k19) i) liEat) (Fato0) (#37)
90,53 100,000 5063 500% 449 250,189
- - 2149 - - 2149
- - (389) - - (389)
(393 - - - (7912 (11,869)
(393 - (2531) - (7912 (14402
26902 - 38 - 3281 30621
1438 - 55 72 13 234
28390 - 4“3 726 3416 Q975
144972 100,000 2969 50821 - 268,762
BHEREEERAT —TNFFERS
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BA AN + UARETIR)

Amounts included in the consolidated cash flow
statement for leases comprise the following:

Within operating cash flows

— lease rentals paid —BEfNHEERS
Within financing cash flows

- lease rentals paid —EfHEERS

During the year, the CB1 (as defined in
Note 18) of HK$126,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB114,184,000) were
redeemed and the outstanding amount of the
principal under CB1 was set off against all
amounts owed by Century Investment to the
Company in respect of the issue price under or
in connection with the subscription agreement
for the issuance of CB2 (as defined in Note 18).
Details of which are set out in Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

During the year, advance from a shareholder
of the Company of RMB5,371,000 was set
off against the interest payment to CB2 of
RMB4,667,000 and finance charge payment of
RMB704,000.
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BRELHSRE

BRRERTRE

FARERERTHENSREBENATRIE

2024 2023
—EMMEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AREBTT

2,293 2,070
2,477 2,637
4,770 4,607

RARERE » 126,000,0008 7T (HIERARE
114,184,00070) B AT AR EH — (E& R M5
18) ERER R BRES—H N AREELS
82 AR ECentury Investment B 152577 7]
B EFH R RE R (TE RWE18) sz
REHZEEAMRBITERNTRRTNAER
IH - BAFBHNGRE W ERERME18 -

MRAFE  KERRE—ZRROBRARE
5,371,0007T 2 AR $6 AT 2 AR (B 55 — B9 S
AARK 4,667,000 kU BERNRARKE
704,0007T °



2024 2023
R-B-WEF R-ZEB_=F
+=A=+—-B +=ZHA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBFT
Trade payables B S RENFIA 9,259 12,452
Payables for staff related costs 8 TR AR T 5108 1,158 1,802
Payables for miscellaneous taxes FETRERR - 24
Payables for selling expenses incurred for ENEEEDSEBRTHERS
digital point business - 157
Advance from a non-controlling equity shareholder 7R 8 —RIKTB A RIAFEIEA I 2 A%
of a subsidiary (Note 15() RAE R (B 1 5(i) 100,000 100,000
Advance from a shareholder of the Company RENDR—BRRA LR
(Note (i) (B 3 Gi)) 9,567 =
Others HA, 6,532 6,442
117,257 108,425
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost RESEKATENEREE 126,516 120,877
Deposits received from business partners in BRBEFESEE L
connection with the digital point business %ﬁ%%fiﬁ'ﬁfé 291 526
Contract liabilities arising from sales of goods FREEETTRHEEER
through operation of an electronic platform HRHEBEENGNEE
and other trading business (Note (ii)) (B e i) 631 12,701
127,438 134,104
Notes: BT -
() Al of the trade and other payables are expected to ) FEESREMENFREHN -—FRNEEHERS

be settled or recognised as revenue within one year

or are repayable on demand.

(ii) The advance is unsecured,
repayable on demand.

(i) As at 31 December 2023, HK$10,848,000 included )
in the balance was refunded to the customers upon
cancellation of the sales contracts after negotiation

with the customers.

interest-free and

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

At 31 December

(BABHRB

SN AARSIR)

At 31 December

WASIREREE -

(i) EBHAEER  THEAREX

RZFEZ_=F+=—A=+—H

BP o

IEHEREEARAE

10,848,000/ TTAEAR S F P IH R EUHIHE

r*é.‘*
E

CERTEE
BHRIRRE

=z

RO NEFERE
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BA I + AAREFIR)

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing HEREHRR FABSRAMENKIEZESE
analysis of trade payables included in trade and other NFIBEREZAHNRRSTHT -

payables, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

At 31 December At 31 December
2024 2023
R=ZE-mF R_E-=4F
+=ZA=+—-8B +=A=1+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARBFT

Within 3 months =EAR 8,966 11,994

3 to 6 months ==,EA 179 76

Over 6 months 2RI E A 114 382
9,259 12,452

The Group’s convertible bonds are analysed as AEERBESSTWOT

follows:

Liability components

&EHD
CB1 CB2 Total
EkES— TRRES— #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBTE ARETRT

At 1 January 2023 RZE-_=F—HF—H 90,535 - 90,535
Accrued finance charges JEFTEI S & A 26,952 = 26,952
Interest paid BHE (3,953) - (3,953)
Exchange adjustments PE AR 1,438 = 1,438
At 31 December 2023 and RZEBZ=F+=ZHA=+—H

1 January 2024 rZZ—pFE—H—H 114,972 - 114,972
Derecognition of convertible bonds — #% [ #ERR A # % (E 5 (114,266) = (114,266)
Issuance of convertible bonds TR E S - 101,576 101,576
Accrued finance charges eSS & A - 8,855 8,855
Interest paid BIHE - (4,667) (4,667)
Exchange adjustments P A (706) 2,281 1,575
At 31 December 2024 RZE-_ME+=—A=+—H - 108,045 108,045
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

Represented by:
— current liabilities —-RBas
- non-current liabilities )

In October 2020, the Company issued convertible
bonds with face value of HK$126,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB108,945,000) (“CB1”) to
Century Investment. CB1 bears interest at 3.5%
per annum and matured on 19 October 2023. The
Company has the right to redeem all or part of CB1
(i.e. the call option) at any time before the maturity
date. As the call option is closely related to the
host contract, the call option is not accounted for
as a separate derivative financial instrument. Upon
issuance of CB1, Century Investment can convert
CB1 into the Company’s ordinary shares at HK$0.42
per share (i.e. the conversion option) at any time,
in whole or in part, before 14 October 2023. The
conversion option amounted to RMB59,212,000
was regarded as an equity component of CB1 and
credited to the Company’s capital reserve account.

CB1 matured on 19 October 2023 and Century
Investment did not exercise the conversion rights
attached thereto. Century Investment has confirmed
that it would not require the Company to redeem the
CB1 in full on the maturity date, and the Company
would not be in breach of any terms of the CB1 as
a result thereof. The conversion option and the call
option of CB1 were lapsed on 19 October 2023 and
the amount of HK$126,000,000 with accrued interest
remained outstanding to Century Investment as at 31
December 2023.

(BREEHRHAIN - UARKETITR)

At 31 December At 31 December

2024 2023
R-T-mF RZEZ=%
t=A=+-B +ZA=1+—R
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTT

= 114,972

108,045 =

R-ZE-ZTF+ A - N F)EE{TEEAS126,000,000
BT (SR ARE108,945,0007T) B AT # A% (& 5
([AT#REZ%—|) FCentury Investment ° A[ &
A5 —RFERNRIES%FEIENR_E-_=F+A+H
BEE - A RF)E R EIH B ATHE B 2 2P ek 30
DA ES— BIRERE) - ARREEEEES
LB YA - RIBEEYEARY AEBITES R
TR - REITAIARESH —1& + Century Investment
AR -ZE-_=F+ A+ BARBERIZER0.42/8 T
#5220k 00 AT RAR E A — i AR A B E @ AR (B
I HARE) - BIRERRE A R1E59,212,0007L 4% & 7]
B EEF AR ED Wt ARD RN EARGEE

AHRES—ER_E_=F+ATNBINHEE
Century Investmentl 7k 17 {55 E B &5 A9 2 R 4 o
Century InvestmentBE FEREF T~ EEHH E5k
RAREHELO I RKRES —  RARAKIEEHE
T R AT HRARE H — AR o ATk ES —
REnEERREBREECRN S _=F T+ A+ 1B
& - HCentury Investment? —E-=F+—_ A
=+—R15& 126,000,000 7T & R FEEHFLE. ©

BHEREEERAR _—ToNMFFERSE
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BA AN + UARETIR)

In January 2024, the Company entered into a
Subscription Agreement (“the Subscription
Agreement”) with Century Investment pursuant to
which the Company would issue convertible bonds
with aggregate principal amount of HK$126,000,000
(“CB2”) to Century Investment. Based on the
terms of CB2, upon issuance of CB2, CB1 would
be redeemed and the outstanding amount of
the principal under CB1 would be set off against
all amounts owed by Century Investment to the
Company in respect of the issue price under or
in connection with the subscription agreement.
On 23 April 2024, all the conditions set out in the
agreement, including the Company’s independent
equity shareholders’ approval, have been fulfilled and
the issuance of CB2 has been completed.

Upon the completion of the issuance of CB2, on 23
April 2024, after taking into account all relevant fact
and circumstances, the revision of the contractual
terms of CB1 and the issuance of CB2 were
accounted for as a substantial modification of the
financial liability. The original financial liability of CB1
was derecognised and a new convertible bond of
CB2 was recognised. The difference of RMB289,000
between the carrying amount of CB1 derecognised
of RMB114,266,000 and the fair value of CB2 of
RMB113,977,000, is recognised in profit or loss
and included in “other income” line item (Note 5).
The equity component of CB1 of RMB59,212,000
was transferred from capital reserve to accumulated
losses.

CB2 are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, which is
the same as the functional currency of the Company.
CB2 entitles Century Investment to convert them,
in whole or in part, into ordinary shares of the
Company at any time between the date of issue of
the bond and their settlement date on 23 April 2027
at a conversion price of HK$0.42 per share. The
Company has the option to redeem all or some of
CB2 at any time before settlement date (i.e. the early
redemption option). If CB2 has not been converted
or redeemed, they will be redeemed on 23 April 2027
at the outstanding principal amount of CB2 together
with interest accrued. Interest of 8% per annum will
be paid semi-annually up until the settlement date.

At initial recognition, the equity component of CB2
of RMB12,401,000 was separated from the liability
component. The equity element is presented in equity
heading “capital reserve”. The early redemption
option is closely related to the host contract and is
not accounted for as a separate derivate financial
instrument. The effective interest rate of the liability
component is 13.0%.
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RZZZMEFE—H » AAFECentury Investments]
VREDE ((RBHE]) B ARQREEITA
& 4858 £126,000,000/8 LK) AT AR (E % ([ AT AR &
#% —|) FCentury Investment o RIE AT M EHF —H
Gk - REBEITAIRRES 1% - JBRRES—BH
BRI NAREES B N AEERNSBEANKHE
Century InvestmentiBIERIE R Sk R E B 4
MRLBEITERNARRMMERE - R -UF
WAZ+=8 ' HBaAsmE EE (BEARREL
AR R AL E) B ERK - BRI RRES —B1TE T
K o

R BRESF—BITRRE  RZZE_NFWN A
“+=B KEEMEHEBEERBERE  EETH
BREEF A HIER R BEITARRES — AR
AERAENETEHEN -  TBRRESF—RENS
MEBERILIER UTHERBERES —NFAH
RES - AfaREEF—KRIIERAENEEEAR
#114,266,000C A A ESR —HNAFEARK
113,977,00070,2 = A R #289,000 T i 18 25 N FE R
Wt A[EUezs |78 B (BI5E5) » Al ES —ryi
FHED ARBES9,212,0007T IR B # = 25t
&8 -

AR ES ZUBTTEHE - HERARTNNEER
# o ARG fE % — B T Century Investment#EF| - 7]
RETESHPEAEH S _+FMWA-+=H
BE R IR IR (B FRR0.4278 T8 2 BB sk B o Al AR (B 55
THEMAARNRERER c NARIBENEE BRIRE
B 23k 5o AR ES — (BB R IE R AikE) -
AR E S — Rk iER -  HER T =+
FOAZ+=-HEZUBRRESF N REELRSEE
FEEET A EEE - F¥FHIEFENEUZHIE -
BEE#KER AL -

VBEERE  ITBEREF BB AR
12,401,000 c 2 B E 5 D FAALR o 25 R E
P [EAFKEIBTEY - IRRER M EE A%
PR A EARY ASBITESMTE -8
B D M BERFIEA13.0% °



At 31 December 2024, the lease liabilities were
repayable as follows:

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEBAIN + UARETIR)

RZZE-_WHF+ZA=+—H "  ENHEEAEN
T

2024 2023

—g-mE T —fF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARBETT

Within 1 year —&FR 1,037 1757
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERMFEA - 1212
1,937 2,969

In 2020, PCL, a subsidiary of the Company, and
Century Investment entered into revolving loan facility
agreements (“Facility Agreements”), pursuant
to which Century Investment granted revolving
loan facilities of HK$111,000,000 to PCL. The
loan facilities will expire after 3 years or such later
date as may be agreed between PCL and Century
Investment in writing, representing the date upon
which the Company is to repay all loans drawn under
the Facility Agreements in full.

On 2 May 2023, PCL and Century Investment entered
into a supplemental revolving loan facility agreement,
pursuant to which both PCL and Century Investment
agreed to extend the term of the loan period from 3
years to 4 years. On 30 May 2024, PCL and Century
Investment entered into a supplemental revolving loan
facility agreement, pursuant to which both PCL and
Century Investment agreed to extend the term of the
loan period from 4 years to 5 years.

RZZZEF - Apal—EHB A F 98 ECentury
Investmentz] L fEIREFRLE ik ((MEHR])
It - Century InvestmentA 7 /8% HBIRE L E
111,000,000/ 7T » BIREHRBMEHR=FEXDE
EdCentury InvestmentR] fEZ E 17 E A REE 12 B &1
(RARTIRYEEREREHBZED IR ZAMEER
2 BER) @ o

R-ZE-_=FFA-H  »/FECentury Investment
FETMARRERBERZ - Bt - 98 HECentury
Investment¥ I A E S E SRR WIFLEREAF - I
—“ZE-NERA=1+H - »/8HCentury Investment
FIIMABRERBRE RS - Bt - 5/88HCentury
Investment?g A E i B X AR AFIE R EE5F ©

BHEREEERAR _—ToNMFFERSE
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BABAIN + UARETIR)

The Facility Agreements are unsecured with an
interest rate of (a) 6.5% per annum from and
including the drawdown date to, but excluding, 31
May 2024; and (b) 8% per annum from and including
31 May 2024 applicable to all loans drawn under the
Facility Agreements.

At 31 December 2024, the outstanding principal
of loans drawn under the Facility Agreements
is HK$56,080,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB51,932,000) (2023: HK$56,080,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB50,821,000)), and the loans
are repayable at the end of the terms of the facility
agreements ranging from July to September 2025.

At 31 December 2024, the outstanding interest
payable associated with the loans is HK$4,139,000
(equivalent to RMB3,833,000) (2023: HK$Nil
(equivalent to approximately RMBNIl)).

The Company has a share option scheme which
was adopted on 28 June 2010 whereby the
directors of the Company are authorised, at their
discretion, to invite any full-time or part-time
employees, executives, officers or directors (including
independent non-executive directors) of the Group
and any advisors, consultants, agents, suppliers,
customers, distributors and such other persons who,
in the sole opinion of the directors of the Company,
will contribute or have contributed to the Group,
to take up share options at HK$1 to subscribe for
ordinary shares in the Company.
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BREHEAEER  FXRS  @BRNA (BREEX)
AT -_MERAA=+—B(TBEEX) ' FH=X
536.5% )BT _MFAA=+—H(BEEX)
B FRED8% - EANRERE R IR
BERK -

R-ZE-_NE+—_A=+—H  BEBREHZCR
%ﬁsz%%‘ﬁzﬁﬂ%e 080,000/ 7T (HIERAR

%1 932,0007T) (—ZF = =4 : 56,080,000/ T (4

ﬁEA/\Eﬁ%o 821,0007T)) ° *ﬁ‘F%EmBAﬂéﬁmmM
E_7 __:EEF“:)EJ j:jlﬂ ):'/%ET{E R

RZZE-_NFE+—_A=+—H BEFHEEHRESE
JERHFI B &4,139,0007 7T (95 A A R 3,833,000
T(ZEZ=F : FETHWERAREST)) -

ARABRER_F—FFAZ —?-}\EM%%ZWEI’J%
b Jr%U Bt - ARABEFEEEZEDIER
AEBEME2BSEFRBESR - HTAR %ﬁ&ﬂi%
FEF(BRBIUFNTES) RARAEZTEER
ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁlfﬁuﬂia{?ﬁﬁﬁkﬂﬁﬁﬂm.ﬂEﬂi =]
CRE - HER - BF - DERAMARFHEMAL
Hﬁﬂi’%fu%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%%ﬁ%$@ﬁ%‘@Hﬁ °



Share options granted to a director:
R — 2B SMHEARE :
-0On 7 August 2018
-RZZ-\FN\RtH

Outstanding at the beginning of the year F#]AR1T{E
FREEIE

Expired during the year
Exercisable at the end of the year

On 7 August 2018, 72,000,000 share options
were granted to a director of the Company
under the above share option scheme. All of
the share options granted will vest immediately
from the date of grant. Each share option
gives the holder the right to subscribe for one
ordinary share in the Company at HK$1.21
and is settled gross in shares. No option was
exercised during the year ended 31 December
2023 and the options were lapsed on 3 May
2023.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BA I + AAREFIR)

FRAIITE

Number of Vesting Contractual life
instruments condition of share options
BB iRE
TAHA R BHE
72,000,000 No vesting condition 4.74 years
ERBIRMT 4745
2023
—E=F

Weighted
average Number of
exercise price share options

piliL: RS
1TfE(E RERRERR

HK$

BT
1.21 72,000,000

1.21 (72,000,000)

R-ZZE—NFENA+LH 72,000,000 B
AR L BB B T AR R —RESE -
FrEEREBRESE R T BEEREE -
MERER THE AN 218 TREAR
Al—REBREARGE2HEE - REBZE_Z
“=ZF+-A=+—BHItFE  BETEER
#OUEREREER-_ZE-_=ZFRAA=ZHX
2 o

BHEREEERAR _—ToNMFFERSE
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BABAIN + UARETIR)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax
balances for financial reporting purposes:

Deferred tax assets FETIBE

The following are the major deferred tax assets
recognised and movements thereon during the year:

2024 2023
—EMEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT

5,162 -

AT RRAFREEBEFEEERTIRELREER
ENARERES :

Tax losses
BiIEEE
RMB’000
AREFT
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZZEZ=F+=ZA=+—H
Fr—E-pUFE—H—H =
Credited to profit or loss (Note 7) FFAEZ= (MEE7) 5,162
At 31 December 2024 RZZEZWFE+=—A=+—H 5,162

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has recognised
deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which tax losses can be utilised.

As at 31 December 2024, in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in Note 2(s), the Group
has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect
of unused tax losses and temporary differences of
RMB549,479,000 (2023: RMB617,787,000). The
unused tax losses at 31 December 2024 will expire
on or before 31 December 2034 (2023: 31 December
2033).
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HHE AEER T _NE+-_A=+—HIE
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The reconciliation between the opening and
closing balances of each component of the
Group’s consolidated equity is set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Details of the changes in the Company’s
individual components of equity between the
beginning and the end of the year are set out
below:

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

AEEGSERS DO NFINRERER Y
ABhR o AR EMERIE D =
REMERFRZ ZEFIRHINMT -

REN AR A R

(BREEHRHAIN - UARKETITR)

Share Share Capital Exchange Other  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
e RipaE B ERFE Hitkie ZithiR k)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETL  ARETT  AR%ETR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
(Note 23(c) ~ (Note 23(d)i)) ~ (Note 23(c)il) ~ (Note 23(c]iij) ~ (Note 23(c)(iv)
(Heko3)  (Wakool)  (Wskos)  (Pskosi)  (H&Eos(dii)
Balance at R=8==
1 January 2023 -A-Bi&s 17812 1263789 78,635 (9,938 a9 (1488424) (37,847)
Changes in equity for 2023 R=F==£f
29
Loss for the year ERER = - - - - (7,615) (7,615)
Other comprehensiveincome  EREM2EUE
for the year - - - (760) - - (760)
Totel comprehensive ncome M2 EREES
for the year - - - (760) - (7,615) (8,375)
Transfer between reserves A - 1,290 (19429 - - 18,133 -
Balance at 31 December 2023 W=Z==%1=F
=t-AbER 17812 1,265,079 59212 (10,698) 79 (1,477.906) (46,229)
BHEREEERAE —T_MFEFERE
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BA I + AAREFIR)

Share Share Capital Exchange Other  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
R Rt ERGfE EXRE Hitte ZiER h
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARMTr  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETr  ARETR  ARETR
(Note 23(c))  (Note 23(d)(i)) (Note 23(d)(il) (Note 23(d)(iil)) (Note 23(d)(iv))
(W&Fos(c)  (Er2s(e)i)  (Pesk2s()i)  (P=x28(cl i)  (F&F23(d)(iv))

Balance at 1 January 2024 ~ R=Z=RE&
-B-RMER 117,812 1,265,079 59,212 (10,698) 2719 (1,477,906) (46,222)

Changes in equity for 2024: ~ R=F=MER

ERgE.
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - (27,200) (27,206)
Other comprehensiveincome  EREM 2EUE
for the year - - - (1,557) - - (1,557)
Total comprehensive income for -~ FRZ2 A& 4%
the year - - - (1,557) - (27,206) (28,763)
Transfer between reserves AW - - (59,212) = = 59,212 =
Issuance of convertible bonds ~ Z{TAIARR(ES - - 12,401 - - - 12,401
Balance at 31 December 2024 R=Z-M£+-f
Zt-AbER 17812 1,265,079 12,401 (12,255) 9 (1,445900) (62,584)
The directors of the Company do not RAREETREBLINBE_T _NF+_H
recommend the payment of a final dividend for ST BEFEZRERECEF_=F: AR
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB ¥EZIT) ©

Nil).
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B RA& AN - AAREFIR)
2024 2023
“BCWE St 2
No. of shares No. of shares
ROYE RiHEE
’000 USD’000 '000 USD’000
TR TER T TET
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of USD0.01 each &R EI{E0.013 T
LR 5,000,000 50,000 5,000,000 50,000
2024 2003
—BomE ~BI=F
No. of shares No. of shares
RPEE RirEE
’000 RMB’000 '000 RMB’000
TR ARET R T ARETT
Ordinary shares of USD0.01 E&{TREHERAN
each, issued and fully =V Epd
paid: ZER
At 1 January and 31 December ®—A—HRk+—=A
=t+—H 1,810,953 117,812 1,810,953 117,812
In September 2018, the Company RZZE—NFNA  NRAIREH RN

issued 298,000,000 unlisted warrants
(the “Warrants”) at a price of HK$0.01
per warrant to Century Investment. Each
Warrant entitles the holder to acquire
one ordinary share in the Company at
an exercise price of HK$1.38 per share
from a period commencing on the date
that is six months after the issue date and
ending on the fifth anniversary date of the
issue date.

No Warrant was exercised during the
year ended 31 December 2023 and the
Warrants were lapsed on 7 August 2023.

T%Eis’éo.m;‘%ﬁsﬂET%%’éﬁzga,ooo,ooo@
IE EHRMREE ([FRRER]) FCentury
Investment o &5 R ARHER IR T35 8 A
FMAZITHBEA NEAERTHEE
FERAF B BRI ITEESR1.387E T
UG B8 — AR AN A B E AR o

HE_Z_WF+_A=+—HILHF
E EEE RIREBETERBREED

\—7— i}\ﬂtag{%&
BHEBREEERAT —T-NFFERS
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BA AN + UARETIR)

The application of the share premium
account is governed by Section 34 of the
Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands.

The capital reserve represents the
amount allocated to the unexercised
equity component of convertible bonds
issued by the Company recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for convertible bonds in Note

2(9)(0)-

As mentioned in Notes 21(b) and Note
23(c)(ii), the share options and warrants
granted in 2018 expired in 2023, and
accordingly, the equity amount previously
recognised in capital reserve amounting
to RMB18,133,000 were released
directly to accumulated losses and
RMB1,290,000 were released directly to
share premium.

The exchange reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from
the translation of the financial statements
of operations which have a functional
currency other than RMB, the Group’s
presentation currency, into RMB. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with
the accounting policy set out in Note 2(v).
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Other reserve comprises the following:

- the difference between the
consideration paid and the carrying
values of the NCls acquired by the
Group;

- the difference between the amount
of capital injections made by
non-controlling equity holders of
subsidiaries of the Group and the
NCIs’ proportionate share of the
subsidiaries’ net identifiable assets;

- contributions made by Century
Investment in the form of waiver of
interest expenses; and

- the difference between the
consideration paid or received
and the carrying values of the net
liabilities of subsidiaries under
common control acquired and
disposed of.

The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, so that it can
continue to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the
level of risk and by securing access to finance
at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a
balance between the higher equity shareholder
returns that might be possible with higher levels
of borrowings and the advantages and security
afforded by a sound capital position, and
makes adjustments to the capital structure in
light of changes in economic conditions.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
are subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BA I + AAREFIR)

HinEBREAT&IA

- ARECNREEAKERENIE
EREREEECMNERE &

—  AKE-RFENBRRFERERR
BARTE &M A F A &5
B E IR R PTG EL B2 A
EE

—  Century Investment AZA R Tl 8.5 52
EAEROHT &

—  WERHERRES T/ — KB
RAWENK BB EREEFE
FREE 2 HHER -

AEBEBEAEE FNEERENEREANEE
RESFHEAZ S - W BB B B K AR R A
an MRS EBA RER A ER AR E LSS
PSSR B2 [ 3% o 23 EL At 1) 25 AR BR 2 RRSK A

AEEESR L E R RNEREEARERE - U
ERERSEARREBREFKF EFZ
B UARERBOHENRANESEZ 22
R TG NI BB NS R
HENRGER -

AR RAEAHE A TRREES FAE
ARESR -

BHEREEERAR _—ToNMFFERSE
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BA AN + UARETIR)

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency
risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s
business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial
risk management policies and practices used by the
Group to manage these risks are described below.

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty
will default on its contractual obligations
resulting in a financial loss to the Group. The
Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to trade and other receivables. The Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from cash
and cash equivalents is limited because
the counterparties are banks and financial
institutions with high credit standings, for which
the Group considers to represent low credit
risk.

The Group does not provide any guarantees
which would expose the Group to credit risk.

The Group has established a credit risk
management policy under which individual
credit evaluations are performed on all debtors
requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the debtor’s past history
of making payments when due and current
ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the debtor as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the debtor
operates. Trade receivables are generally due
immediately from the date of billing. Normally,
the Group does not obtain collateral from
debtors.

The Group has no significant concentration of
credit risk in industries in which the debtors
operate. Significant concentrations of credit
risk primarily arise when the Group has
significant exposure to individual debtors. At
the end of the reporting period, 97.6% (2023:
78.6%) and 100% (2023: 100%) of the total
trade receivables was due from the Group’s
largest debtor and the five largest debtors,
respectively.
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The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs, which is calculated using a provision
matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss
experience does not indicate significant different
loss patterns for different debtor segments,
the loss allowance based on past due status is
not further distinguished between the Group’s
different debtor bases.

The following table provides information about
the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs
for trade receivables:

BHIR=1EA

Less than 3 months past due

Over 3 months but within 6 months AR = A{E
past due

Over 6 months but within 1 year AEERBE AR
past due

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

PIA
PR—

@A
F

(BREEHRHAIN - UARKETITR)

AEBIZIRS N A EEREE 2 @78
PIEMEERER SR EEZRUGRIBZE
BEE - ARARE BT EEERLRIYE
ARTEEBADMBREABERAZE - R
EEER e E 2 BREBTENAKE TR
BEBAZRE—FED

TRIEHEBAKEE Z KT IEAE 2

EFERRKEREEERZERN

At 31 December 2024
R-B-mE+=-A=+—H

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
EHEEE REAE EERE
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% ARBT R ARBT T
1% 14,220 (28)
2% 101 (2)
26% 39 (10)
14,360 (40)
BHEREEERAT —_T_NFFERS

143



(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BA AN + UARETIR)

At 31 December 2023
RZEZ=F+-A=+—H

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
HEEEE RHEE BREE
% RMB’000 RMB’000

% ARETT ARETT

Less than 3 months past due BELR=1EA 1% 10,513 (114)
Over 3 months but within 6 months AEBR=EAEIRAER

past due 4% 89 (4)
Over 6 months but within 1 year BHEANEARIR—F

past due 68% 19 (13)
Over 1 year past due BHBE—F 100% 102 102)

10,723 (233)

The expected loss rates are based on actual BEHERXREEETEREELSRERARE Uk
loss experience adjusted to reflect differences LB ESR A BUR BRI A 2 OB ERTIR
between economic conditions during the period N ANE B FEI RN 2 FEEREFE HE A 2 £ AR O,
over which the historic data has been collected, ZERHZEZEER o

current conditions and the Group’s view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of
the receivables.

Movements in the loss allowance account in FRNEBE HNEMENRIERNEEBEERS
respect of trade and other receivables during IR -
the year are as follows:

2024 2023
—EMNEFE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Balance at 1 January N—A— B 233 9,388
Exchange adjustments PE H - 92
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment FRERERRBE

loss recognised during the year B8 (B m) i (193) 55
Amounts written off during the year FAMESRE - (9,302)
Balance at 31 December Rt+—A=1+—H8& 40 233
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The treasury function is centrally managed
by the Group, which includes the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising
of funds to cover expected cash demands.
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its
liquidity requirements and its compliance with
lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in
the short and longer term. Note 2(b) explains
the management’s plans for managing liquidity
needs of the Group to enable the Group to
continue to meet its obligations as they fall due.

The following table shows the remaining
contractual maturities at the end of the
reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual
rates or, if floating, based on rates current at
the end of the reporting period) and the earliest
dates the Group can be required to pay.

Trade and other payables measured ~ REAERAAENE S
at amortised cost R E AR TR

Convertible bonds Ak ES

Lease liabilities HEAR

Loans from an equity shareholder REAAA— B
of the Company BRRZER

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(B SEBIL - AARTIT)

BRMERAEETRER - BFRSAHKRN
RHRE  UREKRESUREERREH
Ko AEENHREEETRERRBESHTR
KRERZHOEITER - NEREREHRE
Ef BXEZomMBAmRRERTunmER
B {MENERARERHRSHESHFE - M
2hREEEEREASERDESH RN
3 AEAEERANETINNEERTE
£ o

TRIIAEBRHERRZEORUBERE
nE (BREERE QN XN (ETE) NREH
REOBRBSFI R+ BRI SN0 S ENITE S
BEENRISREOHR - UERAKEAREES
AR RF A -

2024
“E-NF
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BRRERR LR
More than  More than
Within  1yearbut 2year but
iyearor lessthan less than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years Total amount
R BBE-F BEmMF
RRER EIRAWE EIREF @t HREE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR%TR ARETR AR®TR AR%TR
126,516 - - 126,516 126,516
9,334 9,334 121,348 140,016 108,045
2,002 - - 2,002 1,937
58,188 - - 58,188 55,765
196,040 9,334 121,348 326,722 292,263
BHEREEERAT —TNFFERS
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BA AN + UARETIR)

2023
—EC-=F
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BHRIBRBAEN

More than ~ More than
Within -~ 1yearbut 2 yearbut

1 year or less than less than Carrying

on demand 2 years 5 years Total amount
—5R  HBBE-F BEAREF

FRER EIR@ME BIRLE st REE

RVB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTRE ARBTT ARBTR ARETTL

Trade and other payables measured ~ REAERAAENE S

at amortised cost REMEAFR 120,877 = = 120,877 120,877
Convertible bonds ABRES 114,972 = = 114,972 114,972
Lease liabiliies HEa’E 1,849 1,387 = 3,236 2,969
Loans from an equity shareholder REARAA— SR

of the Company BRRZER 53,004 = = 53,004 50,821

290,702 1,387 - 292,089 289,639

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily
from interest bearing bonds issued and loans
from an equity shareholder of the Company.
Borrowings issued at variable rates and at
fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk and fair value interest rate risk
respectively.

S [ R R S B BT ML
BREAAT —BERBEE B o TEHE
FEENEERDAEAEEAZASREF
2R R ATEFZRR -
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEBAIN + UARETIR)

The following table details the interest rate TERFFAN R B R RS AR A E SR R o
profile of the Group’s borrowings at the end of

the reporting period.

At 31 December At 31 December

2024 2023
R-Z-E RZTZ=%F
+=HA=+—-B +=-—A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
Fixed rate borrowings: BEERRERK
Convertible bonds - liability components ARRESR -8R 108,045 114,972
Loans from an equity shareholder of the KEARNDR—%
Company BaRRER 55,765 50,821
Lease liabilities MERE 1,937 2,969
165,747 168,762

The Group is exposed to currency risk
primarily through borrowings which give rise
to borrowings and cash balances that are
denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a
currency other than the functional currency
of the operations to which the transactions
relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk
are primarily USD, HK$ and RMB. The Group
ensures that the net exposure is kept to an
acceptable level, by buying or selling foreign
currencies at spot rates where necessary to
address short-term imbalances.

The following table details the Group’s
exposure at the end of the reporting period to
currency risk arising from recognised assets or
liabilities denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the entity to which
they relate. For presentation purposes, the
amounts of the exposure are shown in RMB,
translated using the spot rates at the end of the
reporting period. Differences resulting from the
translation of financial statements of operation
with a functional currency other than RMB
into the Group’s presentation currency are
excluded.

AEBERH T ERMETAINE (R ZHHE
BINEEE B UM EE) GENER KBS
HRELEWAR  ERZARNEEIERE
T BTLMARE - KEERERR L EZEIZA]
HAPE R B B IME ARORFE B K18 - 1 #% R
B MRS R A HOKF o

TRFAMAEER RE RN RAAGHEERIGE
SR BRI ENERREELAEME
EMEBRER - RETTHHR  ARRRESER
AR ERARNBERHBE - LAREIR - T
BEEBAARE AN G ¥ T E IR
RREEAREE 2GR EHHZH -
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BABAIN + UARETIR)

At 31 December 2024
R-E-mFE+=-A=+—H

usbD HK$ RMB
EVH BT N
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBTT ARBT T

Cash and cash equivalents HeRIREEEER 222 2,122 5,886
Loans from an equity shareholder RBARA—F

of the Company BERlRE R - (55,765) =
Gross exposure arising from ERREERBRBELE

recognised assets and liabilities (/@ ez 258 222 (53,643) 5,886

At 31 December 2023
ZEZ=E+ZA=1—H

uUsD HK$ RvVB

ETT BT ARE

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT ARETT

Cash and cash equivalents RebkHReSHEER 218 1,645 23,551
Loans from an equity shareholder KEXRRR—%

of the Company BaBRFERZER = (50,821) =
Gross exposure arising from ERREENEEEL

recognised assets and liabilities /2 fee 425 218 (49,176) (23,551)
The following table indicates the instantaneous TRINRRERFTE B R & g~ E - K
change in the Group’s loss after tax and & B 5 i B R R B 3R 2 T [ 29 A0 & KRB
accumulated losses that would arise if foreign HASERNZEBEB R RTTBEEENRE
exchange rates to which the Group has @J o Tfﬁtﬁﬁm [EACE %EE’@%EE{]H?}[T
significant exposure at the end of the reporting ﬁ'l%rﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂf”&%ﬂ’ﬂﬁ 1B B A fr]
period had changed at that date, assuming all @JE“]E?(E“

other risk variables remained constant. In this
respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate
between HK$ and USD would be materially
unaffected by any changes in movement in
value of the USD against other currencies.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B RA& AN - AAREFIR)
2024 2023
el 113 ZE-=F

Increase/ Increase/

Increase/ (decrease) Increase/ (decrease)

(decrease) in loss (decrease) inloss

in foreign  after tax and in foreign after tax and

exchange accumulated exchange  accumulated

rates losses rates losses

BHEER BRiEEE

HNEER REER HNERE = RZER

tR/(TR)  #m/RP) LA/(TR) &0/

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TR AREFT

ush ET 5% 11 5% 11
(5%) (11) (6%) (1)
HKS BT 5% (2,682) 5% (2,459)
(5%) 2,682 (5%) 2,459

RMB AR 5% 294 5% 1,178
(5%) (294) (5%) (1,178)

Results of the analysis as presented in the
above table represent an aggregation of the
instantaneous effects on each of the Group
entities’ loss after tax and accumulated
losses measured in the respective functional
currencies, translated into RMB at the exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period
for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the
change in foreign exchange rates had
been applied to re-measure those financial
instruments held by the Group which expose
the Group to foreign currency risk at the end of
the reporting period, including inter-company
payables and receivables within the Group
which are denominated in a currency other
than the functional currencies of the lender or
the borrower. The analysis is performed on the
same basis for 2023.

ERDMER BB AKEE

ERIZAENESR

B ENBRRRERLRFTBESMNAEE
Bewm - UR2JRINREHRNERRER

ARE

HREIMRIEEBEXEHSHTEAE
B P < AR SR B O o A R T 49 S/ R B ) 5%
Fe@TA  BRAKEAREHNETRES
WREE M LASN 2 B 5 E /Y T 3R M B UK
bt o iR =T = = FIRAAERER -

IEHEREEARAE

RO NEFERE
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BA AN + UARETIR)

The following table presents the fair value
of the Group’s financial instruments
measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised
into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 183, Fair value
measurement. The level into which a
fair value measurement is classified
is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the
inputs used in the valuation technique as
follows:

- Level 1 valuations: Fair value
measured using only Level 1 inputs,
i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets
or liabilities at the measurement
date.

- Level 2 valuations: Fair value
measured using Level 2 inputs, i.e.
observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable
inputs are inputs for which market
data are not available.

- Level 3 valuations: Fair value
measured using significant
unobservable inputs.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BmAEw

BASN - UARMTITR)

Fair value Fair value
measurements measurements
at 31 December at 31 December
2024 categorised 2023 categorised
into Level 1 into Level 1
R-E-OF RZZE-=%
+=A=t-B +-A={-A
FBRE-BR  SHAE AR
WAFE HATE
5 5tE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARETT
Recurring fair value measurement  E¥ M AFEHE
Financial assets: CREE
— Trading securities (Note 13) —R 5% 202 296

During the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023, there were no transfers
between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers
into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy
is to recognise transfers between levels
of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the
reporting period in which they occur.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s
financial instruments carried at cost or
amortised cost are not materially different
from their fair values at 31 December
2024 and 2023.

REBE-Z-_NFR-_FT-_=F+_A
“t+—HIFE F—HREE_H M
VEERENWERLE = FEANEL -
REBZBEANBEENFESHM
2 BB R R AR RERIERR T o

RZE-_NFR_ZE_=ZF+=A
=+—H  REBEZRKASEHEKAT
SR T AREERENFETES
KRER o
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B RA& AN AAREFIR)

Pursuant to the equity transfer agreement for
share between the Company’s subsidiary,
Changyou International Technology Limited
(“CITL”) and Excel Choice Global Limited
(‘ECG”), a company wholly owned by Ms. Pun
Tang, the controlling shareholder of Century
Investment, Changyou International issued
2 ordinary shares of USD1.00 each to ECG

B E B Changyou International Technology
Limited ([CITL]) (A2 A1 & A &) &Excel
Choice Global Limited ([ECG] @ B Century
InvestmenttIE IR IEE L T2 EHE) 2
BB EEEZ - GHREER T =%
= ARECG# T2l TR EE1.00E TH &
IR - B ERECCEMABEFENEREY
AR ZFE ARSI EIEIE g s o

in March 2023. The difference between the
consideration received and the carrying value
of the net liabilities attributable to ECG was
accounted as NCls.

() BEAATEECGE W REEE S
@ﬂﬁA:**—@itHWﬁiﬁf 83 T (%)
ENARES577T) AECGH & HNCITLAI80%
H“*%E ERREBCREEZE-_ZT_-_MWE+=-A
=t+—BUFBRFEE2HWRE -

(b) Pursuant to the equity transfer agreement
entered into between the Company and ECG,
the Company disposed of its 80% equity
interests in CITL to ECG in July 2024 for a
cash consideration of USD8 (equivalent to
approximately RMB57). The consideration was
received in full during the financial year ended
31 December 2024.

The carrying amounts of the assets and CITLAEE B EERBENREENT
liabilities of CITL on the date of disposal were as

follows:
2024
—E-QmE
RMB’000
ARET T
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEEE 205
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H Ab W IR 108
Trade and other payables B 5 RHEMENTRIE (2,314)
(2,001)
NCI FEERR (402)
(2,403)
Less: Proceeds from disposal W BEFTSRIE -
Other reserve as capital contribution HinRE2EAHE (2,403)
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEEENRESR L FHE -
Cash consideration received BUIRESRE -
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B ReEMREEMEEBEE (205)
(205)
*  Less than RMB1,000 * DR AREA,0007T
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEBAIN + UARETIR)

In addition to the balances disclosed elsewhere in the MZEGRAVBERERMERENEHRI  AAE
consolidated financial statements, the material related REREILHERBE XU ©

party transactions entered into by the Group during

the year are set out below.

2024 2023
—E-NE —EC=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARETTT

Interest expenses FERX 3,761 3,281
Finance charge on convertible bonds AMREFMEES 8,855 26,952
Receiving service TR RS - 567
Details of issuance of convertible bonds to an MAR B EERRETURRESAFEHR
equity shareholder of the Company are set out 5518 e RZZEZZF+=H  ARRAAR
in Note 18. In December 2022, the Company 7)Y [ 2 M /& A &lCentury Blockchain Limited
contributed USD1 to the increased share ([CBLI) 2 &I RBRA T E1ETT « WEKFF
capital of Century Blockchain Limited (“CBL”), ECBLIO%HIRE - MZT=_=FtH AR
a follow subsidiary of the Company and ended ABE RN CBLAI10% AR TECG » REA13E
up holding 10% equity interests in CBL. In July 7% ©

2023, the Company transferred the 10% equity
interests in CBL to ECG for a consideration of
USD1.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BA AN + UARETIR)

Remuneration for key management personnel,
including amounts paid to the directors of the
Company as disclosed in Note 8 and certain
of the highest paid employees of the Group as
disclosed in Note 9, is as follows:

Short-term employee benefits
Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

The related party transaction in respect of
issuance of convertible bonds to an equity
shareholder of the Company constitutes
connected transactions as defined in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. The disclosures
required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
are provided in section Connected Transactions
of the Directors’ Report.

The related party transactions in respect of
loans received from an equity shareholder
of the Company, acquisition of a company
from an equity shareholder of the Company,
capital injection to a subsidiary of an equity
shareholder of the Company, receiving service
from a subsidiary of equity shareholder of the
Company, issuance of shares of a subsidiary
to an equity shareholder of the Company
and disposal of equity interests to an equity
shareholder of the company are exempted from
the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.
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WREIEA B (RN ESAIE N TR
NAIEEFNSENMFIMKEAEEE T&
=HMER) T

2024 2023
—E-NE —EC=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARETTT

A 5 IE R IR

CHIR B 1R A 8,251 7,432
FT B 125 74
8,376 7,506

BRARARE — RSB RETARBRESH
BARE T R BB _ETRAIF14AZ AT E R R
BERG e FMBRAIEAATRENREHNE
SREMERS —H -

BRABWARR —BHEEZBRRER - BXRQF
— AR WE BRG] - MARR]—RRE
TRROWNBARNEE  BEARGEZRE
—EBRARMRE 2B IS - BT
M B AR FAR G —RERARR KSR
BFARAT —ZRESRIERCET LR
BISE1AAZ R ERT -



Non-current assets
Property and equipment
Interests in subsidiaries

Current assets
Trading securities
Other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities
Other payables
Lease liabilities
Convertible bonds

Net current liabilities

Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Convertible bonds
Lease liabilities

NET LIABILITIES

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital
Reserves

TOTAL EQUITY - DEFICIT

FRBEE
VEIE S
RIMEA RS

REBEE

R BB

H ot EUAGIA
RekRLFEER

RBAE
HAENFUR
HEAE
Qe

RBEEFE
REERTBRE

FRBEE
AARES
HEARE

BEFE

EXKf#fE
B
1

i - B AR

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of

directors on 28 March 2025.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

Cheng Jerome
Cheng Jerome
Director (Chairman)
BEE(LE)

At 31 December

CEEE

At 31 December

BASN - UARMTITR)

Note 2024 2023
- R-ZE-ME RZZEZ=%F
BT +=A=+—-B +=-A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%T R ARBTT

1,198 2,768

12 60,116 68,558
61,314 71,326

13 202 296
1,119 1,106

1,495 4,408

2,816 5,810

17,307 5,417

1,362 1,757

18 - 114,972
18,669 122,146
(15,853) (116,336)

45,461 (45,010

18 108,045 -
- 1,212

108,045 1,212

(62,584) (46,222)

23

117,812 117,812

(180,396) (164,034)

(62,584) (46,222)

HEFER T A=A -+ \BHtAERKET
%éﬁ o
Sun Jun
B
Director
BE
BHEREEGRAT —ToNFEFEERE

155



156

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Bt BA AN + UARETIR)

The directors of the Company consider the immediate
and ultimate holding company of the Company at 31
December 2024 to be Century Investment, which is
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. This entity
does not produce financial statements available for
public use.

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended
standards, which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 December 2024 and which have not
been adopted in these financial statements. These
developments include the following which may be
relevant to the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 21, Lack of exchangeability
BEBGERIE215E BETA) » Sh= AT

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7, Amendments to the classification

and measurement of financial instruments

BFRPHMEERILO M B EM SRS LERE 7SR (BFTX) -

B TADIE R EZEET

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7, Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity
%é%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁw%&%ﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁﬂ@aﬁvu%&ﬁﬁ@%%ﬁ%%ﬁw
A4
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AAREERE  RZZE-_WF+A=4+—
H ARIWEEEKKIZER QA ACentury
Investment » Z AR RBE L BB MK - 28
B M RE A A RERANISHRE

HEAPBRERTIZAG AL  BSSAAeRE
BHMREEZE T _NF+_A=+—HIEFERHE
EREE TS EERTER - EEATBHRE
M ARE - Z53R 7 T 5 0] fE A E ERRE
j,éo

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
AT B Hisk 2 1%
IR E st B A2

1 January 2025
—E-RF—H—H

1 January 2026
—E-RF—A—H

1 January 2026
R —H—H



(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHRHAIN - UARKETITR)

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
AT B Hisk 2 1%
PRV & B A2

Annual improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11

R BRELEN G ERFEIE-F115

— Amendments to HKFRS 1, First-time adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards

— BAVBBRESENFEARIEETR) - BEARAE B HHEER

— Amendments to HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: disclosures and its accompanying
guidance on implementing HKFRS 7

— ﬁ%’ﬁ/ﬂﬂ%i&%ﬁﬂ@?% (BRIAR) - 2T A - BEBEREEN & B BHEERET B

H

—  Amendments to HKFRS 9, Financial instruments

— BAVBHRSENFEOR(EFTRN) - 2FTA

— Amendments to HKFRS 10, Consoligated financial staternents

— HEMBRMELERF109 (EFTAR) - A BHEK

— Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows

— BBGHERETR  HengExk

HKFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements

ERU B MEERIFE8: - HBFHKA 2 RHKF

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint venture

1 January 2026
—EZXRF—H—H

1 January 2027
—F_t%—HA—H

To be determined

BAMBMEEUS 10 REBGERNE8H (EFTA) - KEFHAHE L FHE EE e
EZEHEELESFE

The Group is in the process of making an assessment AEBEEAEFEERHZSERNE XERHARMNE

of what the impact of these developments is %i.f ° i?ﬁﬁ$%%ﬁ;ﬁ%@%§%?§?&7\ﬁﬂﬁéﬂ

expected to be in the period of initial application. RAEPBRRENEATE -

So far it has concluded that the adoption of them
is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=1+—HLEE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—E-FF —E-—HF —FTE-—F —FE-=—F ZE_NHE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETIT ARETRT ARETT ARBTT AR¥TR

RESULTS E
Revenue WA 268,841 114,211 215,038 226,751 180,708
Loss before taxation B AT E IR (82,194) (124,863) (48,742) (38,616) (23,327)
Income tax PSR - - - = 5,162
Loss for the year FREE (82,194) (124,863) (48,742) (38,616) (18,165)

At 31 December

W+=—B=+—8

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

—E-TF —F-—F —FE-—F —T-=F ZE_NE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTIT AREBFTFIT AREBFTIT ARETT ARET:R

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERE®E

Total assets BERE 289,939 191,012 154,406 149,547 138,824
Total liabilities BERE (227,678) (253,228) (270,210) (302,866) (293,185)
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/(BE)FE 62,261 (62,216) (115,804) (153,319) (154,361)
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